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Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

Merger Agreement

On January 28, 2014, Fluidigm Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Fluidigm”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger
Agreement”) by and among Fluidigm, DVS Sciences, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“DVS US”), Dawid Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Fluidigm (“Merger Sub”), and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, as stockholder
representative. Under the Merger Agreement, on the terms and subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth therein, Merger Sub will be merged with
and into DVS US (the “Merger”). DVS US will survive the Merger and become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fluidigm. DVS Sciences Inc., a Canadian
corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of DVS US, is not a party to the Merger and will continue as a wholly-owned subsidiary of DVS US.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, upon consummation of the Merger, all outstanding shares of capital stock of DVS US will be cancelled and
converted into the right to receive merger consideration with a value equal to approximately $207.5 million in the aggregate, subject to certain adjustments
specified in the Merger Agreement (the “Merger Consideration”). Subject to certain adjustments specified in the Merger Agreement, approximately $125.0
million of the Merger Consideration payable to DVS US stockholders will be payable in cash. Approximately $82.5 million of the Merger Consideration will
be comprised of a number of shares of Fluidigm’s authorized common stock (“Fluidigm Common Stock”) determined based on the volume weighted average
closing price of Fluidigm Common Stock during the five trading days ending on the third trading day before the closing of the Merger, provided that the
applicable number of shares will be determined within a collar of 10% above or 10% below the volume weighted average closing price of Fluidigm Common
Stock during the five trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to the signing of the Merger Agreement.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, Fluidigm will assume all stock options, both vested and unvested, and all unvested shares of restricted stock
of DVS US that are outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, other than stock options and shares of unvested restricted stock that are
held by non-continuing employees and other service providers of DVS US and its subsidiary. Such assumed options and unvested restricted stock of DVS US
will be exercisable for, or be converted into, shares of Fluidigm Common Stock, as the case may be, pursuant to an exchange ratio specified in the Merger
Agreement.

The Merger Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants of DVS US. The Merger Agreement also provides that the
stockholders of DVS US will indemnify Fluidigm and its affiliated parties for certain matters as specified in the Merger Agreement. Approximately 50% of
the aggregate number of shares of Fluidigm Common Stock issuable in connection with the Merger will be placed into an escrow to secure the
indemnification obligations of DVS US’s stockholders. Of the aggregate number of shares placed into escrow, approximately one-half will secure
indemnification obligations for losses arising out of inaccuracies in, or breaches of, representations, warranties and covenants of DVS US under the Merger
Agreement as well as pre-closing taxes of DVS US and its subsidiaries, appraisal claims of DVS US stockholders, and certain other matters, and
approximately one-half will secure indemnification obligations for losses arising out of specific indemnities under the Merger Agreement. One-half of the
total escrowed shares, apportioned equally between the separate escrowed amounts, will be released 13 months from the closing of the Merger (less any
amounts to satisfy pending claims), and the remaining escrowed shares of Fluidigm Common Stock will be released 18 months from the closing of the
Merger (less any amounts to satisfy pending claims).

The Merger Agreement contains customary closing conditions, including the requisite consent to the adoption of the Merger by DVS US’s
stockholders, which has already been obtained, and the consummation of an underwritten public offering of Fluidigm’s convertible senior notes due 2034.

The foregoing description of the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
Merger Agreement. The Merger Agreement has been attached to provide investors with information regarding its terms. It is not intended to provide any other
factual information
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about Fluidigm or DVS US. In particular, the assertions embodied in the representations and warranties contained in the Merger Agreement are qualified by
information in confidential disclosure schedules provided by DVS US to Fluidigm, and by Fluidigm to DVS US, in connection with the signing of the Merger
Agreement. These confidential disclosure schedules contain information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the representations and warranties
set forth in the Merger Agreement. Moreover, certain representations and warranties in the Merger Agreement were used for the purpose of allocating risk
between Fluidigm and DVS US rather than establishing matters as facts. Accordingly, you should not rely on the representations and warranties in the merger
agreement as characterizations of the actual state of facts about DVS US or Fluidigm. The Merger Agreement is filed herewith as Exhibit 2.1 to this report
and is incorporated by reference herein.

On January 29, 2014, Fluidigm and DVS US issued a joint press release announcing that the parties had entered into a Merger Agreement. A copy of
the press release is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 to this report.

Business Financing Modification Agreement

On January 29, 2014, Fluidigm entered into a Business Financing Modification Agreement (the “Modification Agreement”) with Bridge Bank,
National Association (“Bridge Bank”), effective as of January 29, 2014. The Modification Agreement amends the Business Financing Agreement between
Fluidigm and Bridge Bank, dated December 16, 2010, as amended (together with the Modification Agreement, the “Business Financing Agreement”).

The Modification Agreement, among other things, (i) permits Fluidigm to issue convertible senior notes in a principal amount of up to $220 million,
and (ii) provides Bridge Bank’s consent to Fluidigm’s acquisition of DVS US. Except to the extent specifically amended pursuant to the Modification
Agreement, the Business Financing Agreement remains in full force and effect.

The foregoing description of the Modification Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Modification Agreement, which
is filed herewith as Exhibit 10.1 and incorporated by reference herein.

 
Item 3.02. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.

The information contained in Item 1.01 is hereby incorporated into this Item 3.02. In accordance with the Merger Agreement, a portion of the
consideration to be delivered to the former stockholders of DVS US consists of shares of Fluidigm Common Stock. These shares of Fluidigm Common Stock
will be issued pursuant to exemptions from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation S of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

 
Item 8.01 Other Events.

On January 29, 2014, Fluidigm issued a press release announcing an offering of convertible senior notes due 2034 in an underwritten public offering. A
copy of the press release is attached as Exhibit 99.2 to this report and is incorporated by reference herein.

 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a) Financial statements of business acquired.

The consolidated balance sheet, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible preferred stock and
stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2012 of DVS US, the related notes thereto, and the report of independent
auditors related thereto with respect to the audited financial statements of DVS US, are filed as Exhibit 99.3 to this report and are incorporated by reference
herein.

The unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2013, and the related unaudited consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss),
and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013 of DVS US, and the related notes thereto, are filed as Exhibit 99.3 to this report and
are incorporated by reference herein.
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(b) Pro forma financial information.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of September 30, 2013, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2012 and the nine months ended September 30, 2013, and the related notes thereto, of Fluidigm after giving
effect to the acquisition of DVS US, are filed as Exhibit 99.4 to this report and are incorporated by reference herein.

(d) Exhibits.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the attached exhibits are deemed to have been filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
Exhibit No.  Description

  2.1
  

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated January 28, 2014 by and among Fluidigm Corporation, DVS Sciences, Inc., Dawid Merger Sub, Inc. and
Shareholder Representative Services LLC

10.1
  

Business Financing Modification Agreement dated January 29, 2014, by and between Bridge Bank, National Association and Fluidigm
Corporation

23.1   Consent of BDO USA, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm of DVS Sciences, Inc.

99.1   Fluidigm Corporation and DVS Sciences, Inc. Joint Press Release dated January 29, 2014

99.2   Fluidigm Corporation Press Release dated January 29, 2014

99.3
  

Consolidated financial statements of DVS Sciences, Inc. for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, and the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011

99.4
  

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data of Fluidigm Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2012 and as of and for the
nine months ended September 30, 2013

Forward Looking Statements

This Current Report on Form 8-K and certain of the exhibits incorporated by reference herein contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including, among others, statements relating to expected timing of the acquisition of DVS Sciences; the
prospects for the combined company; the market opportunity for Fluidigm and DVS Sciences’ products; Fluidigm’s expectations for the development of the
single-cell genomics market and introduction of new products in such market and the future growth of Fluidigm’s business; and Fluidigm’s proposed offering
of convertible notes. Statements that are not purely historical are forward looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve substantial risks and
uncertainties that may cause actual events or results to differ materially from currently anticipated events or results such as Fluidigm’s lack of experience in
acquiring and integrating new businesses; risks relating to the integration of DVS’s business and operations with those of Fluidigm; the possibility that
Fluidigm will not realize the anticipated revenue and potential operating expense synergies of the proposed acquisition; the possible loss of key employees,
customers, or suppliers as a result of uncertainty caused by the announcement of the proposed acquisition; intellectual property risks arising from the
acquisition, including risks relating to maintaining material in-licensed intellectual property rights; and risks that the acquisition or Fluidigm’s proposed
offering of convertible notes may not be completed. In addition, our business and that of DVS US are subject to numerous additional risks and uncertainties,
including, among others, risks relating to market acceptance of products; Fluidigm’s ability to successfully launch new products and applications;
competition; Fluidigm’s sales, marketing and distribution capabilities; Fluidigm’s planned sales, marketing, and research and development activities;
reduction in research and development spending or changes in budget priorities by customers; interruptions or delays in the supply of components or
materials for, or manufacturing of, its products;
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seasonal variations in customer operations; unanticipated increases in costs or expenses; and risks associated with international operations. Information on
these and additional risks, uncertainties, and other information affecting our business and operating results are contained in Fluidigm’s most recent Form 10-Q
and the Registration Statement Form S-3ASR and prospectus supplement and accompanying prospectus filed with the SEC related to the offering of the
convertible notes. You should review these risk factors carefully. Although we believe that the forward-looking statements contained herein and in the
documents incorporated by reference are reasonable, we can give no assurance that our expectations are correct. All forward-looking statements are expressly
qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. Fluidigm does not undertake any obligation to publicly update its forward-looking statements based on
events or circumstances after the date hereof, except as required by law.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 

   FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

  By: /s/ Vikram Jog

   

Vikram Jog
Chief Financial Officer

Date: January 29, 2014
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  2.1
  

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated January 28, 2014 by and among Fluidigm Corporation, DVS Sciences, Inc., Dawid Merger Sub, Inc. and
Shareholder Representative Services LLC

10.1
  

Business Financing Modification Agreement dated January 29, 2014, by and between Bridge Bank, National Association and Fluidigm
Corporation

23.1   Consent of BDO USA, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm of DVS Sciences, Inc.

99.1   Fluidigm Corporation and DVS Sciences, Inc. Joint Press Release dated January 29, 2014

99.2   Fluidigm Corporation Press Release dated January 29, 2014

99.3
  

Consolidated financial statements of DVS Sciences, Inc. for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, and the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011

99.4
  

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data of Fluidigm Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2012 and as of and for the
nine months ended September 30, 2013



Exhibit 2.1

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

DVS SCIENCES, INC.,

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION,

DAWID MERGER SUB, INC.

and

SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE SERVICES LLC, solely in
its capacity as the Stockholder Representative

January 28, 2014



INDEX OF EXHIBITS
 
Exhibit A   Form of Certificate of Merger
Exhibit B   Form of Exchange Agent Agreement
Exhibit C   Form of Letter of Transmittal
Exhibit D   Form of Joinder Agreement
Exhibit E   Form of Escrow Agreement
Exhibit F   Form of Stockholder Written Consent
 

ii



AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Agreement”), dated as of January 28, 2014, is made by and among DVS Sciences, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”), Fluidigm Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), Dawid Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and
direct wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (the
“Stockholder Representative”), solely in its capacity as the representative for the Stockholders and only for the purposes expressly provided herein and for no
other purpose. Parent, Merger Sub and the Company, and, solely in its capacity as and solely to the extent applicable, the Stockholder Representative, shall be
referred to herein from time to time as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings
set forth in Article XI below.

WHEREAS, the Boards of Directors of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub have each approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger (as defined below), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

WHEREAS, the Boards of Directors of the Company and Merger Sub have each determined (i) that the Merger is fair, advisable and in the best
interests of such corporation and its respective stockholders and (ii) to recommend to its respective stockholders the approval and adoption of this Agreement
and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger.

WHEREAS, as a material inducement to Parent and Merger Sub to enter into this Agreement, each of the Key Employees has entered into an
offer letter (each, an “Offer Letter”) and certain Key Employees have entered into a Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement (each, a “Non-
Competition Agreement”) with Parent, in each case, dated as of the date hereof, to be effective as of the Closing.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE MERGER

1.01 The Merger.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, at the Effective Time, Merger Sub shall merge (the “Merger”) with and into the Company in
accordance with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”), whereupon the separate existence of Merger Sub shall cease, and the
Company shall continue as the surviving corporation (the “Surviving Corporation”).



(b) At the Closing, the Company and Merger Sub shall cause a certificate of merger substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto (the “Certificate
of Merger”) to be executed, acknowledged and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and make all other filings or recordings required by
the DGCL in connection with the Merger. The Merger shall become effective at such time as the Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State
of the State of Delaware (the “Effective Time”).

(c) From and after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall succeed to all the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises and
be subject to all of the liabilities, restrictions, disabilities and duties of the Company and Merger Sub, all as provided under the DGCL.

1.02 Organizational Documents. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company
or the holders of any shares of capital stock of any of the foregoing, (a) the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and
restated in its entirety to be identical to the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, until thereafter
amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and the DGCL, subject to Section 6.02; provided, however, that at the Effective Time, Article I of the
certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows: “The name of the corporation is DVS
Sciences, Inc.”; and (b) the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated in their entirety to be identical to the bylaws of Merger Sub as
in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof, the certificate of incorporation of the
Surviving Corporation and the DGCL, subject to Section 6.02.

1.03 Directors and Officers. From and after the Effective Time, until successors are duly elected, appointed or otherwise designated in accordance with
applicable Law, the directors of Merger Sub at the Effective Time shall be the directors of the Surviving Corporation, and the officers of Merger Sub at the
Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation, each such initial director and initial officer to hold office in accordance with the certificate
of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation as in effect from and after the Effective Time.

1.04 Effect on Capital Stock. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and
without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or the holders of any shares of capital stock of any of the foregoing:

(a) Subject to Sections 1.07 and 1.08, each share of Company Preferred Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time
(other than Excluded Shares and Dissenting Shares) shall be cancelled and extinguished and automatically converted into a right to receive the Per Share
Preferred Consideration.

(b) Subject to Sections 1.07 and 1.08, each share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time
(other than Company Restricted Stock, Excluded Shares and Dissenting Shares) shall be cancelled and extinguished and automatically converted into the right
to receive the Per Share Common Consideration.
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(c) Each share of Company Common Stock and each share of Company Preferred Stock, if any, held immediately prior to the Effective Time by
Parent, Merger Sub or the Company (including shares held in treasury) shall be canceled and extinguished and no payment shall be made with respect thereto
(collectively, the “Excluded Shares”).

(d) Each share of common stock of Merger Sub that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be cancelled and
extinguished and automatically converted into and become one (1) validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of common stock of the Surviving
Corporation.

(e) Of the Merger Shares into which shares of Company Stock held by each Stockholder immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be
converted at the Effective Time pursuant to Section 1.04 (i) such Stockholder’s Escrowed Merger Shares shall be deposited in escrow pursuant to
Section 1.08, and (ii) the remainder of such Merger Shares not deposited into escrow pursuant to the foregoing clause (i) (the “Initial Merger Shares”) shall be
delivered to the Exchange Agent for distribution to the Stockholders in accordance with Section 1.06, subject to the provisions of Section 1.04(f) below.

(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no fractional shares of Parent Common Stock will be issued, and no certificates
or scrip for any such fractional shares shall be issued hereunder. In lieu thereof, each Stockholder which would otherwise be entitled to receive a fraction of a
share of Parent Common Stock (after aggregating all fractional shares of Parent Common Stock to be received by such holder) shall receive from Parent an
amount of cash (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, equal to the product of (i) such fraction, multiplied by (ii) the Final Closing Date Price.

(g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if at any time during the period between the date of this Agreement and the
Effective Time, any change in the outstanding shares of capital stock of Parent or the Company shall occur by reason of any reclassification, recapitalization,
stock split or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares, or any stock dividend thereon with a record date during such period, the Aggregate Stock
Consideration, the Fully Diluted Common Number and any number or amount contained in this Agreement which is based on the price of Parent Common
Stock or Company Stock or the number of shares of Parent Common Stock or Company Stock, as the case may be, shall be equitably adjusted to reflect such
reclassification, recapitalization, stock split or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares, or stock dividend thereon.

1.05 Effect on Company Restricted Stock, Options and Warrants.

(a) Prior to the Effective Time, the Board of Directors of the Company (or, if appropriate, any committee thereof) and the Board of Directors of
Parent (or, if appropriate, any committee thereof) shall adopt appropriate resolutions and take all other actions necessary to provide that effective at the
Effective Time, each share of Company Restricted Stock held by a Continuing Service Provider shall be assumed by Parent and converted automatically into
Parent Common Stock (the “Assumed Restricted Stock”) on the same terms and conditions as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time (subject to the
adjustments in this Section 1.05), except that the number of shares of Parent Common Stock to be subject to the Assumed Restricted
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Stock shall be equal to the number of shares of Company Restricted Stock (as of immediately prior to the Effective Time) multiplied by the Exchange Ratio;
provided that the number of shares of Parent Common Stock resulting therefrom shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share of Parent Common Stock.
Each share of Company Restricted Stock held by a person other than a Continuing Service Provider shall be accelerated to the extent that such share is subject
to acceleration in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and such holder is set forth on Section 3.14(g) of the Company Disclosure
Schedules, and following such acceleration, any remaining shares of Company Restricted Stock held by a person other than a Continuing Service Provider
shall be repurchased and redeemed as of immediately prior to the Effective Time in accordance with the terms of such agreements, and the holders of such
Company Restricted Stock shall not be entitled to consideration under Section 1.04.

(b) Prior to the Effective Time, the Board of Directors of the Company (or, if appropriate, any committee thereof) and the Board of Directors of
Parent (or, if appropriate, any committee thereof) shall adopt appropriate resolutions and take all other actions necessary to provide that effective at the
Effective Time, each Option, whether vested or unvested, that is held by a Continuing Service Provider shall be assumed by Parent and converted
automatically into an option (a “Assumed Option”) to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock on the same terms and conditions as in effect immediately
prior to the Effective Time (subject to the adjustments in this Section 1.05), except that:

(i) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock to be subject to the Assumed Option shall be equal to number of shares of Company
Common Stock remaining subject (as of immediately prior to the Effective Time) to the Option multiplied by the Exchange Ratio; provided that the
number of shares of Parent Common Stock resulting therefrom shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share of Parent Common Stock; and

(ii) the exercise price per share of Parent Common Stock under the Assumed Option shall be equal to (A) the exercise price per share of the
Company Common Stock under the Option, divided by (B) the Exchange Ratio; provided that such exercise price shall be rounded up to the nearest
whole cent. In the case of an Option held by a holder that is a resident of Canada for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada), the exercise price per
share under the Assumed Option shall not, in any case, be less than the minimum amount that meets the requirements of paragraph 7(1.4)(c) of the
Income Tax Act (Canada).

(c) Each Option held by a person other than a Continuing Service Provider shall be accelerated on the date which is one (1) Business Day prior to
the Closing Date to the extent that such Option is subject to acceleration in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and such holder
is set forth on Section 3.14(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedules, and following such acceleration, any Option held by a person other than a Continuing
Service Provider which is not accelerated shall be terminated without consideration as of immediately prior to the Effective Time.
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(d) The adjustment provided herein with respect to any Option, whether or not an “incentive stock option” (as defined in Section 422 of the
Code) shall be, and is intended to be, effected in a manner which is consistent with Section 424(a) of the Code. Except as provided in this Section 1.05, after
the Effective Time, each Assumed Option shall be exercisable upon the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the related Option immediately prior
to the Effective Time (except that with regard to such Assumed Option, any references to the Company shall be deemed, as appropriate, to mean Parent).
Parent shall take all action necessary, on or prior to the Effective Time, to authorize and reserve a number of shares of Parent Common Stock sufficient for
issuance upon the issuance of Assumed Restricted Stock and the exercise of Assumed Options as contemplated by this Section 1.05. Prior to the Effective
Time, and subject to the review of Parent (which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), the Company shall take all action necessary to effect the
transactions anticipated by this Section 1.05 under the Company Equity Plan and all Company Restricted Stock and Option agreements, including delivering
all notices required thereby.

(e) No outstanding Warrants shall be assumed by Parent, and the Company shall cause each such Warrant to be either (i) exercised by the holder
of such Warrant in full or (ii) to the extent not exercised in full, terminated, cancelled or automatically converted into shares of Company Common Stock or
Company Preferred Stock as of immediately prior to the Closing, either pursuant to its terms or pursuant to an agreement with the holder thereof.

1.06 Exchange of Company Stock; Exchange Agent.

(a) Prior to the Closing Date, the Exchange Agent, Parent and the Stockholder Representative shall enter into an Exchange Agent Agreement (the
“Exchange Agent Agreement”), substantially in the form of Exhibit B attached hereto. The Exchange Agent shall effect the exchange of the Initial Aggregate
Cash Consideration payable to Stockholders pursuant to Section 1.04 (less the Working Capital Escrow Amount and the amount of the Expense Fund) and the
Initial Merger Shares for the shares of Company Stock that are outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time and entitled to distribution pursuant
to Section 1.04. In connection with such exchange, Parent shall cause the Exchange Agent to provide each Stockholder with a Letter of Transmittal, in the
form of Exhibit C attached hereto (a “Letter of Transmittal”), and, to the extent that a Stockholder has not already executed and delivered a Joinder
Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit D (a “Joinder Agreement”) to Parent, a Joinder Agreement, to such Stockholder, in each case,
as promptly as practicable after the Closing (and in any event within three (3) Business Days following the Closing Date); provided, that, the Company may
provide to certain Stockholders the Letter of Transmittal and Joinder Agreement prior to the Closing Date and any such Stockholder may duly deliver such
Letter of Transmittal and Joinder Agreement to the Exchange Agent on or following the Closing Date in accordance with Section 1.06(c) below.

(b) On the Closing Date, Parent shall transfer to the Exchange Agent an amount of cash and certificate(s) representing shares of Parent Common
Stock sufficient to make the payments contemplated to be made by the Exchange Agent pursuant to this Section 1.06 and in respect of any fractional shares of
Parent Common Stock pursuant to Section 1.04(f). The Exchange Agent shall hold such funds and shares of Parent Common Stock and deliver them in
accordance with the terms and conditions hereof and the terms and conditions of the Exchange Agent Agreement.
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(c) Promptly following the Exchange Agent’s receipt of a Stockholder’s duly executed and completed Letter of Transmittal and Joinder
Agreement (if not previously executed and delivered to Parent), together with such Stockholder’s certificate representing shares of Company Stock owned by
such Stockholder for cancellation (the “Company Stock Certificates” and together with the Letter of Transmittal and, if applicable, the Joinder Agreement,
collectively, the “Exchange Documents”), the Exchange Agent shall promptly deliver or cause to be delivered to such holder (i) a wire transfer in an amount
equal to the amount of the Initial Aggregate Cash Consideration payable to such Stockholder pursuant to Section 1.04, less such Stockholder’s Pro Rata
Percentage of the Working Capital Escrow Amount and the Expense Fund, to the account(s) designated by such holder in such holder’s Letter of Transmittal
and (ii) a number of shares of Parent Common Stock (which shall be in uncertificated book-entry form unless a physical certificate is requested) equal to the
Initial Merger Shares payable to such Stockholder pursuant to Section 1.04. In no event shall any holder of Company Stock be entitled to receive interest on
any of the funds to be received in the Merger. All fees and expenses of the Exchange Agent shall be paid by Parent. Any Company Stock held by a
Stockholder that has delivered a duly executed and completed Letter of Transmittal to the Exchange Agent pursuant to this Section 1.06 shall not be
transferable on the books of the Company without Parent’s prior written consent.

(d) At the Effective Time, the share transfer books of the Company shall be closed, and thereafter there shall be no further registration of
transfers of Company Stock theretofore outstanding on the records of the Company. From and after the Effective Time, the holders of the shares of Company
Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto except as otherwise provided in this Agreement
or by Law. On or after the Effective Time, any shares of Company Stock presented to the Surviving Corporation or Parent for any reason shall be converted
into the consideration payable in respect thereof pursuant to Section 1.04, without any interest thereon. Any portion of the funds or shares of Parent Common
Stock held by the Exchange Agent pursuant to this Agreement that remains undistributed to the holders of Company Stock twelve (12) months after the
Effective Time shall be delivered to the Surviving Corporation, upon demand, and any holder of Company Stock that has not previously complied with this
Section 1.06 prior to the end of such twelve (12) month period shall thereafter look only to the Surviving Corporation for payment of its claim for the
applicable portion of the Merger Consideration in respect of such Company Stock.

(e) If any Merger Consideration is to be disbursed to a Person other than the Person in whose name the Company Stock Certificate surrendered in
exchange therefor is registered, it will be a condition of the issuance or delivery thereof that the Company Stock Certificate so surrendered will be properly
endorsed and otherwise in proper form for transfer and that the person requesting such exchange will have paid to Parent or any agent designated by it any
transfer or other taxes required by reason of the payment of any portion of the Merger Consideration in any name other than that of the registered holder of
the Company Stock Certificate surrendered, or established to the reasonable satisfaction of Parent or any agent designated by it that such tax has been paid or
is not payable.
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(f) No portion of the Merger Consideration shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered Company Stock Certificate with respect to shares of
Company Stock formerly represented thereby until the holder of record of such Company Stock Certificate shall have surrendered such Company Stock
Certificate and the Exchange Documents pursuant hereto. In the event any Company Stock Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, Parent or its
agent shall issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Company Stock Certificate, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the holder thereof,
the applicable portion of the Merger Consideration, if any, as may be required pursuant to Section 1.04; provided, however, that Parent or its agent may, in its
reasonable discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the Person who is the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed Company
Stock Certificate to either (a) deliver a bond in such amount as it may reasonably direct, or (b) provide an indemnification agreement in a form and substance
reasonably acceptable to Parent or its agent, against any claim that may be made against Parent or its agent with respect to the Company Stock Certificate
alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.

1.07 Expense Fund. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Article I, concurrent with the Effective Time, Parent shall deduct from the Initial
Aggregate Cash Consideration due to the Stockholders an aggregate cash amount equal to $450,000 and deliver such amount to the Stockholder
Representative, on behalf of the Stockholders (in accordance with each such Stockholder’s Pro Rata Percentage), at the Closing by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to the account(s) designated by the Stockholder Representative (the “Expense Fund”), to be used for potential future obligations
of the Stockholders to the Stockholder Representative, including expenses of the Stockholder Representative arising from the defense or enforcement of
claims pursuant to Sections 8.02 and 10.01. The Stockholders will not receive any interest or earnings on the Expense Fund and irrevocably transfer and
assign to the Stockholder Representative any ownership right that they may otherwise have had in any such interest or earnings. The Stockholder
Representative will not be liable for any loss of principal of the Expense Fund other than as a result of its gross negligence or willful misconduct. The
Stockholder Representative will hold these funds separate from its corporate funds, will not use these funds for its operating expenses or any other corporate
purposes and will not voluntarily make these funds available to its creditors in the event of bankruptcy. The Expense Fund shall be retained in whole or in part
by or on behalf of the Stockholder Representative for such time as the Stockholder Representative shall determine in its sole discretion, at which time the
Stockholder Representative shall promptly distribute to the Exchange Agent for further distribution to the Stockholders their Pro Rata Percentages of any
remaining amounts distributed under this Section 1.07.

1.08 Escrow Accounts. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Article I, on the Closing Date, Parent shall (a) deduct from the Initial Aggregate
Cash Consideration payable to Stockholders (on a pro rata basis in accordance with each such Stockholder’s Pro Rata Percentage), and deposit with the
Escrow Agent, the Working Capital Escrow Amount in immediately available funds into an escrow account (the “Working Capital Escrow Account”) to be
established and maintained by the Escrow Agent, (b) deliver to the Escrow Agent a certificate (issued in the name of the Escrow Agent or its nominee)
representing fifty percent (50%) of the Escrowed Merger Shares (the “Indemnity Escrow Amount”) into an escrow account (the “Indemnity Escrow
Account”) to be established and maintained by the Escrow Agent, and (c) deliver to the Escrow Agent a certificate (issued in the name of the Escrow Agent
(the “Special Escrow Amount”) or its nominee) representing fifty percent (50%) of the Escrowed Merger Shares (the “Special Escrow Account”) to be
established and maintained by the Escrow Agent,
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in each case, pursuant to the terms and conditions of an escrow agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit E attached hereto (with such changes as may
be required by the Escrow Agent and reasonably acceptable to Parent and the Stockholder Representative), to be entered into on the Closing Date by Parent,
the Stockholder Representative and the Escrow Agent (the “Escrow Agreement”). All fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent shall be paid by Parent.

1.09 Dissenting Shares. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary and to the extent available under Section 262 of the DGCL, any
share of Company Stock that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that is held by a Common Stockholder or Company
Preferred Stockholder who did not consent to or vote (by a valid and enforceable proxy or otherwise) in favor of the adoption of this Agreement, which
Common Stockholder or Company Preferred Stockholder complies with all of the provisions of the DGCL relevant to the exercise and perfection of appraisal
rights (such share being a “Dissenting Share,” and such Common Stockholder or Company Preferred Stockholder being a “Dissenting Stockholder”), shall
not be converted into the right to receive the consideration to which the holder of such share would be entitled pursuant to Section 1.04 but rather shall be
converted into the right to receive such consideration as may be determined to be due with respect to such Dissenting Share pursuant to Section 262 of the
DGCL. If any Dissenting Stockholder fails to perfect such stockholder’s appraisal rights under the DGCL or effectively withdraws or otherwise loses such
rights with respect to any Dissenting Shares, such Dissenting Shares shall thereupon automatically be converted into the right to receive the consideration
referred to in Section 1.04, pursuant to the exchange procedures set forth in Section 1.06. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Agreement, if the Merger is rescinded or abandoned, then the right of a Stockholder to be paid the fair value of such holder’s Dissenting Shares pursuant to
Section 262 of the DGCL shall cease. The Company shall give Parent (a) notice of any demand for payment of the fair value of any shares of Company Stock
or any attempted withdrawal of any such demand for payment and any other instrument served pursuant to the DGCL and received by the Company relating
to any Stockholder’s appraisal rights and (b) the opportunity to participate in all negotiations and proceedings with respect to any such demands for payment
under the DGCL. The Company shall not (x) voluntarily make any payment with respect to any demand for appraisal with respect to any Dissenting Shares
and/or (y) offer to settle or settle any demand, in either case, without the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably conditioned,
withheld or delayed). Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that Parent or the Surviving Corporation (i) makes any payment or payments in respect of
any Dissenting Shares in excess of the Merger Consideration that otherwise would have been payable in respect of such Dissenting Shares in accordance with
this Agreement (valuing the Parent Common Stock at the Final Closing Date Price) or (ii) incurs, suffers or sustains any Losses in respect of any Dissenting
Shares (excluding payments for such shares) ((i) and (ii) together “Dissenting Share Payments”), Parent shall be entitled to recover the amount of such
Dissenting Share Payments under the terms of Article VIII hereof.

1.10 Closing Payment Certificate. At least three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall deliver to Parent a certificate (the
“Closing Payment Certificate”), signed by its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer on behalf of the Company, certifying the Company’s good
faith estimate of (a) the Net Working Capital Amount (such estimate, the “Estimated Net Working Capital Amount”), (b) Closing Date Indebtedness (such
estimate, the “Estimated Closing Date Indebtedness”), (c) Unpaid Company Transaction
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Expenses (such estimate, “Estimated Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses”), and (d) Closing Cash (such estimate, “Estimated Closing Cash”), in each
case, with reasonable documentation supporting the calculation of each of such amounts. If prior to the Closing Date, Parent disputes all or any portion of the
Closing Payment Certificate, the chief financial officers of the Company and Parent shall promptly meet and seek in good faith to resolve the dispute(s) and
the chief financial officer of the Company shall consider in good faith the views of the chief financial officer of Parent in deciding whether, in the Company’s
reasonable discretion, to make any adjustments to the amounts to be included as part of a revised Closing Payment Certificate (which such revised certificate
shall be delivered to Parent prior to the Closing Date and shall be deemed to be the Closing Payment Certificate for all purposes of this Agreement, including
the calculation of the Initial Aggregate Cash Consideration).

1.11 Final Calculations; Disputes.

(a) As promptly as practicable, but in any event within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, Parent will deliver to the Stockholder
Representative a consolidated balance sheet of the Group Companies as of the close of business on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date which shall
be prepared in accordance with GAAP applied consistently with the Latest Balance Sheet (the “Closing Balance Sheet”), and a reasonably detailed statement
setting forth Parent’s calculations of the Net Working Capital Amount, Closing Date Indebtedness, Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses and Closing Cash
(together with the Closing Balance Sheet, the “Closing Statement”). After delivery of the Closing Statement, the Stockholder Representative and its
accountants shall be permitted reasonable access during normal business hours to review the Group Companies’ books and records and any work papers
(including any work papers of Parent’s and the Company’s accountants) related to the preparation of the Closing Statement, subject to such confidentiality
restrictions as the accountants shall reasonably request. The Stockholder Representative and its accountants may make reasonable inquiries of Parent, the
Company and their respective accountants and employees regarding questions concerning or disagreements with the Closing Statement arising in the course
of their review thereof, and Parent shall use its, and shall cause the Group Companies to use their, commercially reasonable efforts to cause any such
accountants and employees to cooperate with and respond to such inquiries.

(b) If the Stockholder Representative has any objections to the Closing Statement, the Stockholder Representative shall deliver a written notice to
Parent (the “Dispute Notice”) setting forth the basis for such objections in reasonable detail, including, (i) to the extent practicable, each item or amount so
objected to by the Stockholder Representative to the Closing Statement, and (ii) to the extent available, the Stockholder Representative’s calculation of each
such objected item or amount. If a Dispute Notice is not delivered to Parent within thirty (30) days after Parent’s delivery of the Closing Statement, the
Stockholder Representative shall be deemed to have irrevocably consented to, on behalf of the Stockholders, the Closing Statement and the Closing Statement
shall be final, binding and non-appealable by the Parties. If a Dispute Notice is delivered to Parent within thirty (30) days after Parent’s delivery of the
Closing Statement, the Stockholder Representative and Parent shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any objections set forth in the Dispute Notice, but if
they do not reach a final resolution within thirty (30) days after the delivery of the Dispute Notice, the Stockholder Representative and Parent shall submit
such dispute to the Deloitte & Touche office of San Jose, California (the
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“Independent Auditor”). If any dispute is submitted to the Independent Auditor, each of Parent and the Stockholder Representative will furnish to the
Independent Auditor such work papers and other documents and information relating to the disputed issues as the Independent Auditor may reasonably
request and are available to such Party or its accountants (including information of the Group Companies) and each of Parent and the Stockholder
Representative shall be entitled to present the Independent Auditor material relating to the determination and to discuss, whether or not in the presence of any
other Party, the determination with the Independent Auditor.

(c) The Independent Auditor shall resolve only those matters that remain in dispute after the thirty (30)-day resolution period. It is the intent of
Parent and the Stockholder Representative that the process set forth in this Section 1.11 and the activities of the Independent Auditor in connection herewith
are not intended to be and, in fact, are not arbitration and that the Independent Auditor shall act as an auditor and not an arbitrator and no formal arbitration
rules shall be followed (including rules with respect to procedures and discovery). The Stockholder Representative and Parent shall use their commercially
reasonable efforts to cause the Independent Auditor to resolve all such disagreements as soon as practicable but in no event later than forty-five (45) days
after submission of the disputed issues to the Independent Auditor. The resolution of the dispute by the Independent Auditor shall be final, binding and non-
appealable on the Parties; provided, however, that this provision shall not prohibit either Parent or the Stockholder Representative from instituting litigation to
enforce any ruling of the Independent Auditor resolving any such disputes. The Closing Statement shall be modified if necessary to reflect such
determination. The fees and expenses of the Independent Auditor shall be borne by Parent, on the one hand, and the Stockholder Representative, on behalf of
the Stockholders, on the other hand, in inverse proportion as they may prevail on the matters resolved by the Independent Auditor, which proportionate
allocation shall be calculated on an aggregate basis based on the relative dollar values of the amounts in dispute and shall be determined by the Independent
Auditor at the time the determination is rendered on the merits of the matters submitted to the Independent Auditor; provided, further, that any such fees and
expenses to be paid by the Stockholders shall be initially paid from the Expense Fund, to the extent of then available funds.

1.12 Adjustments.

(a) If the Net Working Capital Amount, as finally determined pursuant to Section 1.11, is greater than the Estimated Net Working Capital
Amount by an amount greater than $100,000, Parent or the Surviving Corporation shall pay to each Stockholder such Stockholder’s Pro Rata Percentage of
such excess (from dollar one) in accordance with Section 1.12(e). For the avoidance of doubt, no amount owed by Parent or the Surviving Corporation to the
Stockholders pursuant to this Section 1.12(a) shall be taken into account in the calculation of the Final Adjustment Amount (as defined below) pursuant to
Section 1.12(e) in the event that such difference is not greater than $100,000. If the Net Working Capital Amount, as finally determined pursuant to
Section 1.11, is less than the Estimated Net Working Capital Amount by an amount greater than $100,000, Parent shall be paid an amount equal to such
shortfall (from dollar one) in cash from the Working Capital Escrow Account in accordance with Section 1.12(e). For the avoidance of doubt, no amount
owed to Parent pursuant to this Section 1.12(a) shall be taken into account in the calculation of the Final Adjustment Amount pursuant to Section 1.12(e) in
the event that such difference is not greater than $100,000.
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(b) If the Closing Date Indebtedness, as finally determined pursuant to Section 1.11, is less than Estimated Closing Date Indebtedness, Parent or
the Surviving Corporation shall pay to each Stockholder such Stockholder’s Pro Rata Percentage of the absolute value of such deficiency in accordance with
Section 1.12(e). If the Closing Date Indebtedness, as finally determined pursuant Section 1.11, is greater than the Estimated Closing Date Indebtedness,
Parent shall be paid the amount of such excess in cash from the Working Capital Escrow Account in accordance with Section 1.12(e).

(c) If Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, as finally determined pursuant to Section 1.11, are less than Estimated Unpaid Company
Transaction Expenses, Parent or the Surviving Corporation shall pay to each Stockholder such Stockholder’s Pro Rata Percentage of the absolute value of
such deficiency in accordance with Section 1.12(e). If Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, as finally determined pursuant Section 1.11, are greater than
Estimated Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses, Parent shall be paid cash from the Working Capital Escrow Account in the amount of such excess in
accordance with Section 1.12(e).

(d) If Closing Cash, as finally determined pursuant to Section 1.11, is greater than Estimated Closing Cash, Parent or the Surviving Corporation
shall pay to each Stockholder such Stockholder’s Pro Rata Percentage of such excess in accordance with Section 1.12(e). If Closing Cash, as finally
determined pursuant Section 1.11, is less than Estimated Closing Cash, Parent shall be paid cash from the Working Capital Escrow Account in the amount of
such excess in accordance with Section 1.12(e).

(e) Final Adjustment Amount. Without duplication, all amounts owed pursuant to Section 1.12 shall be aggregated, and the net amount (if any)
owed by Parent to the Stockholders, on the one hand (any such amount, the “Excess Amount”), or from the Working Capital Escrow Account to Parent, on
the other hand (any such amount, the “Shortfall Amount”), is referred to as the “Final Adjustment Amount.” In the event the Final Adjustment Amount is $0,
Parent and the Stockholder Representative shall instruct the Escrow Agent to promptly release from the Working Capital Escrow Account and deliver to the
Exchange Agent for distribution to the Stockholders an amount in cash equal to the Working Capital Escrow Amount. In the event the Final Adjustment
Amount constitutes a Shortfall Amount, Parent and the Stockholder Representative shall instruct the Escrow Agent to promptly release from the Working
Capital Escrow Account and deliver to Parent an amount in cash equal to the Shortfall Amount and to the Exchange Agent for distribution to the Stockholders
an amount in cash equal to the positive difference, if any, between (i) the Working Capital Escrow Amount minus (ii) the Shortfall Amount; provided, that in
the event that the Shortfall Amount exceeds the Working Capital Escrow Amount (any such amount, the “Adjustment Deficiency Amount”), Parent and the
Stockholder Representative shall instruct the Escrow Agent to promptly release from the Indemnity Escrow Account and deliver to Parent a number of
Escrowed Merger Shares (valued at the Final Closing Date Price) with an aggregate value equal to the Adjustment Deficiency Amount. In the event the Final
Adjustment Amount constitutes an Excess Amount, Parent and the Stockholder Representative shall instruct the Escrow Agent to promptly release from the
Working Capital Escrow Account and deliver to the Exchange Agent for distribution to the Stockholders an amount in cash equal to the Working Capital
Escrow Amount and Parent shall deliver to the Exchange Agent for distribution to the Stockholders an amount in cash equal to the Excess Amount.
Following the receipt by the Exchange Agent of all or any portion of the
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Working Capital Escrow Account and any Excess Amount for distribution to the Stockholders, the Exchange Agent shall promptly deliver to each
Stockholder in cash such Stockholder’s Pro Rata Percentage of such amounts in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Agent Agreement, provided,
however, that any payments from the Exchange Agent to any Stockholder shall be subject to the surrender and delivery of Company Stock Certificates and
Exchange Documents in the manner set forth in Section 1.06(c) hereof. Payment of the Final Adjustment Amount shall be made within five (5) Business
Days after the last date of final determination pursuant to Section 1.11.

1.13 Withholding Rights. Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable
pursuant to this Agreement to any Stockholder such amounts as it is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the
Code, or any applicable provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law. Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as applicable, shall cooperate with the Stockholder
Representative to the extent reasonable in efforts to obtain reduction of or relief from such deduction or withholding. Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as
applicable, shall timely remit to the appropriate Governmental Entity any and all amounts so deducted or withheld and timely file all Tax Returns and provide
to the Stockholder Representative copies of such information statements and other documents required to be filed or provided under applicable Tax Law. To
the extent that amounts are so withheld by Parent or the Surviving Corporation in accordance with the foregoing, such withheld amounts shall be treated for
all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Stockholder in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by Parent or the
Surviving Corporation.

ARTICLE II

THE CLOSING

2.01 The Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Wilson Sonsini
Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, 650 Page Mill Road, Palo Alto, California, 94304 at 10:00 a.m. local time on the second (2nd) Business Day
following full satisfaction or due waiver of all of the closing conditions set forth in Article VII hereof (other than those to be satisfied at the Closing itself, but
subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions) or on such other date and/or time as is mutually agreeable to Parent and the Company. The date upon
which the Closing occurs is referred to herein as the “Closing Date.”

2.02 The Closing Transactions. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, on the Closing Date, the Parties shall consummate the
following transactions (the “Closing Transactions”):

(a) the Company and Merger Sub shall cause the Certificate of Merger to be executed, acknowledged and filed with the Secretary of State of the
State of Delaware;
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(b) in accordance with Section 1.06, Parent shall deliver the cash (by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account(s) designated in
writing by the Exchange Agent) and the shares of Parent Common Stock required to be delivered to the Exchange Agent;

(c) in accordance with Section 1.07, Parent shall deliver to the Stockholder Representative the Expense Fund, by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to the account(s) designated in writing by the Stockholder Representative;

(d) in accordance with Section 1.08, Parent shall deposit the cash comprising the Working Capital Escrow Amount into the Working Capital
Escrow Account;

(e) in accordance with Section 1.08, Parent shall deposit the Escrowed Merger Shares comprising the Indemnity Escrow Amount and the Special
Escrow Amount into the Indemnity Escrow Account and Special Escrow Account, respectively; and

(f) Parent and the Company shall make such other deliveries as are required by Article VII hereof.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as set forth in the Company Disclosure Schedules, the Company represents and warrants to each of Parent and Merger Sub on the date
hereof and (except where a representation or warranty is made herein as of a specified date) as of the Effective Time, as though made at the Effective Time, as
follows:

3.01 Organization and Power.

(a) The Company is (i) a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware, and has
all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as currently conducted and (ii) is qualified to
do business in every jurisdiction in which its ownership of property or the conduct of business as now conducted requires it to qualify, except where the
failure to be so qualified does not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company has delivered to
counsel for Parent a true and correct copy of the Organizational Documents of the Company.

(b) Section 3.01(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedules lists every state or foreign jurisdiction in which the Company has employees or
facilities as of the date hereof.

(c) Section 3.01(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedules lists the directors and officers of the Company as of the date hereof. The operations
now being conducted by the Company are not now and have never been conducted by the Company under any other name.

3.02 Subsidiaries.

(a) Section 3.02(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedules sets forth a true, correct and complete list of the Company’s Subsidiaries. Each of the
Subsidiaries of the Company (i) has been duly organized or incorporated and is validly existing and, where such concept is recognized, in good standing
under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization or incorporation; (ii) is duly registered, licensed or qualified to do business and, where such concept
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is recognized, is in good standing in all jurisdictions in which the conduct of its business or the activities it is engaged in makes such registration, licensing or
qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified and in good standing does not have, and would not be reasonably expected to have, a
Company Material Adverse Effect; and (iii) has all requisite corporate power and authority necessary to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on
its businesses as currently conducted. No Group Company owns any interest in any Person other than the Subsidiaries of the Company set forth on
Section 3.02(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedules. The Company has delivered to counsel for Parent a true and correct copy of Organizational
Documents of each of the Company’s Subsidiaries.

(b) All outstanding shares of capital stock of the Subsidiaries of the Company have been duly and validly issued and are fully paid (to the extent
required under the applicable governing documents) and non-assessable, and all such shares are owned of record and beneficially by the Company free and
clear of any Liens (other than Permitted Liens and other than restrictions on transfer under this Agreement and under applicable state and federal securities
Laws) and were not issued in violation of the pre-emptive rights of any Person or any Contract or applicable Law by which the issuing Subsidiary of the
Company was bound as the time of the issuance. There are no shares of capital stock of any Subsidiary of the Company or any other equity security of such
Subsidiary issuable upon conversion or exchange of any issued and outstanding security of such Subsidiary nor are there any rights, options, warrants, calls,
commitments or other agreements to acquire shares of any Subsidiary of the Company or any other equity security of such Subsidiary nor is any such
Subsidiary contractually obligated to purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any of its outstanding shares. There are no outstanding or authorized stock
appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation, or other similar rights with respect to any of the Subsidiaries of the Company. Neither the Company nor any
of its Subsidiaries has agreed or is obligated to make any future investment in or capital contribution to any Person.

(c) Section 3.02(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedules lists the directors and officers of each of the Company’s Subsidiaries as of the date
hereof. The operations now being conducted by each Subsidiary are not now and have never been conducted by the applicable Subsidiary under any other
name.

(d) There are no shareholders agreements, voting trusts, pooling agreements or other Contracts, arrangements or understandings in respect of the
voting of any of the shares of the Company’s Subsidiaries.

3.03 Authorization; No Breach; Valid and Binding Agreement.

(a) The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Related Agreements to which it
is a party and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements to
which it is a party by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly
authorized by all requisite corporate action and no other corporate proceedings on its part are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery or performance of
this Agreement, subject only to obtaining the Stockholder Approval. The Board of Directors of the Company has (i) unanimously resolved that the Merger is
advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders, and (ii) unanimously approved this Agreement and the Merger.
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(b) Except for (i) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware; (ii) the Stockholder Approval; and
(iii) compliance with and filings under the HSR Act, if required, and any other Antitrust Law, the execution, delivery, performance and compliance with the
terms and conditions of this Agreement by the Company and the Related Agreements to which the Company is a party and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and shall not (A) violate, conflict with, result in any breach of, or constitute a default under any of the
provisions of any Organizational Documents of any Group Company, (B) violate or result in a breach of or constitute a violation or default under, or give any
Person the right to terminate, materially modify or accelerate any right or obligation under, or require consent, waiver, approval or notice under, any Material
Contract or any material Permit issued to any Group Company, (C) violate any Law to which any of the Group Companies is subject or (D) result in the
creation or imposition of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) over any property or assets of any Group Company.

(c) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming that this Agreement is a valid and binding obligation of
the other Parties hereto, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy Laws, other similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights and general principles of equity affecting the availability of
specific performance and other equitable remedies (collectively, the “Enforceability Exceptions”).

3.04 Capitalization.

(a) As of the date hereof, the authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 26,700,000 shares of Company Common Stock, of which
6,413,405 shares are issued and outstanding and 21,700,000 shares of Company Preferred Stock, of which 16,700,000 are designated Series A-1 Preferred
Stock, 8,131,829 of which are issued and outstanding, and 5,000,000 are designated Series A-2 Preferred Stock, 4,937,712 of which are issued and
outstanding. As of the date hereof, the Company has reserved 2,625,000 shares of Company Common Stock authorized for issuance to employees,
consultants, advisors and directors pursuant to the Company Equity Plan, under which 667,327 Options to purchase shares are issued and outstanding.

(b) All the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company have been duly and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. All the
outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company (and all other outstanding securities of the Company, including Options and Warrants) were issued in
accordance with the registration or qualification requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and any relevant state
securities Laws or pursuant to valid exemptions therefrom and were not issued in violation of the pre-emptive rights of any Person or any Contract or
applicable Law, in each case, by which the Company was bound as the time of the issuance. Except for any Warrants, any Options, the conversion privileges
of the Company Preferred Stock or the rights provided pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement or the Co-Sale Agreement (each of which agreements will
terminate
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effective at or prior to the Effective Time), there are no shares of Company Common Stock or any other equity security of the Company issuable upon
conversion or exchange of any issued and outstanding security of the Company nor are there any rights, options outstanding or other agreements to acquire
shares of Company Stock or any other equity security of the Company from the Company nor is the Company contractually obligated to purchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire any of its outstanding shares that would survive the Closing. No Stockholder is entitled to any preemptive or similar rights to subscribe for
shares of capital stock of the Company that would survive the Closing. There are no declared or accrued but unpaid dividends with respect to any shares of
capital stock of the Company.

(c) Section 3.04(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedules sets forth, as of the date hereof, a complete and accurate list of all issued and
outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company, identifying the name of the registered holder thereof, the class and/or series of shares held, the number of
shares of each such class or series held and the applicable conversion rate for each series of Company Preferred Stock.

(d) Section 3.04(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedules sets forth for each outstanding Option as of the date hereof, the name of the holder of
such Option, an indication of whether such holder is an employee of or consultant to the Company, whether such Option is intended to qualify as an incentive
stock option under Section 422 of the Code, the date of grant of such Option, the number or amount of securities as to which such Option is exercisable, and
the exercise price of such Option.

(e) Section 3.04(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedules sets forth, as of the date hereof, a complete and accurate list of the number of shares
exercisable under each outstanding Warrant, and the acquisition date of each such Warrant and the identity of the holder thereof.

(f) Section 3.04(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedules sets forth, as of the date hereof, a complete and accurate list of all outstanding shares of
Company Stock that are subject to a repurchase option, risk or forfeiture or vesting conditions, the number of such outstanding shares of Company Stock that
remain subject to such repurchase option, risk or forfeiture or vesting conditions and the identity of the holder thereof.

(g) Except as set forth in Section 3.04(c) through Section 3.04(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedules and except for conversion rights of the
Company Preferred Stock as of the date hereof, the Company has no commitment or obligation of any character (including pursuant to any Contract), either
firm or conditional, written or oral, to issue, deliver or sell, or repurchase or redeem, or cause to be issued, delivered, sold, repurchased or redeemed, under
offers, stock option agreements, stock bonus agreements, stock purchase plans, incentive compensation plans, warrants, calls, conversion rights, or otherwise,
any shares of the capital stock or other securities of the Company. Except for shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the Company Equity Plan or as set forth
in Section 3.04(c) through Section 3.04(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedules, there are no securities of the Company issued, reserved for issuance, or
outstanding as of the date hereof.
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(h) Other than the Company Equity Plan, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has ever adopted or maintained any stock
option plan, stock purchase plan, or similar plan providing for the equity compensation of any Person. There are no (and have never been any) outstanding or
authorized stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation, or other similar rights with respect to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company. No
repricing of options or stock purchase rights or similar program to effectively reduce the exercise price of an option or purchase price of a stock purchase
right has occurred since the date of the Company’s incorporation.

(i) Except for the Voting Agreement (which will terminate effective at or prior to the Effective Time), there are no shareholders agreements,
voting trusts, pooling agreements or other Contracts, arrangements or understandings to which the Company is a party in respect of the voting of any of the
shares of capital stock of the Company.

(j) There are no outstanding loans made by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company to any Stockholder (other than advances to
employees of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company for travel and business expenses in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practices).

(k) At or before the Effective Time, any rights of any holder or prospective holder of the Company’s securities to cause such securities to be
registered under the Securities Act, and any information rights, voting rights, rights of co sale, rights to maintain equity percentage or rights of first refusal
that exist for the benefit of any such holder or prospective holder shall have been terminated.

3.05 Financial Statements.

(a) Section 3.05(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedules sets forth the Company’s (i) unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of September 30,
2013 (the “Latest Balance Sheet”) and the related consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the nine (9) month period then ended and
(ii) audited consolidated balance sheet and statements of loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2012 (collectively, the “Financial Statements”). The Financial Statements have each been prepared in accordance with GAAP, consistently
applied, and present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of the Group Companies (taken as a whole) as
of the times and for the periods referred to therein, subject in the case of the unaudited financial statements to (x) the absence of footnote disclosures and
other presentation items and (y) changes resulting from normal year-end adjustments which are not material in amount or significance in any individual case
or in the aggregate.

(b) Without limiting the foregoing of clause (a), the Group Companies in the aggregate do not have (and no Group Company individually has) an
outstanding amount of Indebtedness in excess of $15,000,000.

(c) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has established, and maintains, adheres to and enforces a system of internal accounting controls
which are effective in providing assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
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statements in accordance with GAAP (including the Financial Statements), including policies and procedures that (i) require the maintenance of records that
in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company, (ii) provide assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company and its
Subsidiaries are being made only in accordance with appropriate authorizations of management and the Board of Directors of the Company and (iii) provide
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries. None of
the Company, any of its Subsidiaries (including any employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) or any of the Company’s independent auditors has
identified or been made aware of (a) any significant deficiency or material weakness in the system of internal accounting controls utilized by the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries, (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves the management of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or other employees
who have a role in the preparation of financial statements or the internal accounting controls utilized by the Company and its Subsidiaries or (c) any claim or
allegation regarding any of the foregoing.

3.06 Absence of Certain Developments; Undisclosed Liabilities.

(a) Since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet through the date hereof, (i) the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has conducted its business in
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices, (ii) a Company Material Adverse Effect has not occurred, and (iii) no actions have been taken
that, if taken after the date hereof, would violate the provisions of Section 5.01(c)(ii).

(b) No Group Company has any Liability of a nature that would be required to be disclosed on the face of a balance sheet prepared in accordance
with GAAP), except for Liabilities (i) reflected in, reserved against or disclosed in the Latest Balance Sheet; (ii) incurred in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practices since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet; (iii) that constitute Transaction Expenses; or (iv) pursuant to the terms of any
Contract to which any Group Company is a party (excluding however any such Liabilities arising from any breach by any Group Party of any such Contract).

3.07 Real Property. Section 3.07 of the Company Disclosure Schedules contains a true and complete list of all leases, licenses, subleases and occupancy
agreements, together with any material amendments, renewals, extensions, assignments, supplements and guarantees thereto (collectively, the “Real Property
Leases”), with respect to all real property leased, licensed, subleased or otherwise used or occupied by the Group Companies as of the date hereof (the
“Leased Real Property”). The Real Property Leases are in full force and effect, and a Group Company holds a valid and existing leasehold interest under each
such Real Property Lease, subject to proper authorization and execution of such lease by the other party, Permitted Liens and the Enforceability Exceptions.
The Company has delivered or made available to Parent complete and accurate copies of each of the Real Property Leases, and none of such Real Property
Leases have been modified as of the date hereof in any material respect, except to the extent that such modifications are disclosed by the copies delivered or
made available to Parent. No Group Company owns or has ever owned any real property. A Group Company currently occupies all of the Leased Real
Property for the operation of its business, and there are no other
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parties occupying, or with a right to occupy, the Leased Real Property. The Leased Real Property is in good operating condition and a state of good
maintenance and repair (ordinary wear and tear excepted), and is adequate and suitable is suitable for the conduct of the business as presently conducted
therein. Each of the Group Companies has performed all of its obligations under any termination agreements pursuant to which it has terminated any leases of
real property that are no longer in effect and has no continuing liability with respect to such terminated real property leases. No Group Company is party to
any agreement or subject to any obligation that would require the payment of any real estate brokerage commissions, and no such commission is owed, with
respect to any of the Leased Real Property.

3.08 Tax Matters.

(a) All income and other material Tax Returns required to be filed by or with respect to the Group Companies have been timely filed (taking into
account applicable extensions of time to file) with the appropriate Governmental Entity, and all Tax Returns that were filed (whether or not required to be
filed) are complete, correct and accurate in all material respects.

(b) The Group Companies have timely paid all material Taxes required to be paid, whether or not reflected on any Tax Return. The Group
Companies have withheld or collected from each payment made to each of their employees and any other third parties, the amount of all Taxes required to be
withheld or collected therefrom and have timely paid the same to the proper Governmental Entity.

(c) There is no Tax deficiency outstanding, assessed or proposed against any Group Company, nor has any Group Company executed any
outstanding waiver of any statute of limitations on or extension of the period for the assessment or collection of any Tax. No Group Company is, as of the
date hereof, the subject of a Tax audit or examination with respect to any material Taxes of any such Group Company, nor has any Group Company been
notified by a Governmental Entity in writing of any request for such an audit or other examination.

(d) The Group Companies have made available to Parent or its legal counsel or accountants copies of all income and other material Tax Returns
for the Group Companies filed after December 31, 2010.

(e) There are no Liens on the assets of any Group Company relating to or attributable to Taxes other than Permitted Liens.

(f) No Group Company has (i) ever been a member of an Affiliated Group filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return (other than a group,
the common parent of which was the Company), (ii) ever been a party to any Tax sharing, indemnification or allocation agreement (other than customary
gross-up or indemnification provisions in credit agreements, derivatives, leases and similar agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business), nor
does any Group Company owe any amount under any such agreement, or (iii) any material liability for Taxes of any Person (other than the Group
Companies) (A) under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law) or (B) as a transferee or successor.
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(g) No Group Company has been a party to a “listed transaction,” as such term is defined in Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b)(2).

(h) No claim has been made by any Tax authority in a jurisdiction where any Group Company has not filed a Tax Return that it is or may be
subject to Tax by such jurisdiction.

(i) No Group Company has distributed stock of another Person, or has had its stock distributed by another Person, in a transaction that was
purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Section 355 or Section 361 of the Code.

(j) No Group Company will be required to include any income or gain or exclude any deduction or loss from income for any taxable period or
portion thereof after the Closing as a result of any (i) change in method of accounting made prior to the Closing, (ii) closing agreement under Section 7121 of
the Code executed prior to the Closing (or in the case of each of (i) and (ii), under any similar provision of other applicable Law), (iii) deferred intercompany
gain or excess loss account under Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code in connection with a transaction consummated prior to the Closing,
(iv) installment sale or open transaction disposition consummated prior to the Closing, (v) prepaid amount received prior to the Closing or (vi) election under
Code Section 108(i) (or any corresponding or similar provision of state or foreign income Tax law).

(k) None of the Group Companies or their ERISA Affiliates has made any payments to any Employee and none is a party to a Contract, plan or
arrangement with any Employee to make payments individually or considered collectively with any other events, agreements, plans, arrangements or other
Contracts, that will, or could reasonably be expected to, be characterized as a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(1) of the Code or
that could not be deductible under Section 280G of the Code. There is no Contract by which any Group Company or any of their ERISA Affiliates is bound to
compensate any Employee for excise Taxes paid pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code.

(l) Each “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” (as defined in Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code) sponsored or maintained by any Group
Company has since (i) January 1, 2005 been maintained and operated in good faith compliance with Section 409A of the Code and Notice 2005-1,
(ii) October 3, 2004, not been “materially modified” (within the meaning of Notice 2005-1) and (iii) January 1, 2009, been in all material respects in
documentary and operational compliance with Section 409A of the Code. No compensation shall be includable in the gross income of any Employee as the
result of the operation of Section 409A of the Code with respect to any arrangements or agreements in effect prior to the Closing. Each Option, stock
appreciation right, or other similar right to acquire Company Stock or other equity of the Company, granted to or held by an individual or entity who is or
may be subject to United States taxation, (1) has an exercise price that that is not less than the fair market value of the underlying equity as of the date such
Option, stock appreciation right or other similar right was granted, (2) has no feature for the deferral of compensation other than the deferral of recognition of
income until the later of exercise or disposition of such Option, stock appreciation right or other similar right, (3) to the extent it was granted after
December 31, 2004, was granted with respect to a class of stock of the Company that is “service recipient stock” (within the meaning of Section 409A and the
proposed or final regulations or other IRS guidance issued with respect thereto), and (4) has been properly accounted for in accordance with GAAP in the
Financial Statements.
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(m) Section 3.08(m) of the Company Disclosure Schedules lists all Employees reasonably believed to be “disqualified individuals” (within the
meaning of Section 280G of the Code) as determined as of the date hereof.

(n) Each “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” (as defined in Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code) sponsored or maintained by any Group
Company has been maintained, operated and documented in good faith compliance with Section 409A of the Code.

3.09 Contracts and Commitments.

(a) Section 3.09(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedules, sets forth a complete and accurate list of each of the following Contracts to which any
Group Company is a party or otherwise bound (any Contract of a nature described below to which any Group Company is a party or otherwise bound, being
referred to herein as a “Material Contract” and, collectively, as the “Material Contracts”):

(i) any Contract relating to the borrowing of money or extension of credit or to mortgaging, pledging or otherwise placing a Lien (other
than Permitted Liens) on any asset of any Group Company;

(ii) any guaranty of any obligation for borrowed money or Contract containing any other material performance guaranty or any Contract
entered into outside of the ordinary course of business that contains an indemnification obligation which is material to the Group Companies, taken as a
whole;

(iii) any Real Property Lease;

(iv) any Contract under which it is lessee of, or holds or operates any personal property owned by any other party, for which the annual
rental exceeds $100,000 (excluding the Real Property Leases);

(v) any Contract or group of related Contracts with the same party for the purchase of products or services that provide for annual payments
by a Group Company in excess of $100,000 during the trailing twelve (12) month period ending on the date of the Latest Balance Sheet or any
remaining twelve (12) month period during the term of such Contract;

(vi) any Contract or commitment relating to capital expenditures and involving future payments in excess of $100,000;

(vii) any Contract or commitment relating to the disposition or acquisition of any interest in any business enterprise outside of the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice;
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(viii) any Contract or group of related Contracts with a customer that provides annual net revenues (based on the trailing twelve (12) month
period ending on the date of the Latest Balance Sheet) to the Group Companies in excess of $100,000;

(ix) any Contract (other than any Contract for Standard Software) under which (A) any Group Company acquired ownership of any Owned
Intellectual Property, (B) any Group Company has granted to any Person a license or other rights to use any Owned Intellectual Property or Licensed
Intellectual Property (other than non-exclusive licenses entered into in the context of ordinary course distribution agreements), (C) any Group Company
has been granted by any Person a license or other rights to use any Licensed Intellectual Property or (D) any Group Company pays royalties to any
Person for the right to use any Intellectual Property that is material to the business of the Group Companies, as currently conducted or as contemplated
to be conducted;

(x) any Contract limiting in any respect the right of any Group Company to engage or participate, or compete with any Person, in any line
of business, market or geographic area, or any Contract granting most favored nation pricing, exclusive sales, manufacturing, distribution, marketing or
other exclusive rights, rights of first refusal, rights of first negotiation or options to any Person;

(xi) any collective bargaining Contract;

(xii) any employment or contractor Contract (other than employment or contractor arrangements involving annual compensation by any of
the Group Companies of less than $100,000);

(xiii) any Contract that contains any redundancy, severance or termination pay or creates post-employment Liabilities (other than as
required by applicable Law);

(xiv) any fidelity or surety bond or completion bond;

(xv) any partnership, joint marketing, joint venture Contract, strategic alliance, development Contract or any Contract which is or contains
a power of attorney given by any Group Company;

(xvi) any sales representative, original equipment manufacturer, manufacturing, reseller or distribution Contract involving aggregate
payments in excess of $100,000; or

(xvii) any settlement agreement or covenant not to sue.

(b) The Company has made available to Parent a true and correct copy of all Material Contracts. Each Material Contract is valid and binding on
each Group Company that is a party thereto, as applicable, and, to the knowledge of the Company, on each other Person that is a party to such Material
Contract and each Material Contract is in full force and effect, subject to the Enforceability Exceptions. Without limiting the foregoing, the Company has
made
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available to Parent (or its legal counsel) all material written correspondence and communication between the Company and the counterparty (and/or its
successor entity) to the Contract referenced in Schedule 8.02(j) (or their respective legal counsel) with respect to the consent given by such counterparty
(and/or its successor entity) under such Contract in connection with a financing transaction completed by one or more of the Group Companies.

(c) No Group Company has violated or breached, or committed any default under, any Material Contract and, to the knowledge of the Company,
no other Person has violated or breached, or committed any material default under, any Material Contract and no event has occurred or condition exists that
with the lapse of time or the giving of notice (or both) that will result in a violation or breach of any of the provisions of any Material Contract. There are no
pending, or to the knowledge of the Company, threatened disputes with respect to any Material Contract. Since January 1, 2008, no Group Company has
received any written notice that it is has materially violated or breached, or committed any material default under, any Material Contract.

3.10 Intellectual Property.

(a) All patents, registered trademarks, registered copyrights, registered domain names, and registrations and applications included in the
Intellectual Property owned by any Group Company as of the date hereof (“Registered Intellectual Property”) are set forth on Section 3.10(a)(1) of the
Company Disclosure Schedules, including (i) for each patent and patent application, the patent number or application serial number for each jurisdiction in
which the patent or application has been filed, the date filed or issued, and the present status thereof; (ii) for each registered trademark, tradename or service
mark, the application serial number or registration number, for each country, province and state, and the class of goods covered; (iii) for any URL or domain
name, the registration date and any renewal date; and (iv) for each registered copyrighted work, the number and date of registration for each among country,
province and state, in which a copyright application has been registered. Section 3.10(a)(2) of the Company Disclosure Schedules also sets forth any
proceedings or actions before any court, tribunal (including the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or equivalent foreign authority) related to the Registered
Intellectual Property, and any material actions that must be taken within ninety (90) days after the Closing for the purposes of obtaining, maintaining,
perfecting or preserving or renewing any Registered Intellectual Property, including the payment of any registration, maintenance or renewal fees or the filing
of any responses to office actions, documents, applications or certificates.

(b) To the knowledge of the Company, each item of Registered Intellectual Property is subsisting and, to the knowledge of Company, each item
of Registered Intellectual Property that is not a pending application is valid and enforceable. All necessary registration, maintenance and renewal fees due in
connection with such material Company Registered Intellectual Property have been timely made and all necessary documents, recordations and certificates in
connection with such Registered Intellectual Property have been filed with the relevant patent, copyright, trademark or other authorities in the United States
or foreign jurisdictions, as the case may be, for the purposes of prosecuting, perfecting and maintaining such Registered Intellectual Property.
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(c) The Company and/or its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, own all Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by any Group
Company that is used in and material to the business of the Group Companies as currently conducted free and clear of any Liens (other than Permitted Liens)
(the “Owned Intellectual Property”), or otherwise have a license under all Intellectual Property that is used in and material to the business of the Group
Companies as currently conducted (the “Licensed Intellectual Property”) that grants the Group Companies the right to make such use of such Intellectual
Property. Since January 1, 2008, no Group Company has received any written notices of material infringement or misappropriation from any third party with
respect to any Intellectual Property owned by a third party, or that challenge the ownership of any Group Company in any Owned Intellectual Property. To the
Company’s knowledge, (i) no Group Company is currently infringing or misappropriating the Intellectual Property rights of any other Person, and (ii) the
operation of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as such business has been conducted, and/or currently is conducted, including the design,
development, manufacture, use, sale or importation of products, has not and does not, infringe or misappropriate any Intellectual Property owned by any other
Person or constitute unfair competition or trade practices (criminal unfair competition under the Laws of Canada) under the laws of any jurisdiction in which
the Company or its Subsidiaries has been or is subject. There is no Action pending against any Group Company (i) alleging any infringement or
misappropriation by any Group Company of any third party Intellectual Property; or (ii) challenging any Group Company’s ownership, or the validity or
enforceability, of any Owned Intellectual Property.

(d) No Owned Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property is subject to any proceeding or outstanding decree, order, judgment, or
stipulation or Contract restricting in any material manner the use, transfer, or licensing thereof by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or which may
materially affect the validity or enforceability of such Owned Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property. All Owned Intellectual Property will be
fully transferable, alienable or licensable by Surviving Corporation and/or Parent without restriction and without payment of any kind to any Person.

(e) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries takes commercially reasonable steps to maintain the confidentiality of its trade secrets or material
confidential information that it desires to protect and maintain as confidential. To the Company’s knowledge, none of the Group Companies’ trade secrets or
other such material confidential information have been disclosed to any Person, except pursuant to written confidentiality obligations. Without limiting the
foregoing, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has required each employee and contractor to execute confidentiality and invention disclosure and
assignment agreements protecting such trade secrets and confidential information and obligating such employee or contract to assign to Company or such
Subsidiary all rights, title and interest in and to any inventions and Intellectual Property developed by such employee or consultant in the course of his or her
employment or work for the Company or such Subsidiary.

(f) Section 3.10(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedules list any Contract (other than any Contract for Standard Software) under which (i) any
Group Company has granted to any Person a license or other rights to use any Owned Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property; (ii) any Group
Company has been granted by any Person a license or other rights to use any Licensed Intellectual Property; or (iii) any Group Company
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pays royalties to any Person for the right to use any third party Intellectual Property that is material to the business of the Group Companies, as currently
conducted. All such Contracts are in full force and effect, valid and binding on the applicable Group Company and, to the knowledge of the Company, any
other Person that party to such Contract; and no Group Company nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any other Person who is party to such Contracts is in
breach of any such Contract in any material respect. The execution, delivery and performance of the Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby will neither violate nor result in the breach, modification, cancellation, termination or suspension of any license to Licensed Intellectual
Property. Following the Effective Time, Parent will be permitted to exercise all of the Surviving Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ rights under all licenses to
Licensed Intellectual Property, to the same extent the Company and its Subsidiaries would have been able to had the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement not occurred and without being required to pay any additional amounts or consideration other than fees, royalties or payments which the Company
and its Subsidiaries would otherwise be required to pay had such transactions contemplated hereby not occurred.

(g) Section 3.10(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedules sets forth a correct and complete list of all material Software owned by the Group
Companies other than Standard Software (the “Proprietary Software”). Except as set forth on Section 3.10(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedules, no
Person has been granted any right to use any Proprietary Software. Neither the Company, any of its Subsidiaries nor any other person acting at the direction of
Company or any Subsidiary has disclosed, delivered or licensed to any escrow agent or any person, or to the Company’s knowledge agreed to disclose,
deliver or license to any person or permitted the disclosure or delivery to any escrow agent or other person of, any software source code that is Proprietary
Software or Owned Intellectual Property. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has (A) incorporated Open Source Material into, or combined Open
Source Material with, any distributed product of the Group Companies, Proprietary Software or material Owned Intellectual Property, or used Open Source
Material to provide any product of the Group Companies or Owned Intellectual Property that has been distributed, (B) distributed Open Source Material in
conjunction with or for use with any product of the Group Companies, Proprietary Software or Owned Intellectual Property, or (C) otherwise used Open
Source Material in connection with a distributed product of any Group Company, in each case, in a manner that purportedly (1) imposes or could impose a
requirement or condition that such product of the Group Companies, Proprietary Software or Owned Intellectual Property (or any portion thereof) (A) be
disclosed or distributed in source code form, (B) be licensed for the purpose of making modifications or derivative works, or (C) be redistributable at no
charge, or (2) grants or requires the grant of a license to any Person of any Proprietary Software or Owned Intellectual Property. For purposes of this
Agreement, “Open Source Material” shall mean any software or other Intellectual Property that is distributed or made available as “open source software” or
“free software” or without a fee, or is otherwise publicly distributed or made generally available in source code or equivalent form under terms that permit
modification and redistribution of such software or Intellectual Property. Open Source Material includes software that is licensed under the GNU General
Public License, GNU Lesser General Public License, Mozilla License, Common Public License, Apache License and BSD License and materials and/or
content made available under a Creative Commons license.
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(h) The Owned Intellectual Property and Licensed Intellectual Property constitute, to the Company’s knowledge, all the Intellectual Property
necessary for the conduct of the business of the Group Companies as conducted as of the Closing. To the knowledge of the Company, no person has infringed
or misappropriated, or is infringing or misappropriating, any material Owned Intellectual Property. All Owned Intellectual Property incorporated into or
embodied in any product of a Group Company was developed solely by either (1) employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries acting during the term and
within the scope of their employment or (2) by third parties who assigned all of their rights, including all Intellectual Property rights therein, to the Company
or one of its Subsidiaries in writing, and to the Company’s knowledge, the Company obtained any third party consents required to effect such assignment.
Except as set forth on Section 3.10(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company has recorded each such assignment with the relevant Governmental
Entity in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

(i) No government funding, facilities or personnel of a university, college, other medical or educational institution or research center or funding
from third parties was used in the development of any Owned Intellectual Property.

3.11 Group Company Products.

(a) No royalties, fees, honoraria, volume-based, milestone or other payments are payable by any Group Company to any Person by reason of the
ownership, use, sale, licensing, distribution or other exploitation of any Intellectual Property relating to the conduct or operation of the business of the Group
Companies or the delivery or provision of any product of the Group Companies.

(b) To the Company’s knowledge, all products of the Group Companies that have been manufactured, distributed or sold were merchantable, free
from defects in design, specifications, processing, manufacture, material or workmanship, and suitable for the purpose for which they were sold, in each case,
at the time at which they were sold and during any applicable warranty period. No Group Company has ever incurred any uninsured or insured product
liability, or received a claim based upon alleged product liability.

(c) Except for warranties substantially similar to those contained in the Company’s standard warranty for the products of the Group Companies,
no Group Company has given any warranties relating to its products. The Company has provided Parent with a true and accurate copy of its standard
warranties for the products of the Group Companies.

3.12 Litigation. There is no Action, at Law or in equity, or before or by any Governmental Entity, pending or threatened in writing against any Group
Company or their respective properties, assets or business or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of their respective officers or directors in their respective
capacities as such. No Group Company is subject to any settlement, stipulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, ruling, determination or award of
any court or of any Governmental Entity (“Order”). To the knowledge of the Company, there is no investigation by a Governmental Entity pending or
threatened in writing against any Group Company or any of their respective officers or directors in their capacities as such officers or directors. No
Governmental Entity has at any time
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challenged the legal right of any Group Company to conduct its operations as presently or previously conducted. There is no Action pending or threatened
against any Person who has made a claim against any Group Company asserting a contractual right or a right pursuant to applicable law to indemnification
from any Group Company in respect of such Action.

3.13 Governmental Consents.

(a) Except for any applicable requirements of the HSR Act, no Group Company is required to submit any notice, report or other filing with any
Governmental Entity in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by it of this Agreement or any Related Agreements to which any such Group
Company is a party or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. No consent, approval or authorization of any Governmental
Entity is required to be obtained by any Group Company in connection with its execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or any Related
Agreements to which any such Group Company is a party or the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

(b) Neither the aggregate value of the assets in Canada of the Group Companies, nor the gross revenues from sales in or from Canada generated
from such assets, calculated in accordance with Part IX of the Competition Act (Canada), exceeds CDN$80,000,000.

(c) None of the Group Companies provides any of the services, or engages in any of the activities, of a “cultural business” within the meaning of
the Investment Canada Act.

3.14 Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Section 3.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedules contains an accurate and complete list, as of the date hereof, of each material Company
Employee Benefit Plan and each Employee Agreement. No Group Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has any commitment to establish any new Company
Employee Benefit Plan or Employee Agreement, to modify any Company Employee Benefit Plan or Employee Agreement (except to the extent required by
Law or to conform any such Company Employee Benefit Plan or Employee Agreement to the requirements of any applicable Law), or to adopt or enter into
any Company Employee Benefit Plan or Employee Agreement.

(b) The Company has provided to Parent correct and complete copies of: (i) all material Company Employee Benefit Plans including all
amendments thereto and all related trust documents, administrative service agreements, group annuity contracts, group insurance contracts, and policies
pertaining to fiduciary liability insurance covering the fiduciaries for each material Company Employee Benefit Plan; (ii) the most recent annual actuarial
valuations, if any, prepared for each material Company Employee Benefit Plan; (iii) the most recent annual report (Form Series 5500 and all schedules and
financial statements attached thereto), if any, required under ERISA or the Code in connection with each material Company Employee Benefit Plan; (iv) if the
material Company Employee Benefit Plan is funded, the most recent annual and periodic accounting of Company Employee Benefit Plan assets; (v) the most
recent summary plan description together with the summary(ies) of material modifications thereto, if any, required under ERISA with respect to each material
Company Employee Benefit Plan; and (vi) the most recently received IRS determination or opinion letter with respect to any Company Employee Benefit
Plan that is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code.
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(c) No Group Company by reason of its affiliation with any member of such Group Company’s “Controlled Group” (defined as any organization
which is a member of a controlled group of organizations within the meaning of Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code) has incurred or is reasonably
expected to incur, any material Tax, fine, Lien (other than Permitted Liens), penalty or other liability imposed by ERISA, the Code or other applicable Law.
Each Company Employee Benefit Plan has been established and maintained in all material respects in accordance with its terms and in compliance with all
applicable Laws, including but not limited to ERISA or the Code. Each Company Employee Benefit Plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the
Code has either applied for, prior to the expiration of the requisite period under applicable Treasury Regulations or IRS pronouncements, or obtained a
favorable determination, notification, advisory and/or opinion letter, as applicable, as to its qualified status from the IRS or still has a remaining period of time
under applicable Treasury Regulations or IRS pronouncements in which to apply for such letter and to make any amendments necessary to obtain a favorable
determination. For each Company Employee Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, to the knowledge of the Company,
there has been no event, condition or circumstance that has adversely affected or is reasonably likely to adversely affect such qualified status. No “prohibited
transaction,” within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code or Sections 406 and 407 of ERISA, and not otherwise exempt under Section 408 of ERISA, has
occurred with respect to any Company Employee Benefit Plan. There are no actions, suits or claims pending, or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened
(other than routine claims for benefits) against any Company Employee Benefit Plan or against the assets of any Company Employee Benefit Plan. Each
Company Employee Benefit Plan can be amended, terminated or otherwise discontinued after the Effective Time in accordance with its terms, without
material liability to Parent, any Group Company or any of their ERISA Affiliates (other than ordinary administration expenses). There are no audits, inquiries
or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened by the IRS or DOL, or any other governmental entity with respect to any Company
Employee Benefit Plan. No Group Company nor any ERISA Affiliate is subject to any penalty or tax with respect to any Company Employee Benefit Plan
under Section 502(i) of ERISA or Sections 4975 through 4980 of the Code. Each Group Company and each ERISA Affiliate have timely made all
contributions and other payments required by and due under the terms of each Company Employee Benefit Plan.

(d) No Group Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has ever maintained, established, sponsored, participated in, or contributed to, any (i) Pension
Plan which is subject to Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (ii) Multiemployer Plan, (iii) “multiple employer plan” as defined in ERISA or the
Code, or (iv) a “funded welfare plan” within the meaning of Section 419 of the Code. No Company Employee Benefit Plan provides health benefits that are
not fully insured through an insurance contract.

(e) Each International Employee Plan has been established, maintained and administered in compliance in all material respects with its terms and
conditions and with the requirements prescribed by any and all Laws that are applicable to such International Employee
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Plan. Furthermore, no International Employee Plan has unfunded liabilities, that as of the Effective Time, will not be offset by insurance or fully accrued.
Except as required by law, no condition exists that would prevent any Group Company or Parent from terminating or amending any International Employee
Plan at any time for any reason without material liability to any Group Company or their ERISA Affiliates (other than ordinary administration expenses or
routine claims for benefits).

(f) No Company Employee Benefit Plan or Employee Agreement provides, or reflects or represents any liability to provide, post-termination or
retiree life insurance, health or other employee welfare benefits to any Employee for any reason, except as may be required by COBRA or other applicable
Law.

(g) The execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not (either alone or upon the occurrence
of any additional or subsequent events) constitute an event under any Company Employee Benefit Plan, Employee Agreement, trust or loan that will or may
result in any payment (whether of severance pay or otherwise), acceleration, forgiveness of indebtedness, vesting, distribution, increase in benefits or
obligation to fund benefits with respect to any Employee.

3.15 Insurance. Section 3.15 of the Company Disclosure Schedules lists each insurance policy maintained by any Group Company. All of the insurance
policies of the Group Companies are in full force and effect, and no Group Company is in breach or default in any material respect with respect to its
obligations under any of such insurance policies. There is no claim by any Group Company pending under any of such policies as to which coverage has been
denied or disputed by the underwriters of such policies. All premiums due and payable under all such policies have been paid. To the knowledge of the
Company, no Group Company has received any threatened termination of, or material premium increase with respect to, any of such policies.

3.16 Compliance with Laws.

(a) Each of the Group Companies is, and at all times since January 1, 2008 has been, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable
Laws of Governmental Entities and all Permits. All material approvals, filings, permits and licenses of Governmental Entities (collectively, “Permits”)
required to conduct the business of the Group Companies are in the possession of the Group Companies, are in full force and effect and are being complied
with in all material respects. No suspension, cancellation, modification, revocation or nonrenewal of any Permit is pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened. As of the date hereof, there is no proceeding or disciplinary action (including fines) currently pending, or to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened in writing against any Group Company by a Governmental Entity. To the knowledge of the Company, there is no investigation pending
or threatened in writing against any Group Company by a Governmental Entity. No Group Company has received any written notice or written complaint
from any Governmental Entity, including the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, that such Group Company is not in compliance in any material respect with
any Law applicable to it. Without limiting the generality of this Section 3.16(a), each of the Group Companies is, and at all times since January 1, 2008 has
been, in compliance in all material respects with any and all applicable privacy Laws and healthcare Laws, and any applicable portions of the Federal Food,
Drug, and Cosmetic Act of 1938 (21 U.S.C. § 321 et seq.), the Public Health Service Act of 1944, and the rules and regulations promulgated or enforced by
the FDA thereunder.
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(b) None of the Group Companies or any of their respective officers, directors, employees, agents or other Person acting on their behalf has,
directly or indirectly, (i) taken any action which would cause any of the Group Companies to be in violation of the FCPA or any rules or regulations
thereunder, (ii) used any corporate funds for contributions, gifts, entertainment or other expenses relating to political activity, in each case, in violation of
applicable Law, (iii) made any payment to foreign or domestic government officials or employees in violation of Law or (iv) made any bribe, rebate, payoff,
influence payment, kickback or other similar payment in violation of Law.

3.17 Environmental Compliance and Conditions.

(a) The Group Companies have obtained and possess all Environmental Permits required under applicable Environmental and Safety
Requirements. The Group Companies are and have at all times since January 1, 2008 been in compliance in all material respects with all terms and conditions
of such Environmental Permits and applicable Environmental and Safety Requirements.

(b) No Group Company has received any written notice relating to any potential or actual violations or Liabilities arising under any
Environmental and Safety Requirements, including any investigatory, remedial or corrective obligation, relating to the Group Companies or their facilities
and arising under any Environmental and Safety Requirements.

(c) As of the Closing, except in compliance with Environmental and Safety Requirements, no Hazardous Materials are present on any real
property currently operated, occupied, controlled or leased by any Group Company or were present on any other real property at the time it ceased to be
operated, occupied, controlled or leased by any Group Company.

(d) Each Group Company has conducted all Hazardous Material Activities relating to its business in compliance in all material respects with all
applicable Environmental and Safety Requirements. Section 3.17(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists each product that is subject to the EU RoHS
Directive and/or China RoHS, and each such product complies in all material respects with the EU RoHS Directive and/or China RoHS, as applicable.

(e) The Group Companies hold all Environmental Permits necessary for the continued conduct of any Hazardous Material Activity of the Group
Companies relating to their business as such activities are currently being conducted. All such Environmental Permits are valid and in full force and effect.
The Group Companies are, and at all times since January 1, 2008 been in compliance, in all material respects, with all covenants and conditions of each
Environmental Permit which is or has been in force with respect to their Hazardous Materials Activities.
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(f) Except as set forth in Section 3.17(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no Action is pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened
in writing, concerning or relating to any Environmental Permit or any Hazardous Materials Activity of the Group Companies relating to their businesses,
properties or assets.

(g) No Group Company has entered into any agreement that may require it to guarantee, reimburse, pledge, defend, hold harmless or indemnify
any other party with respect to liabilities arising out of Environmental and Safety Requirements or the Hazardous Materials Activities of any Group Company.

(h) The Company has delivered to Parent all environmental audits and material environmental assessments in the Group Company’s possession
or control and relating to the business or any real property currently or formerly owned, operated, occupied, controlled or leased by any of the Group
Companies.

3.18 Related Party Transactions. To the knowledge of the Company, no current officer or director of any Group Company (or any spouse of any such
persons) has or has had, directly or indirectly, (a) any interest in any entity which furnished or sold, or furnishes or sells, services or products that any Group
Company furnishes or sells, (b) any interest in any entity that purchases from or sells or furnishes to any Group Company any material goods or services, or
(c) any interest in, or is a party to, any Material Contract; provided, however, that ownership of no more than one percent (1%) of the outstanding voting stock
of a publicly traded corporation shall not be deemed to be an “interest in any entity” for purposes of this Section 3.18.

3.19 Employees.

(a) Section 3.19(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedules sets forth a table which provides next to the name of each current employee of the
Group Companies as of the date hereof: (1) the current salary, wage, actual bonus and/or target bonus opportunity, and/or commission rate, as applicable, for
such employee; (2) accrued vacation/paid-time off for such employee as of January 15, 2014; (3) the first date of employment for such employee; and (4) the
location where such employee performs services. To the knowledge of the Company, no employee listed on Section 3.19(a)(i) of the Company Disclosure
Schedules presently intends to terminate his or her employment for any reason. Section 3.19(a)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Schedules contains an accurate
and complete list of all non-vendor independent contractors that have a consulting or advisory relationship with any Group Company as of the date hereof.

(b) Each Group Company is, and has at all times been, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws and Contracts to which it is
a party relating to employment, employment practices, wages, hours, collective bargaining, unemployment insurance, worker’s compensation, equal
employment opportunity, age and disability discrimination, the payment withholding of Taxes, and the termination of employment, including any obligations
pursuant to the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988 and similar state or local Law. There are no material complaints, charges or
claims against any Group Company pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened to be brought or filed with any Governmental Entity based on,
arising out of, in connection with, or otherwise relating to the employment of, or termination of employment by, any Group Company of any individual. Each
Group Company, as applicable, is, and has at all times been, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable foreign, federal, state and local Laws
and regulations regarding occupational safety and health standards.
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(c) No Group Company is a party to any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with any labor organization or other representative of
any Group Company’s employees, nor is any such Contract presently being negotiated, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, are there any campaigns being
conducted to solicit cards from employees of any Group Company to authorize representation by any labor organization. There are no ongoing labor strikes,
slowdowns, work stoppages, picketing or lockouts pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, against any Group Company.

(d) All accruals for unpaid vacation pay, premiums for employment insurance, health premiums, Canada pension plan premiums, accrued wages,
salaries and commissions and Company Employee Benefit Plan payments have been reflected in the books and records of the applicable Group Companies.

3.20 Export Control Laws. The Company and its Subsidiaries have at all times conducted their export transactions in accordance in all material respects
with (i) all applicable U.S. and Canadian export and reexport controls, laws and regulations, including the Export Administration Act and Regulations
maintained by the U.S. Department of Commerce, trade and economic sanctions maintained by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets
Control (“OFAC”), the International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”) maintained by the U.S. Department of State, the Canadian Export and Import
Permits Act, Canada’s Export Control List, and Canadian economic sanctions imposed pursuant to the United Nations Act and the Special Economic
Measures Act, and (ii) all other applicable import/export controls in other countries in which the Company and its Subsidiaries conduct business. Without
limiting the foregoing:

(a) The Group Companies have obtained all export and import licenses, license exceptions, permits and other consents, notices, waivers,
approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings with any Governmental Entity required for (i) the export, import and reexport of the
Group Companies’ products, services, software and technologies and (ii) releases of the Group Companies’ technologies and software to foreign nationals
located in the United States and abroad (“Export Approvals”). Without limiting the foregoing, no Group Company has, directly or indirectly, sold, exported,
reexported, transferred, diverted, or otherwise disposed of any products, software, or technology (including products derived from or based on such
technology) (i) to any destination prohibited by the laws or regulations of the U.S. or Canada without obtaining prior authorization from the competent
government authorities as required by those laws and regulations; or (ii) to any entity or person prohibited by the laws or regulations of the U.S. or Canada,
including, but not limited to, any entity or person listed on the Treasury Department’s List of Specially Designated Nationals List (“SDN List”), the
Commerce Department’s Denied Persons List (“DPL”), Entity List, and Unverified Parties List, the State Department’s list of debarred parties, entities or
persons prohibited by regulations imposed pursuant to Canada’s Special Economic Measures Act or the United Nations Act, or by Canada’s Criminal Code.
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(b) The Group Companies are, and have been, in compliance in all material respects with the terms of all applicable Export Approvals.

(c) There are no pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened claims against the Company or any Subsidiary with respect to such
Export Approvals.

(d) No Export Approvals for the transfer of export licenses or permits to Parent or its Subsidiaries are required, or such Export Approvals can be
obtained expeditiously without material cost.

(e) Section 3.20(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedules sets forth the true, complete and accurate export control classifications applicable to the
Company’s products, services, software and technologies.

3.21 Corporate Records. The minute books of each Group Company contain true, accurate and complete records of all of its Organizational Documents
and of every meeting, resolution and corporate action taken by the stockholders, the board of directors and every committee of any Group Company. No
meeting of stockholders, the board of directors or any committee of any Group Company has been held for which true, accurate and complete minutes have
not been prepared and are not contained in those minute books. The register of shareholders of each Group Company is true, accurate and complete in all
material respects.

3.22 Bankruptcy. None of the Group Companies is an insolvent Person within the meaning of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) or has
made an assignment in favor of its creditors or a proposal in bankruptcy to its creditors or any class thereof, and no petition for a receiving order has been
presented in respect of it. None of the Group Companies has initiated proceedings with respect to a compromise or arrangement with its creditors or for its
winding up, liquidation or dissolution. No receiver or interim receiver has been appointed in respect of a Group Company or any of its property or assets, and
no execution or distress has been levied on any of such property or assets, nor have proceedings been commenced in connection with any of the foregoing.

3.23 Brokerage. Except for fees and expenses of Persons listed on Section 3.23 of the Company Disclosure Schedules, there are no claims for
brokerage commissions, finders’ fees or similar compensation in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based on any Contract
made by or on behalf of any Group Company for which Parent or the Surviving Corporation would be liable following the Closing.

3.24 Vote Required. The Stockholder Approval is the only vote of any class or series of the Company Stock required to approve this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger.
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ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF
THE PARENT AND THE MERGER SUB

Except as set forth in the Parent Disclosure Schedules, Parent and Merger Sub, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to the Company, on
the date hereof and (except where a representation or warranty is made herein as of a specified date) as of the Effective Time, as though made at the Effective
Time, as follows:

4.01 Organization and Power. Each of Parent and Merger Sub is (a) a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the
Laws of the State of Delaware, and has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as
currently conducted and (b) is qualified to do business in every jurisdiction in which its ownership of property or the conduct of business as now conducted
requires it to qualify, except where the failure to be so qualified does not have and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse
Effect.

4.02 Authorization. Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the
Related Agreements to which Parent and/or Merger Sub is a party and to perform its obligations hereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the Related Agreements to which Parent and/or Merger Sub is a party and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all requisite corporate action, and, subject to obtaining the approval and adoption of this
Agreement of Parent in its capacity as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub (the “Parent Stockholder Approval”), no other corporate proceedings on their part
are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent and
Merger Sub and, assuming that this Agreement is a valid and binding obligation of the Company, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of
Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to the Enforceability Exceptions.

4.03 No Violation. Except for (a) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, (b) compliance with and
filings under the HSR Act, if required, and any other Antitrust Law, and (c) any violation, conflict, breach or default which does not or would not reasonably
be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, the execution, delivery, performance and compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement
by Parent and Merger Sub and the Related Agreements to which Parent and/or Merger Sub is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby do not and shall not (i) violate, conflict with, result in any breach of, or constitute a default under any of the provisions of the certificate of
incorporation or bylaw of Parent or Merger Sub; (ii) violate or result in a breach of or constitute a violation or default under any material Contract to which
Parent or Merger Sub is a party or is otherwise bound; or (iii) violate any Law to which Parent or Merger Sub is subject.
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4.04 Capitalization; Subsidiaries.

(a) As of the date of this Agreement, the authorized capital stock of Parent consists of 200,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock and
10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share, of Parent (“Parent Preferred Stock”). As of January 22, 2014, there were outstanding
25,836,969 shares of Parent Common Stock and zero shares of Parent Preferred Stock, and Parent Options to purchase an aggregate of 3,391,129 shares of
Parent Common Stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of zero shares of Parent Common Stock (of which options and warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 1,662,016 shares and zero shares, respectively, of Parent Common Stock were exercisable). As of the date of this Agreement, Parent has reserved
such number of shares of Parent Common Stock for issuance on exercise of Parent Options as set forth in Parent SEC Documents. All outstanding shares of
Parent Common Stock have been, and all shares that may be issued pursuant to Parent Option Plans will be, when issued in accordance with the respective
terms thereof, duly and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable.

(b) Except as set forth in Section 4.04(a) and for changes since January 22, 2014 resulting from (w) the exercise of Parent Options and warrants
outstanding on such date, (x) the grant of equity incentive awards in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices, (y) the issuance of
securities of Parent in connection with the Financing, and (z) the issuance of securities of Parent which do not result in Parent’s fully diluted capitalization
exceeding by more than a number of shares equal to one percent (1%) of the Parent’s fully diluted capitalization set forth in Section 4.04(a), there will be at
Closing no outstanding (i) shares of capital stock or voting securities of Parent; (ii) securities of Parent convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital
stock or voting securities of Parent; or (iii) options, warrants or other rights to acquire from Parent, or other obligation of Parent to issue, any capital stock,
voting securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of Parent.

(c) Upon issuance in accordance with, and subject to the terms and conditions of, this Agreement (including, but not limited to, the accuracy of
the representations and warranties made by the Stockholders pursuant to Section 6.10), the shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued pursuant to Article I
of this Agreement will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens and other than
restrictions on transfer under this Agreement and under applicable state and federal securities Laws), and, when issued to the Stockholders entitled to receive
such shares pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, will be exempt from registration under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. No notice of
deregistration or delisting of Parent Common Stock has been received by Parent and, to Parent’s knowledge, no Actions are pending for that purpose.

4.05 Parent SEC Documents; Parent Financial Statements.

(a) Parent has filed all registration statements, proxy statements and other statements, reports, schedules, forms and other documents (including
all exhibits and all other information incorporated by reference) required to be filed by it with the SEC during the period since February 9, 2011, and all
amendments thereto and Parent has provided or made available to the Company true and complete copies of its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year
 

35



ended December 31, 2012, each Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Parent since December 31, 2012 and Parent’s proxy statement for its 2013 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (collectively, the “Parent SEC Documents”). To Parent’s knowledge, none of the SEC Reports is the subject of ongoing SEC review
and there are no inquiries or investigations by the SEC or any internal investigations pending or threatened, in each case regarding any accounting practices of
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries. All statements, reports, schedules, forms and other documents required to have been filed by Parent with the SEC have been
so filed on a timely basis. As of the time it was filed with the SEC (or, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the
date of such filing) (i) each of the Parent SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as it may be amended from time to time and (ii) none of the Parent SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a
material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. As of the date hereof, Parent is a “well-known seasoned issuer” as defined in Rule 405 of the
Securities Act.

(b) The financial statements (including any related notes) contained in Parent SEC Documents (collectively, the “Parent Financial Statements”)
(i) complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC applicable thereto and (ii) were prepared in accordance
with GAAP, consistently applied, and present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position and results of operations of Parent and its
Subsidiaries (taken as a whole) as of the times and for the periods referred to therein, subject in the case of the unaudited financial statements to the absence
of footnote disclosures and other presentation items and changes resulting from normal year-end adjustments.

4.06 Governmental Consents. Except for any submission, consent, approval or authorization which would not reasonably be expected to result in a
Parent Material Adverse Effect, (a) neither Parent nor Merger Sub is required to submit any notice, report or other filing with any Governmental Entity in
connection with the execution, delivery or performance by it of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and (b) no
consent, approval or authorization of any Governmental Entity is required to be obtained by Parent or Merger Sub in connection with its execution, delivery
and performance of this Agreement or the consummation by Parent or Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby.

4.07 Taxes.

(a) All income and other material Tax Returns required to be filed by or with respect to Parent and its Subsidiaries have been timely filed (taking
into account applicable extensions of time to file) with the appropriate Governmental Entity, and all Tax Returns that were filed (whether or not required to be
filed) are complete, correct and accurate in all material respects.

(b) Parent and its Subsidiaries have timely paid all material Taxes required to be paid, whether or not reflected on any Tax Return. Parent and its
Subsidiaries have, in all material respects, withheld or collected from each payment made to each of their employees and any other third parties, the amount
of all Taxes required to be withheld or collected therefrom and have timely paid the same to the proper Governmental Entity.
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(c) There is no Tax deficiency outstanding, assessed or proposed against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, nor have Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries executed any outstanding waiver of any statute of limitations on or extension of the period for the assessment or collection of any Tax. Neither
Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries are, as of the date hereof, the subject of a material Tax audit or examination with respect to any material Taxes of Parent or
its Subsidiaries, nor have Parent or any of its Subsidiaries been notified by a Governmental Entity in writing of any request for such an audit or other
examination.

(d) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries have any material liability for Taxes of any Person (other than Parent and its Subsidiaries) (i) under
Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law) or (ii) as a transferee or successor.

(e) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries have been a party to a “listed transaction,” as such term is defined in Treasury Regulations
Section 1.6011-4(b)(2).

4.08 Material Contracts.

(a) Except as set forth in Parent SEC Documents, none of Parent and its Subsidiaries is a party to any Contract, a copy of which would be
required to be filed with the SEC as an exhibit to an annual report on Form 10-K (collectively, “Parent Material Contracts”).

(b) Except as would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, each Parent Material Contract (assuming due power and authority of, and due
execution and delivery by, the other party or parties thereto) is valid and binding on Parent or its Subsidiaries that is a party thereto, as applicable, and is in
full force and effect, subject to the Enforceability Exceptions.

(c) Except as would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect and except as set forth in Parent SEC Documents, (i) as of the date of this
Agreement, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has violated or breached, or committed any default under, any Parent Material Contract; (ii) to the
knowledge of Parent, as of the date of this Agreement, no other Person has violated or breached, or committed any material default under, any Parent Material
Contract; and (iii) as of the date of this Agreement no event has occurred and is continuing through actions or inactions of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries
that will result in a violation or breach of any of the provisions of any Parent Material Contract.

4.09 Litigation. Except as described in the Parent SEC Documents, (a) there is no Action pending, at Law or in equity, or before or by any
Governmental Entity, or threatened in writing against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective properties, assets or business, that would have a
Parent Material Adverse Effect or (b) as of the date hereof, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any Order that would have a Parent Material
Adverse Effect.

4.10 Intellectual Property. Except for any nonconformance with clauses (a), (b), and (c) below that would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect
(a) Parent and/or its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, own or have the right to use all Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by Parent or any
of its Subsidiaries that is material to the business of Parent and/or its Subsidiaries as currently conducted (the “Material Parent Owned Intellectual Property”),
or otherwise have a license under all Intellectual Property that is material to the business of Parent
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and/or its Subsidiaries as currently conducted (the “Licensed Parent Intellectual Property”), (b) during the two (2) year period prior to the date of this
Agreement, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notices of material infringement or misappropriation from any third party with
respect to any third party Intellectual Property, or that challenge the ownership of Parent and/or its Subsidiaries in any Material Parent Owned Intellectual
Property and (c) to Parent’s knowledge, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is currently infringing or misappropriating the Intellectual Property rights of
any other Person. There is no Action pending against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (x) alleging any infringement or misappropriation by Parent and/or its
Subsidiaries of any third party Intellectual Property, or (y) challenging Parent’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ ownership, or the validity or enforceability, of any
Material Parent Owned Intellectual Property.

4.11 Employee Benefit Plans. Parent has in its Parent SEC Documents described, or filed as an exhibit, all of the following types of documents,
agreements, plans or arrangements that are required by federal securities laws to be described in, or filed as an exhibit to, forms filed with the SEC: material
“employee benefit plans,” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, employment, severance or similar Contracts and other plans or arrangements (written or oral)
providing for compensation, bonuses, commission, profit-sharing, stock option or other stock related rights or other forms of incentive or deferred
compensation, vacation benefits, insurance (including any self-insured arrangements), health or medical benefits, employee assistance programs, disability or
sick leave benefits, workers’ compensation, supplemental unemployment benefits, severance benefits, change of control payments, post-employment or
retirement benefits and other time-off benefits (including compensation, pension, health, medical or life insurance benefits) which are maintained,
administered or contributed to by Parent or any ERISA Affiliate and covers any employee or former employee of Parent, or with respect to which Parent has
any liability (the “Parent Benefit Plans”). Each such Parent Benefit Plan is in compliance with all applicable requirements of ERISA, except, in each case,
where the failure to comply would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

4.12 Brokerage. Except for fees and expenses of Persons listed on Section 4.12 of Parent Disclosure Schedules, there are no claims for brokerage
commissions, finders’ fees or similar compensation in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based on any agreement made by or
on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub.

4.13 Purpose. Merger Sub is a newly organized corporation, formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. Merger Sub has not engaged in any business activities or conducted any operations other than in connection with the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement. Merger Sub is a direct wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent.

4.14 Solvency. Immediately after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and assuming the accuracy of each of the
representations and warranties made by the Company contained in Article III, the Surviving Corporation and each of its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole,
(a) shall be able to pay their respective debts as they become absolute and matured and (b) own property which has a fair saleable value greater than the
amounts required to pay their respective probable debts (including a reasonable estimate of the amount of all contingent Liabilities on their debts), and (c) not
have an unreasonably small amount of capital with which to carry on its business. No transfer of property is being made and no obligation is being incurred in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors of any Group
Company.
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4.15 Compliance with Laws.

(a) As of the date hereof, Parent and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance with all applicable Laws of applicable Governmental Entities,
except where the failure to comply would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. As of the date hereof, all Permits required to conduct the business of
Parent and its Subsidiaries are in the possession of Parent and its Subsidiaries, are in full force and effect and are being complied with, except for such
Permits the failure of which to be in the possession or be in compliance with would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. As of the date hereof, there is
no material investigation, proceeding or disciplinary action (including fines) currently pending, or to the knowledge of Parent, threatened in writing against
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries by a Governmental Entity.

(b) Except as would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, none of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective officers,
directors, employees, agents or other Person acting on their behalf has, directly or indirectly, (i) taken any action which would cause any of Parent or its
Subsidiaries to be in violation of the FCPA or any rules or regulations thereunder, (ii) used any corporate funds for contributions, gifts, entertainment or other
expenses relating to political activity, in each case, in violation of applicable Law, (iii) made any payment to foreign or domestic government officials or
employees in violation of Law or (iv) made any bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other similar payment in violation of Law.

4.16 Financing. Parent intends to undertake, in accordance with Section 6.07(a) hereof, an underwritten public offering of its convertible notes for
aggregate gross proceeds sufficient, together with Parent’s existing cash resources, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, but in no event
greater than $200,000,000 (plus the proceeds, if any, arising from an exercise of any underwriter’s over-allotment option granted in connection therewith) (the
“Financing”) (with the understanding that the reference in this sentence to the limitation of the amount of the Financing (x) shall only apply in respect of the
financing contemplated in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and not any other financing transaction and (y) does not, and is not intended
to, limit Parent’s ability, in any way whatsoever, to conduct any other financing). Parent is eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3 in connection
with the Financing. Subject to the consummation of the Financing on the terms set forth in this Section 4.16, the expected net proceeds of the Financing and
the other financial resources of Parent and Merger Sub are reasonably expected to be sufficient to consummate the Merger upon the terms contemplated by
this Agreement, and pay all related fees and expenses of Parent and Merger Sub and their respective Representatives pursuant to this Agreement.

4.17 Investment Canada Act. The Parent is a WTO investor, as such term is defined in the Investment Canada Act.
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ARTICLE V

COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY

5.01 Conduct of the Business. From the date hereof until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Effective Time, except (a) as set forth
on Section 5.01 of the Company Disclosure Schedules, (b) if Parent shall have consented in writing (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed), or (c) as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, (i) the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to conduct its
business and the businesses of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business in substantially the manner heretofore conducted, pay its debts and Taxes
when due (subject to Parent’s review and consent to the filing of any Tax Return, to the extent specifically required under this Agreement), and use
commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact the present business organizations of the Group Companies, keep available the services of the
present officers and employees of the Group Companies (provided that the Group Companies shall have no obligation to pay any bonus, incentive or other
compensation to any such officer or employee, other than the payment by the Group Companies of base salary in the ordinary course consistent with past
practice or any bonus, incentive or other compensation which the Group Companies have agreed prior to the date of this Agreement to pay) and preserve in
all material respects the relationships of the Group Companies with customers, suppliers, distributors, licensors, licensees, and others having business
dealings with them; provided, that notwithstanding the foregoing or clause (ii) of this Section 5.01, the Company may use available cash to repay any
Indebtedness or to make one cash dividend prior to the Effective Time (such cash dividend shall be referred to herein as the “Permitted Cash Dividend”); and
(ii) the Company shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to:

(A) except for issuances as may result from the conversion of Company Preferred Stock, the exercise of Options or Warrants or for issuances of
replacement certificates for shares of Company Stock and except for issuance of new certificates for shares of Company Stock in connection with a transfer of
Company Stock by the holder thereof, issue, sell or deliver (or authorize or propose the issuance, sale or delivery of) any of its or any of its Subsidiaries’
equity securities or issue or sell any securities convertible into, or options with respect to, or warrants to purchase or rights to subscribe for, any of its or any
of its Subsidiaries’ equity securities;

(B) effect any recapitalization, reclassification, equity split or like change in its capitalization;

(C) cause or permit any amendments to any Organizational Document of any Group Company;

(D) other than the Permitted Cash Dividend, declare, set aside, or pay any dividends on or make any other distributions (whether in cash, stock or
property) in respect of its or any of its Subsidiaries’ equity interests, or directly or indirectly make any redemption or purchase of its or any of its Subsidiaries’
equity interests (other than with respect to the repurchase of Company Stock from former employees of a Group Company pursuant to agreements in effect as
of the date hereof);
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(E) sell, assign or transfer any of its or its Subsidiaries’ tangible assets, except for sales of inventory or products in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice;

(F) sell, assign, transfer or license any Owned Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property, except for non-exclusive licenses to end-
users granted in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(G) amend or modify in any material respect and/or voluntarily terminate any Material Contract;

(H) enter into or materially amend, modify and/or voluntarily terminate any Contract that would constitute a Material Contract if it had been
entered into as of the date hereof;

(I) make any capital investment in, or any loan to, any other Person in excess of $100,000 in the aggregate, except pursuant a Contract for which
a Group Company is a party to as of the date hereof and a copy of which has been provided to Parent;

(J) make any capital expenditures or commitments therefor in excess of $100,000, except pursuant a Contract for which a Group Company is a
party to as of the date hereof and a copy of which has been provided to Parent;

(K) make any loan to, or enter into any other transaction with, any of its officers, employees or any party described in Section 3.18 outside the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice except pursuant to a Contract for which a Group Company is a party to as of the date hereof and a
copy of which has been provided to Parent;

(L) except as provided by the terms of any Company Employee Benefit Plan or to the extent required by applicable Law, in each case as in effect
on the date hereof, (1) grant or announce any incentive awards or any increase in the salaries, bonuses or other compensation and benefits payable by a Group
Company to any of its employees, officers, directors or other service providers; (2) enter into or amend any employment, change in control, severance,
retention, consulting or similar contract with any officer, employee, consultant or other agent of any Group Company (other than offer letters providing for at-
will employment without post-termination obligations with newly-hired employees who are hired in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice); or (3) terminate or materially amend any Company Employee Benefit Plan or adopt any arrangement for the current or future benefit or welfare of
any officer or employee of any Group Company that would be a Company Employee Benefit Plan if it were in existence as of the date hereof;

(M) waive any stock repurchase rights, accelerate, amend or change the period of exercisability of options or warrants, or reprice options granted
under any employee, consultant, director or other stock plans or authorize cash payments in exchange for any options granted under any of such plans;

(N) except for the hiring of new employees below director level of seniority consistent with past practice hire, offer to hire or terminate any
employees, or encourage any employees to resign from any Group Company;
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(O) commence or settle any claim or Action, other than settlements in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices involving
only monetary remedies with a value not in excess of $25,000 individually or $100,000 in the aggregate and not involving any Owned Intellectual Property or
Licensed Intellectual Property;

(P) waive or release any material right or claim of any Group Company;

(Q) cancel any third-party indebtedness owed to any Group Company;

(R) incur any Indebtedness in excess of $100,000 in the aggregate, amend the terms of any outstanding loan agreement or issue or sell any debt
securities, guarantee the Indebtedness of any Person or encumber any assets of any Group Company (except for Permitted Liens);

(S) cancel or amend any insurance policy of any Group Company;

(T) grant any discounts, credits or rebates to any customer or supplier of any Group Company other than in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practices;

(U) change the Company’s accounting policies or procedures (other than as required by GAAP), including with respect to reserves for doubtful
accounts, or payment or collection policies or practices;

(V) revalue any of its assets (whether tangible or intangible) (other than as required by GAAP), including writing down the value of inventory or
writing off notes or accounts receivable;

(W) enter into any agreement to purchase or sell any interest in real property or grant any security interest in any real property;

(X) acquire or agree to acquire by merging or consolidating with, or by purchasing any assets or equity securities of, or by any other manner, any
business or any corporation, partnership, association or other business organization or division thereof;

(Y) make or change any material election in respect of Taxes, adopt or change any accounting method in respect of Taxes, enter into any material
agreement primarily related to Taxes, settle any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable
to any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes or file any income tax or other material Tax Return unless a copy of such Tax Return has been made available
for review a reasonable time prior to filing and Parent has approved such Tax Return (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld); or

(Z) take, commit, or agree in writing or otherwise to take, any of the actions described in Section 5.01(b)(ii).

5.02 Access to Books and Records. From the date hereof until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing Date, the Company shall
provide Parent and its Representatives with reasonable access during normal business hours, and upon reasonable
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notice, to the offices, properties (including the right to perform environmental site assessments and compliance audits, including any desired subsurface or
groundwater sampling), senior personnel, and all financial books and records of the Group Companies in order for Parent and its Representatives to have the
opportunity to make such investigation as it shall reasonably desire in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; provided,
however, that in exercising access rights under this Section 5.02, Parent and its Representatives shall not be permitted to interfere unreasonably with the
conduct of the business of any Group Company. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no such access or examination shall be permitted to the
extent that it would require any Group Company to disclose (w) information subject to attorney-client privilege or attorney work product privilege,
(x) conflict with any third party confidentiality obligations to which any Group Company is bound; provided, that the Company shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to make substitute arrangements to permit reasonable disclosure not in violation of such obligations; (y) violate any applicable Law or
(z) personnel records of any Group Company relating to individual performance or evaluation records, medical histories or other information the disclosure of
which would be reasonably likely to subject any Group Company to risk of Liability. The parties hereto acknowledges that Parent and the Company are and
remain bound by the Confidentiality Agreement between Parent and the Company dated November 27, 2013 (the “Confidentiality Agreement”).

5.03 Efforts to Consummate. Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, from the date hereof until the earlier of the termination of this
Agreement and the Closing Date, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be
done, all things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective as promptly as practicable the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement (including the satisfaction, but not a waiver, of the closing conditions set forth in Section 7.02).

5.04 Exclusive Dealing. During the period from the date of this Agreement through the Effective Time or the earlier termination of this Agreement,
neither the Company nor any of its Representatives shall take any action, directly or indirectly, to solicit, initiate, seek or knowingly encourage any inquiry,
proposal or offer from, furnish any information to, participate in any negotiations or discussions with, or enter into any Contract of any kind, with any Person
(other than Parent and its Representatives) regarding: (a) any acquisition of any Group Company; (b) any merger, consolidation, or similar transaction with or
involving any Group Company; (c) any acquisition off any material portion of the outstanding stock of any Group Company or assets of the Group
Companies, taken as a whole; (d) any equity or debt financing transaction involving any Group Company; or (e) any sale, license, transfer or other disposition
of any portion of the capital stock of any Group Company or material portion of the assets of any Group Company (each such transaction, an “Acquisition
Transaction”); provided, that none of the following shall be deemed an “Acquisition Transaction” hereunder: (x) the issuance of the Company’s capital stock
upon the exercise of equity incentive awards or warrants or (y) the sale of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ products or the non-exclusive license of the
Company’s Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business; provided, further, that this Section 5.04 shall not apply to the Company or the Stockholder
Representative in connection with Stockholder communications related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and expressly permitted
hereunder. The Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated any existing discussions, communications or
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negotiations with any Person (other than Parent and its authorized Representatives) conducted heretofore with respect to any Acquisition Transaction. In the
event that any Group Company or its Representatives shall receive any offer, proposal, or request, directly or indirectly, that would constitute an Acquisition
Transaction, the Company shall (i) immediately suspend any discussions with such offeror or party with regard to such offers, proposals, or requests and
(ii) promptly thereafter (and in any event within one (1) Business Day), notify Parent thereof, which notice shall contain (1) the pricing, terms, conditions and
other material provisions of such offer, proposal, or request, (2) the identity of the party making such offer, proposal, or request, and (3) a copy of the written
offer, proposal, or request (if any).

5.05 Stockholder Approval.

(a) Promptly following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain executed written
consents, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F (each, a “Stockholder Written Consent” and collectively, the “Stockholder Written Consents”), from the
holders of a type and number of shares of Company Stock sufficient to adopt and approve this Agreement and approve the Merger as required under
applicable law, the Organizational Documents of the Company, and any applicable agreements between the Company, on the one hand, and any Stockholder,
on the other hand (the “Stockholder Approval”). Promptly upon obtaining the Stockholder Approval, the Company shall prepare and, as soon as reasonably
practicable, send to all Stockholders on the record date for the Stockholder Written Consents who did not execute a Stockholder Written Consent the notices
required pursuant to Delaware Law. Such materials submitted to the Stockholders in connection with such Stockholder Written Consents shall be subject to
review and comment by Parent and shall include an information statement regarding the Company, the terms of this Agreement and the Merger and the
unanimous recommendation of the Company’s board of directors that the Stockholders approve and adopt this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
hereby, including the Merger (the “Information Statement”). In addition, promptly following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company shall
use its reasonable best efforts to solicit a Joinder Agreement from each Stockholder. Each party agrees that information supplied by such party for inclusion in
the Information Statement will not, on the date the Information Statement is first sent or furnished to the Stockholders contain any statement which, at such
time, is false or misleading with respect to any material fact, or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light
of the circumstances under which they are made, not false or misleading. The parties shall update, amend and supplement the Information Statement from
time to time as may be required by applicable laws.

(b) Except as required by Law until the Stockholder Approval has been obtained, the board of directors of the Company shall not alter, modify,
change or revoke its unanimous approval of this Agreement, the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby, including each of the matters set forth in
Section 5.05(a) hereof nor its unanimous recommendation that the Stockholders approve and adopt this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby,
including the Merger.
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5.06 Notification. From the date hereof until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing Date, if to the Company’s knowledge,
there occurs after the date of this Agreement, any fact or condition that constitutes a breach of any representation or warranty made by the Company in Article
III or of any covenant that would cause the conditions set forth in Section 7.01(a) or Section 7.01(b), as applicable, not to be satisfied as of the Closing Date,
the Company shall promptly disclose in writing to Parent such breach. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, to the extent a breach of this
Section 5.06 relates to a breach of a representation or warranty, the Parent Indemnified Parties shall only be entitled to indemnification pursuant to
Section 8.02(a) therefor, which indemnification will be subject to the limitations set forth in Article VIII; provided, that, to the extent that the Company has
committed a willful breach of this Section 5.06, the foregoing limitation in this sentence shall not apply.

5.07 Consents. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all necessary consents, waivers and approvals of any parties to any
Material Contract as are required thereunder in connection with the Merger for any such Material Contracts to remain in full force and effect, all of which are
required to be listed in Section 3.03(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedules.

5.08 Spreadsheet. The Company shall deliver to Parent a spreadsheet (the “Spreadsheet”) substantially in the form set forth on Section 5.08 of the
Company Disclosure Schedules, which spreadsheet shall be certified as complete and correct by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of
the Company (in each case, on behalf of the Company and not in his personal capacity), as of the Closing Date and which shall include, as of immediately
prior to the Effective Time, (a) all Stockholders and their respective addresses, the number and type of shares of capital stock held by such Stockholder, the
respective certificate numbers, the date of acquisition of such shares, the aggregate per share amount of Merger Consideration payable to each such
Stockholder, and the Pro Rata Percentage applicable to each Stockholder, (b) all holders of Options and Warrants, the number of shares of capital stock of the
Company underlying each such Option and Warrant, the grant dates of such Options and Warrants and indicating, with respect to each Option, whether such
Options are intended to qualify as incentive stock options or non-qualified stock options, and (c) all holders of Company Restricted Stock, the number of
shares of Company Restricted Stock and the grant date of such Company Restricted Stock. The Company shall deliver the Spreadsheet to Parent at least three
(3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date.

5.09 Termination of Company Investor Rights. The Company shall procure and deliver to Parent prior to Closing the written termination as of the
Closing of all Contracts with Stockholders providing for rights of co sale, voting, registration, first refusal, board observation or information rights, including
the Investor Rights Agreement, the Co-Sale Agreement and the Voting Agreement.

ARTICLE VI

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS

6.01 Notification. From the date hereof until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing Date, if to the knowledge of Parent, there
occurs after the date of this Agreement, any fact or condition that constitutes a breach of any representation or warranty made in Article IV or any covenant
that would cause the conditions set forth in Section 7.02(a)
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or Section 7.02(b), as applicable, not to be satisfied as of the Closing Date, Parent shall promptly disclose in writing to the Company such breach.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, to the extent a breach of this Section 6.01 relates to a breach of a representation or warranty, the Stockholder
Indemnified Parties shall only be entitled to indemnification pursuant to Section 8.03(a) therefor, which indemnification will be subject to the limitations set
forth in Article VIII; provided, that, to the extent that Parent has committed a willful breach of this Section 6.01, the foregoing limitation in this sentence shall
not apply.

6.02 Indemnification of Officers and Directors of the Company.

(a) For a period of six (6) years after the Closing, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation and each other Group Company to indemnify,
defend and hold harmless, and provide advancement of expenses to, each Person who is now, or has been at any time prior to the date hereof or who becomes
prior to the Closing, an officer, director or employee of a Group Company (each, a “D&O Indemnified Party”), against all Losses, claims, damages, costs,
expenses, Liabilities or judgments or amounts that are paid in settlement of or in connection with any claim, Action or investigation based in whole or in part
on or arising in whole or in part out of the fact that such Person is or was an officer, director or employee of a Group Company, and pertaining to any matter
existing or occurring, or any acts or omissions occurring, at or prior to the Closing, whether asserted or claimed prior to, or at or after, the Closing (including
matters, acts or omissions occurring in connection with the approval of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby) (a
“D&O Action”) to the same extent that such Persons are indemnified or have the right to advancement of expenses as of the date hereof by the Group
Companies pursuant to their respective Organizational Documents and indemnification agreements of the Company, if any, in existence on the date hereof
with any D&O Indemnified Party.

(b) Prior to the Closing, the Company shall obtain a six (6) year “tail” prepaid directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy (the “D&O Tail”),
effective as of the Closing, providing, for a period of six (6) years after the Closing, the coverage and amounts, and terms and conditions, of the current
policies of directors’ and officers’ liability (and fiduciary) insurance maintained by or on behalf of the Company as of the date hereof. From and after the
Closing, Parent shall (and/or shall cause the Group Companies or its other Subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable, to) continue to honor its obligations under
any such insurance procured pursuant to this Section 6.02(b), and shall not cancel (or permit to be canceled) or take (or cause to be taken) any action or
omission that would reasonably be expected to result in the cancellation thereof. The costs and expenses incurred prior to the Closing in connection with
obtaining the D&O Tail shall be treated as Transaction Expenses hereunder.

(c) No D&O Indemnified Party shall settle any D&O Action without the prior written consent of Parent or the Surviving Corporation (which
such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

(d) If Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective successors or assigns proposes to (i) consolidate with or merge into any other
Person and Parent or the Surviving Corporation shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity in such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfer
all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any
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Person, then, and in each case, proper provision shall be made prior to or concurrently with the consummation of such transaction so that the successors and
assigns of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, shall, from and after the consummation of such transaction, honor the indemnification and
other obligations set forth in this Section 6.02.

(e) With respect to any indemnification obligations of Parent and/or the Company pursuant to this Section 6.02, Parent hereby acknowledges and
agrees that it and the Company shall be the indemnitors of first resort with respect to all indemnification obligations of Parent and/or the Company pursuant
to this Section 6.02 (i.e., their obligations to an applicable D&O Indemnified Party are primary and any obligation of any other Person to advance expenses or
to provide indemnification and/or insurance for the same expenses or Liabilities incurred by such D&O Indemnified Party are secondary).

(f) The provisions of this Section 6.02 shall survive the consummation of the Merger and the Effective Time and (i) are intended to be for the
benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each D&O Indemnified Party, and his or her successors, heirs and Representatives and shall be binding on all
successors and assigns of Parent and the Surviving Corporation and (ii) are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights to indemnification or
contribution that any such Person may have by Contract or otherwise.

6.03 Regulatory Filings.

(a) The Company and Parent shall use their reasonable best efforts to (i) take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action and do, or cause to be
done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Law or otherwise to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement as promptly as practicable and (ii) obtain from any Governmental Entity any consents, licenses, permits, waivers, approvals, authorizations or
orders required to be obtained by Parent or the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries, or to avoid any Action by any Governmental Entity, in
connection with the authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein. The Company
and Parent shall furnish to each other all information required for any application or other filing under the rules and regulations of any applicable Law in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b) Without limiting the generality of anything contained in this Section 6.03, each Party hereto shall (i) give the other Parties prompt notice of
the making or commencement of any request, inquiry, investigation or Action by or before any Governmental Entity with respect to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) keep the other Parties informed as to the status of any such request, inquiry, investigation or Action; and (iii) promptly
inform the other Parties of any communication to or from the Federal Trade Commission, the Department of Justice or any other Governmental Entity
regarding the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Each Party will consult and cooperate with the other Parties and will consider in good faith the
views of the other Parties in connection with any filing, analysis, appearance, presentation, memorandum, brief, argument, opinion or proposal made or
submitted in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In addition, except as may be prohibited by any Governmental Entity or by
any applicable Law, in connection with any such request, inquiry, investigation or Action, each Party will permit authorized Representatives
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of the other Parties to be present at each meeting or conference relating to such request, inquiry, investigation or Action and to have access to and be
consulted in connection with any document, opinion or proposal made or submitted to any Governmental Entity in connection with such request, inquiry,
investigation or Action. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, nothing contained in this Agreement will require Parent or any of its
Affiliates to (i) litigate with any Governmental Entity in connection with the foregoing or (ii) agree to (x) any license, sale or other disposition or holding
separate (through establishment of a trust or otherwise) of any shares of capital stock or of any business, assets or properties of Parent, its Subsidiaries or
Affiliates or of the Company or its Subsidiaries, (y) the imposition of any material limitation on the ability of Parent, its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or the
Company or its Subsidiaries to conduct their respective businesses or own any capital stock or assets or to acquire, hold or exercise full rights of ownership of
their respective businesses and, in the case of Parent, the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries, or (z) the imposition of any material impediment on
Parent, its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or the Company or its Subsidiaries under any Antitrust Laws.

6.04 Efforts to Consummate. Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, from the date hereof until the earlier of the termination of this
Agreement and the Closing Date, Parent and Merger Sub shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or
cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective as promptly as practicable the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement (including the satisfaction, but not waiver, of the Closing conditions set forth in Article VII).

6.05 Parent’s Solvency. Parent shall furnish or cause to be furnished to the Company and the Stockholder Representative copies of any solvency
opinions or similar materials obtained by Parent from third parties in connection with the Financing, to the extent contractually permitted by the issuer of such
opinion.

6.06 Employee Benefit Matters.

(a) Immediately following the Effective Time, Parent shall provide, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to provide, to each employee of any
Group Company who continues to be employed by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their Subsidiaries immediately following the Effective Time
(each, a “Continuing Employee” and collectively, “Continuing Employees”) with (i) the same salary or hourly wage rate and (ii) the same annual incentive
compensation opportunities, in each case, as provided to such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Closing Date. Parent further agrees that, from
and after the Closing Date, Continuing Employees will be able participate in either (x) Parent employee benefit plans for similarly situated employees of
Parent that are substantially similar in the aggregate to the Company Employee Benefit Plans in which such Continuing Employees participated as of the date
of this Agreement or (y) Company Employee Benefit Plans in which such Continuing Employees participated as of the date of this Agreement. Parent further
agrees that, from and after the Closing Date, Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, grant all Continuing Employees credit for any service
with the Group Companies earned prior to the Closing Date for eligibility, vesting, and benefit accrual purposes (excluding benefit accruals under any defined
benefit plan) and severance benefit determinations in each case under any
 

48



benefit or compensation plan, program, agreement or arrangement in which the Continuing Employees commence to participate on or after the Closing Date
(collectively, the “New Plans”), except for (i) New Plans as to which employees who are similarly situated to the Continuing Employees are not provided
such service credit or (ii) as would result in duplication of benefits. In addition, Parent shall (x) cause to be waived all pre-existing condition exclusions and
actively at work requirements and similar limitations, eligibility waiting periods and evidence of insurability requirements under any New Plans to the extent
waived or satisfied by a Continuing Employee under any Company Employee Benefit Plan or under any other benefit or compensation plan, program,
agreement or arrangement as of the date on which commencement of participation in such New Plan begins and (y) cause any deductible, co-insurance and
covered out-of-pocket expenses paid during the calendar year in which commencement of participation in such New Plan begins and prior to such
commencement of participation by any Continuing Employee (or covered dependent thereof) to be taken into account for purposes of satisfying the
corresponding deductible, coinsurance and maximum out of pocket provisions under such New Plan in the year of initial participation.

(b) Nothing contained in this Section 6.06, express or implied, is intended to confer upon any employee any right to continued employment for
any period or continued receipt of any specific employee benefit, or shall constitute an amendment to or any other modification of any Company Employee
Benefit Plan or other benefit or compensation plan, program, agreement or arrangement. Further, this Section 6.06 shall be binding upon and inure solely to
the benefit of each of the Parties, and nothing in this Section 6.06, express or implied, is intended to confer upon any other Person any rights or remedies of
any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Section 6.06. Nothing in this Section 6.06 shall be deemed to make any employee of the Parties or their
respective Subsidiaries a third party beneficiary of this Section 6.06 or any rights relating hereto.

(c) Promptly following the execution of this Agreement, but in no event later than ten (10) Business Days after the date Parent has approved such
materials (provided that such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Company shall (i) obtain from each “disqualified
individual” (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code) an executed 280G Waiver (the “280G Waiver”) and (ii) submit to the Stockholders for approval
(in a manner reasonably satisfactory to Parent) by such number of Stockholders as is required by the terms of Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code, any
payments and/or benefits, if any, that may, separately or in the aggregate, constitute “excess parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G of the
Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder (which determination shall be made by the Company, subject to review and approval by Parent, which shall
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), such that such payments and benefits shall not be deemed to be “excess parachute payments” under Section 280G
of the Code, and, if applicable, prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall deliver to Parent evidence satisfactory to Parent (i) that a Stockholder vote was
solicited in conformance with Section 280G and the regulations promulgated thereunder, and the requisite Stockholder approval was obtained with respect to
any payments and/or benefits that were subject to the Stockholder vote (the “280G Approval”), or (ii) that the 280G Approval was not obtained and as a
consequence, that such “excess parachute payments” shall not be made or provided, pursuant to the 280G Waiver described herein.
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6.07 Financing.

(a) Parent and Merger Sub shall use their reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do, or cause to be done, as promptly
as possible, all things necessary, proper or advisable to arrange and obtain the Financing, including using reasonable best efforts to prepare and file the
Registration Statement with the SEC within fifteen (15) Business Days after Parent has received the Required Information, and to cause the Registration
Statement to become effective under the Securities Act as soon after such filing as practicable and to keep the Registration Statement effective as long as is
necessary to consummate the Financing. Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to ensure that the Registration Statement complies in all material respects
with the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act, and shall make all necessary filings with respect to the Financing under the
Securities Act and applicable state “blue sky” laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Parent and Merger Sub shall keep the Company informed on a
reasonably current basis in reasonable detail of the status of their efforts to arrange the Financing. Without limiting the foregoing, Parent will advise the
Company, promptly after it receives notice thereof, of the time when the Registration Statement has become effective or any supplement or amendment has
been filed, the issuance of any stop order, the suspension of the qualification of Parent securities issuable in connection with the Financing for offering or sale
in any jurisdiction, or any request by the SEC for amendment of the Registration Statement or comments thereon and responses thereto or request by the SEC
for additional information. If, at any time prior to the consummation of the Financing, any information relating to the Company or any of its Affiliates,
officers or directors should be discovered by the Company that should be set forth in an amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement so that such
documents would not include any misstatement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, the Company shall promptly notify Parent.

(b) The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to, and shall cause the Group Companies to use their reasonable best efforts to, provide all
cooperation in connection with the arrangement of the Financing as may be reasonably requested by Parent or its Representatives (provided that such
requested cooperation does not unreasonably interfere with the ongoing operations of the Group Companies), including (i) making senior management of the
Company available to participate in a reasonable number of due diligence and drafting sessions; (ii) assisting with the preparation of customary materials
regarding the Group Companies for offering documents, registration statements, prospectuses, prospectus supplements and similar documents required in
connection with the Financing; (iii) furnishing Parent with quarterly or annual financial statements for periods ending no earlier than March 31, 2012 and
ending no later than September 30, 2013 (which shall have been reviewed by the Company’s auditors in accordance with SAS 100), financial data, audit
reports, auditors’ consents, auditors’ comfort letters and other financial information regarding the Group Companies, in each case of the type and form
required by Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K under the Securities Act or other applicable Law or regulation to be included in such documents; and
(iv) providing Parent information reasonably requested by Parent which is necessary to enable Parent to prepare pro forma financial statements of the type
and form required by Regulation S-X under the Securities Act (such information, together with the items set forth in clause (iii) the “Required Information”).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of each of clauses (i) through (iv) above of the prior sentence, (w) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries
shall be required to pay any fee to any Governmental Entity in connection with the arrangement of the Financing
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prior to the Effective Time, (x)(i) all information provided by the Company or any of its Representatives pursuant to this Section 6.07(b) shall be subject to
the Confidentiality Agreement, except that Parent shall be permitted to disclose such information to potential underwriters of the Financing, subject to
customary confidentiality undertakings by such potential underwriters, or as otherwise required by applicable Law, including the Securities Act and the rules
and regulations promulgated thereunder; and (ii) the Company shall be permitted a reasonable period to comment on the Registration Statement or exhibits
thereto (or any documents or other information incorporated by reference therein) that contain or are based upon any such non-public or other confidential
information, and (y) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to take any action that will conflict with or violate the Company’s or
such Subsidiary’s organizational documents or any Laws or result in the contravention of, or that would reasonably be expected to result in a violation or
breach of, or default under, any Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party; provided, that, the Company shall use its commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain any such necessary consents, approvals and/or authorizations from applicable third parties. The Company hereby consents to the
reasonable use of its and its Subsidiaries’ logos in connection with the Financing in a manner customary for similar financing transactions.

6.08 Facilitation of Sales Pursuant to Rule 144. For a period of at least thirty (30) months following the Closing Date, Parent shall timely file the
reports required to be filed by it under the Exchange Act and the Securities Act (including the reports under Sections 13 and 15(d) of the Exchange Act
referred to in subparagraph (c)(1) of Rule 144) and submit all required Interactive Data Files (as defined in Rule 11 of Regulation S-T of the Commission).
Upon the request of any Stockholder in connection with such Stockholder’s sale pursuant to Rule 144, Parent shall deliver to such Stockholder a written
statement as to whether it has complied with such requirements.

6.09 Form S-8. Parent shall file with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-8 (or any successor form) registering a number of shares of Parent
Common Stock issuable pursuant to Assumed Restricted Stock and the exercise of the Assumed Options. Such registration statement shall be filed as
promptly as practicable, but in no event later than five (5) Business Days after the Effective Time, and Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement for so long as any Assumed Restricted Stock and/or Assumed Options remain outstanding. Parent
shall, within five (5) Business Days after the Effective Time, deliver to each holder of an Assumed Option and/or an Assumed Restricted Stock award a
written notice documenting the assumption of the underlying Option and/or Company Restricted Stock. Such notice shall specify the number of shares of
Parent Common Stock subject to the Assumed Option and/or Assumed Restricted Stock award, as well as the exercise price per share of Parent Common
Stock subject to such Assumed Option.

6.10 Securities Act Compliance.

(a) The shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued pursuant to this Agreement initially will not be registered under the Securities Act in
reliance on the exemptions from the registration requirements of Section 5 of the Securities Act set forth in Section 4(2) thereof and/or Regulation S
thereunder. Prior to the Closing Date, each of the Stockholders shall have provided Parent such representations, warranties, certifications, and additional
information as Parent may reasonably request to ensure the availability of an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.
 

51



(b) In addition to any legend imposed by applicable state securities laws or by any contract which continues in effect after the Effective Time, the
certificates representing the shares (or book-entry shares) of Parent Common Stock issued pursuant to this Agreement shall bear a restrictive legend (and stop
transfer orders shall be placed against the transfer thereof with Parent’s transfer agent), stating substantially as follows:

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “ACT”). THEY MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED, ASSIGNED, OR
HYPOTHECATED EXCEPT IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 144 IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT
RELATED THERETO, OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL, SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY, THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT
REQUIRED UNDER THE ACT, OR A NO ACTION LETTER FROM THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Any shares of Parent Common Stock issued in reliance on the exemption under Regulation S shall bear an appropriate legend referencing the
exemption under such regulation.

(c) Each Stockholder, by virtue of the Merger and the receipt of Merger Shares, shall be bound by the following provisions:

(i) Such Stockholder will not offer, sell, or otherwise dispose of any Merger Shares except in compliance with the Securities Act and the
rules and regulations thereunder.

(ii) Such Stockholder will not sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any Merger Shares unless (i) such sale, transfer or other disposition is
within the limitations of and in compliance with Rule 144 and the Stockholder furnishes Parent with reasonable proof of compliance with Rule 144,
(ii) in the opinion of counsel, reasonably satisfactory to Parent and its counsel, some other exemption from registration under the Securities Act is
available with respect to any such proposed sale, transfer, or other disposition of Parent Common Stock, or (iii) the offer and sale of Parent Common
Stock is registered under the Securities Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such registration statement or opinion of counsel shall be necessary for
(A) a transfer or distribution by a Stockholder that is a partnership or limited liability company to a partner of such partnership or a member of such
limited liability company or a retired partner of such partnership who retires after the date hereof or a retired member of such limited liability company
who retires after the date hereof, or to the estate of any such partner, retired partner, member or retired member; (B) a transfer by a corporation to its
subsidiaries; (C) a transfer by a publicly traded corporation (or a direct or indirect subsidiary thereof) to any entity under common control with such
corporation; (D) the transfer by gift, will, or intestate succession by any Stockholder or any partner or
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member (current or retired) of a Stockholder to his or her spouse or to the siblings, lineal descendants, or ancestors of such Stockholder, partner
or member (current or retired) or his or her spouse, provided in each case that the transferee agrees in writing to be subject to the terms hereof or
(E) a transfer by operation of law or in connection with any divorce proceeding.

ARTICLE VII

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

7.01 Conditions to Parent’s and Merger Sub’s Obligations. The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction (or, if permitted by applicable Law, waiver by Parent and Merger Sub) of the following conditions as of the
Closing Date:

(a) (i) The Company Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all respects (except, with respect to the representations and
warranties set forth in Section 3.04(a), to the extent any inaccuracy results in de minimis Liability to Parent or Merger Sub) at and as of the Closing Date as
though made at and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case only as of such date) and (ii) all other
representations and warranties of the Company contained in Article III of this Agreement shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as
to “materiality” or “Company Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) at and as of the Closing Date as though made at and as of the Closing Date (except
to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case only as of such date), except, in the case of this clause (ii), where the failure of such
representations and warranties to be so true and correct (giving effect to the applicable exceptions set forth in the Company Disclosure Schedules but without
giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Company Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) has not had, and would not have, a Company
Material Adverse Effect;

(b) The Company shall have performed and complied with, in all material respects, all of the covenants and agreements required to be performed
by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing;

(c) Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained;

(d) All clearances required under applicable foreign antitrust Laws shall have been obtained (or the waiting periods thereunder shall have expired
or terminated early);

(e) No Law shall be in effect and no Order shall have been entered, in each case, which would prevent the performance of this Agreement or the
consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby, declare unlawful the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or cause such transactions
to be rescinded;

(f) With respect to any payments and/or benefits that Parent reasonably determines may constitute “parachute payments” under Section 280G of
the Code with respect to any employees, the stockholders of the Company shall have (i) approved, pursuant to the method provided for in the regulations
promulgated under Section 280G of the Code, any such
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“parachute payments” or (ii) shall have voted upon and disapproved such parachute payments, and, as a consequence, such “parachute payments” shall not be
paid or provided for in any manner, and Parent and its Subsidiaries shall not have any liabilities with respect to such “parachute payments”;

(g) The maximum number (on a percentage basis) of Stockholders that have exercised or continue to have a right to exercise appraisal rights shall
not exceed five percent (5.0%) of the aggregate number of outstanding shares of Company Stock outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time;

(h) Parent shall have received a duly executed Joinder Agreement from the Stockholders holding at least 92% of the issued and outstanding
shares of Company Stock as of immediately prior to the Effective Time;

(i) The Company shall have delivered to Parent each of the following:

(i) a certificate of an authorized officer of the Company in his or her capacity as such, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying that the
conditions specified in Sections 7.01(a) and 7.01(b), as they relate to the Company, have been satisfied;

(ii) a certificate of an authorized officer of the Company in his or her capacity as such, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying as to (A) the
valid adoption of resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company (whereby the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereunder were
unanimously approved by the Board of Directors of the Company) and (B) that the Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained;

(iii) a long-form certificate of good standing from the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware which is dated within five (5) Business
Days prior to Closing with respect to the Company;

(iv) a certificate of good standing (or equivalent document) from the applicable Governmental Entity in each jurisdiction where the
Company and its Subsidiaries is qualified to do business (where such concept is recognized), all of which are dated within five (5) Business Days prior
to the Closing; and

(v) a statement, issued pursuant to Treasury Regulation sections 1.897-2(h) and 1.1445-2(c)(3)(i) and in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to Parent, certifying that the stock of the Company is not a United States real property interest within the meaning of section 897 of the
Code (the Parties intend that such statement be considered to be voluntarily provided by the Company in response to a request from Parent pursuant to
Treasury Regulation section 1.1445-2(c)(3)(i) and that such statement shall be mailed by Parent to the IRS after the Closing);

(j) Parent shall have received executed copies of the third party consents set forth on Section 7.01(j) of the Company Disclosure Schedules;
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(k) No Company Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred since the date of this Agreement and be continuing;

(l) No Key Employee shall have revoked or expressly indicated an intent to revoke his or her Offer Letter or Non-Competition Agreement;

(m) Parent shall have consummated the Financing;

(n) Parent shall have received the Spreadsheet, certified as complete and correct on behalf of the Company by the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer of the Company as of the Closing Date;

(o) (i) The Liens set forth in Section 7.01(o)(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedules shall have been released and Parent shall have received
evidence of the release of such Liens, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent and (ii) Parent shall have received a payoff letter or other
evidence of payment reasonable satisfactory to Parent with respect to the payment, contemporaneously with the Closing, of all Indebtedness set forth in
Section 7.01(o)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Schedules;

(p) Parent shall have received evidence satisfactory to it that all directors and officers of the Company’s Subsidiaries have resigned in writing in
such capacities, effective as of the Closing, except as otherwise specified by Parent;

(q) Parent shall have been furnished evidence satisfactory to it that all Contracts with Stockholders providing for rights of co sale, voting,
registration, first refusal, board observation or information rights, including the Investor Rights Agreement, the Co-Sale Agreement and the Voting
Agreement, shall have been terminated in full; and

(r) There shall be no action, suit, order, injunction or proceeding before any Governmental Entity pending, or overtly threatened in writing,
against Parent or the Company, their respective properties or any of their respective officers, directors or Subsidiaries (i) by any Governmental Entity arising
out of, or directly connected with, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by the terms of this Agreement, or (ii) which would reasonably be
expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

If the Closing occurs, all Closing conditions set forth in this Section 7.01 which have not been fully satisfied as of the Closing shall be deemed to
have been waived by Parent and Merger Sub.

7.02 Conditions to the Company’s Obligations. The obligation of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is
subject to the satisfaction (or, if permitted by applicable Law, waiver by the Company) of the following conditions as of the Closing Date:

(a) (i) Parent Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all respects at and as of the Closing Date as though made at and as of the
Closing Date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case only as of such date) and (ii) all other representations and warranties
contained in Article IV of this Agreement shall be true and
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correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Parent Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) at and as of the Closing Date as
though made at and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case only as of such date), except, in the case of
this clause (ii), where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or
“Parent Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) has not had, and would not have, a Parent Material Adverse Effect;

(b) Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed and complied with, in all material respects, all the covenants and agreements required to be
performed by them under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing;

(c) The Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained;

(d) All clearances required under applicable foreign antitrust Laws shall have been obtained (or the waiting periods thereunder shall have expired
or terminated early);

(e) No Law shall be in effect and no Order shall have been entered, in each case, which would prevent the performance of this Agreement or the
consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby, declare unlawful the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or cause such transactions
to be rescinded;

(f) No Parent Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred since the date of this Agreement and be continuing;

(g) Parent shall have delivered to the Company a certificate of an authorized officer of Parent and Merger Sub in his or her capacity as such,
dated as of the Closing Date, certifying that the preconditions specified in Sections 7.02(a) and 7.02(b), as they relate to such entity, have been satisfied; and

(h) There shall be no action, suit, order, injunction or proceeding before any Governmental Entity pending, or overtly threatened in writing,
against Parent or the Company, their respective properties or any of their respective officers, directors or Subsidiaries (i) by any Governmental Entity arising
out of, or directly connected with, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by the terms of this Agreement, or (ii) which would reasonably be
expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

If the Closing occurs, all closing conditions set forth in this Section 7.02 which have not been fully satisfied as of the Closing shall be deemed to
have been waived by the Company.
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ARTICLE VIII

INDEMNIFICATION

8.01 Survival of Representations, Warranties, Covenants, Agreements and Other Provisions.

(a) The representations and warranties of the Company contained in Article III shall survive the Closing and shall terminate on the date which is
eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date; provided, that the Company Fundamental Representations and the representations and warranties of the
Company set forth in Section 3.08 shall survive the Closing and shall terminate on the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations. No claim for
indemnification hereunder for breach of any such representations and warranties may be made after the expiration of such survival period; provided, that all
representations and warranties of the Company contained in Article III shall survive beyond the survival periods specified above with respect to any breach
thereof if an Indemnification Claim Notice is delivered hereunder in respect thereof prior to the expiration of the survival period for such representation and
warranty, in which case such representation and warranty shall survive solely as to the claim to which such Indemnification Claim Notice relates until such
claim has been finally resolved.

(b) The representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in Article IV shall survive the Closing and shall terminate on the date
which is eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date. No claim for indemnification hereunder for breach of any such representations and warranties may be
made after the expiration of such survival period; provided, that all representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in Article IV shall
survive beyond the survival periods specified above with respect to any breach thereof if an Indemnification Claim Notice is made hereunder in respect
thereof prior to the expiration of the survival period for such representation and warranty, in which case such representation and warranty shall survive solely
as to the claim to which such Indemnification Claim Notice relates until such claim has been finally resolved.

(c) The agreements, covenants and other obligations of the parties hereto shall survive the Closing and the Effective Time in accordance with
their respective terms.

8.02 Indemnification for the Benefit of Parent Indemnified Parties. From and after the consummation of the Closing, subject to the limitations set forth
in this Article VIII, each of the Stockholders, severally and in proportion to his, her or its respective Pro Rata Percentage, shall indemnify Parent and its
Affiliates (including the Company) and its and their respective officers, directors, agents, attorneys and other Representatives (the “Parent Indemnified
Parties”) and hold them harmless against any Losses incurred, suffered or sustained by the Parent Indemnified Parties, or any of them (regardless of whether
or not such Losses relate to any Third-Party Claims), resulting from or arising out of any of the following:

(a) any breach of any representation or warranty of the Company contained in Article III or the certificate delivered by the Company pursuant to
Section 7.01(i)(i);

(b) any non-fulfillment or breach by the Company of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement;

(c) any Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes which were not reflected as current liabilities in the determination of the Final Adjustment Amount;

(d) the amount of any Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses which was not taken into account in the determination of the Final Adjustment
Amount;
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(e) the amount of any Closing Date Indebtedness which was not taken into account in the determination of the Final Adjustment Amount;

(f) any fraud or willful misrepresentation committed by the Company with respect to this Agreement, any Related Agreement to which the
Company is a party or any certificates or other instruments required to be delivered by the Company pursuant to this Agreement;

(g) any Contract Consent Payment paid after the Closing (to the extent not otherwise deducted from Merger Consideration);

(h) any Dissenting Share Payments;

(i) any inaccuracy in the Spreadsheet; or

(j) any of the Specific Escrow Matters.

The Stockholders (including any officer or director of the Company) shall not have any right of contribution, indemnification or right of advancement
from the Company or any other Parent Indemnified Party with respect to any Loss claimed by a Parent Indemnified Party.

Unless otherwise required by Law, all payments made to a Parent Indemnified Party pursuant to any indemnification obligations under this Article VIII
shall be treated by the Parties as an adjustment to the proceeds received by the Stockholders pursuant to Article I hereof.

8.03 Indemnification by Parent for the Benefit of the Stockholders. From and after the consummation of the Closing, subject to the limitations set forth
in this Article VIII, Parent shall indemnify the Stockholder Representative, the Stockholders and their respective Affiliates, officers, directors, agents,
attorneys and other Representatives (collectively, the “Stockholder Indemnified Parties”) and hold them harmless against any Losses incurred, suffered or
sustained by the Stockholder Indemnified Parties, or any of them (regardless of whether or not such Losses relate to any Third-Party Claims), resulting from
or arising out of any of the following: (a) any breach of any representation or warranty of Parent or Merger Sub contained in Article IV or the certificate
delivered by Parent pursuant to Section 7.02(g), (b) any non-fulfillment or breach by Parent or Merger Sub of any covenant or agreement contained in this
Agreement or (c) any fraud or willful misrepresentation committed by Parent or Merger Sub with respect to this Agreement, any Related Agreement to which
Parent or Merger Sub is a party or any certificates or other instruments required to be delivered by Parent or Merger Sub pursuant to this Agreement. Any
amounts payable in respect of the indemnification of the Stockholders pursuant to this Section 8.03 shall be delivered to the Exchange Agent for further
distribution to the Stockholders, in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Percentages, by wire transfer of immediately available funds within five
(5) Business Days after the date upon which any underlying claims are finally resolved.

8.04 Limitations on Indemnification. The rights of Parent Indemnified Parties and the Stockholder Indemnified Parties to indemnification pursuant to
the provisions of this Article VIII are subject to the following limitations:
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(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, except for claims in respect of the breach of any Company Fundamental Representation or
fraud or intentional misrepresentation, no claims for indemnification by any Parent Indemnified Party pursuant to Section 8.02(a) shall be so asserted, and no
Parent Indemnified Party shall be entitled to recover Losses, unless and until the aggregate amount of Losses that would otherwise be payable hereunder
exceeds on a cumulative basis an amount equal to $500,000 (the “Deductible”), and then only to the extent such Losses exceed the Deductible.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, except for claims in respect of the breach of any Parent Fundamental Representation or
fraud or intentional misrepresentation, no claims for indemnification by any Stockholder Indemnified Party pursuant to Section 8.03(a) shall be so asserted,
and no Stockholder Indemnified Party shall be entitled to recover Losses, unless and until the aggregate amount of Losses that would otherwise be payable
hereunder exceeds on a cumulative basis an amount equal to the Deductible, and then only to the extent such Losses exceed the Deductible.

(c) With respect to indemnification for Losses pursuant to Section 8.02(j), Parent Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to recover one hundred
percent (100%) of its Losses until the aggregate amount of Losses payable pursuant to Section 8.02(j) exceeds on a cumulative basis an amount equal to
$10,000,000. After such Losses payable pursuant to Section 8.02(j) exceeds on a cumulative basis an amount equal to $10,000,000, Parent Indemnified
Parties shall be entitled to recover only eighty percent (80%) of its Losses with respect to any indemnification claims made by Parent Indemnified Parties
pursuant to Section 8.02(j).

(d) The amount of any Loss subject to indemnification under Sections 8.02 or 8.03 shall be calculated net of any insurance proceeds, indemnity
payments or other reimbursements actually received by the Indemnitee (net of any reasonably anticipated premium increases or costs of enforcement). The
Indemnitee shall use commercially reasonable efforts to pursue recovery under insurance policies covering any Loss; provided, that, Parent shall have no
obligation to pursue recovery under such insurances policies if Parent reasonably believes that the premium increases would be material. In the event that an
insurance recovery, indemnity recovery or other reimbursement is actually received any Indemnitee with respect to any Loss for which any such Person has
been indemnified hereunder, then, (x) to the extent that the Indemnitee is a Parent Indemnified Party, a refund equal to the aggregate amount of the actual
recovery shall be made promptly to the Exchange Agent for further distribution to the Stockholders, in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Percentages,
and (y) to the extent that the Indemnitee is a Stockholder Indemnified Party, a refund equal to the aggregate amount of the actual recovery shall be made
promptly to Parent.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article VIII or this Agreement, except in the case of fraud or intentional misrepresentation,
and subject to Section 10.01(e), in no event shall any Stockholder have any liability under this Agreement in excess of the Merger Consideration actually
received by such Person pursuant to this Agreement.
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(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article VIII or this Agreement, except in the case of fraud or intentional misrepresentation, in
no event shall Parent have any liability under this Agreement (x) in excess of an aggregate amount equal to the aggregate value of the Indemnity Escrow
Amount (based on the Final Closing Date Price), with respect to Losses arising under Section 8.3(a) (except for any such Losses arising from breaches of
Parent Fundamental Representations) arising from indemnification claims made by Stockholder Indemnified Parties prior to the date that is the Initial Escrow
Release Date, (y) in excess of an aggregate amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate value of the Indemnity Escrow Amount (based on the Final
Closing Date Price), with respect to Losses arising under Section 8.3(a) (except for any such Losses arising from breaches of Parent Fundamental
Representations) arising from indemnification claims made by Stockholder Indemnified Parties on or after the date that is the Initial Escrow Release Date,
and (z) in excess of an aggregate amount equal to the Aggregate Initial Merger Consideration, with respect to all other Losses arising under this Agreement.

8.06 Indemnification Procedures.

(a) Any Parent Indemnified Party or Stockholder Indemnified Party making a claim for indemnification under Sections 8.02 or 8.03 (an
“Indemnitee”) shall promptly notify the indemnifying party (an “Indemnitor”) and the Stockholder Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders), if
applicable, in writing (each, an “Indemnification Claim Notice”), describing in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances with respect to the subject matter
of such claim or demand; provided, that the failure to provide such notice shall not release the Indemnitor from any of its obligations under this Article VIII
except to the extent the Indemnitor is actually prejudiced thereby, it being agreed that notices for claims in respect of a breach of a representation, warranty,
covenant or agreement must be delivered prior to the expiration of any applicable survival period specified in Section 8.01 for such representation, warranty,
covenant or agreement.

(b) If an Indemnitor (or in the case of any Indemnification Claim Notice given by a Parent Indemnified Party, the Stockholder Representative)
does not object in writing within the 30-day period after receipt of an Indemnification Claim Notice by delivery of a written notice of objection (the
“Indemnification Claim Objection Notice”), describing in reasonable detail the facts supporting an objection to the applicable indemnification claim, such
failure to so object shall be an irrevocable acknowledgment by the Indemnitor (or in the case of any Indemnification Claim Notice given by a Parent
Indemnified Party, the Stockholder Representative) that the Indemnitee is entitled to the full amount of the claim for Losses set forth in such Indemnification
Claim Notice.

(c) If an Indemnitor (or in the case of any Indemnification Claim Notice given by a Parent Indemnified Party, the Stockholder Representative)
objects in writing within the 30-day period after receipt of an Indemnification Claim Notice by delivery of an Indemnification Claim Objection Notice, such
Indemnitor (or in the case of any Indemnification Claim Notice given by a Parent Indemnified Party, the Stockholder Representative) and Indemnitee shall
attempt in good faith to agree upon agree upon the rights of the respective parties with respect to each of such claims. If the Indemnitor (or in the case of any
Indemnification Claim Notice given by a Parent Indemnified Party, the Stockholder Representative) and Indemnitee should so agree, a memorandum setting
forth such agreement shall be prepared and signed by both parties and, in the case of an indemnification claim to be recovered from the Indemnity Escrow
Account, shall
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be furnished to the Escrow Agent. The Escrow Agent shall be entitled to rely on any such memorandum and make distributions from the Indemnity Escrow
Account in accordance with the terms thereof. If no such agreement can be reached after good faith negotiation within 30 days after the receipt of an
Indemnification Claim Objection, the claim shall be resolved pursuant to Section 12.15.

8.07 Third-Party Claims.

(a) Upon receipt by any Indemnitee of notice of any Action that has been or may reasonably be brought or asserted by any third-party against
such Indemnitee for which it is entitled to indemnification from an Indemnitor (which term shall be deemed to include all Indemnitors if more than one)
hereunder (a “Third-Party Claim”), the Indemnitee will promptly notify the Indemnitor in writing of such Third-Party Claim and of its claims of
indemnification with respect thereto (a “Third-Party Claim Notice”), describing in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances with respect to the subject
matter of such claim or Action; provided, that failure to promptly give such notice will not relieve the Indemnitor of its indemnification obligations under this
Article VIII, except to the extent, if any, that the Indemnitor has actually been prejudiced thereby, it being agreed that notices for claims in respect of a breach
of a representation, warranty, covenant or agreement must be delivered prior to the expiration of any applicable survival period specified in Section 8.01 for
such representation, warranty, covenant or agreement.

(b) Subject to Section 8.07(e) below, the Indemnitor will, upon its written confirmation of its obligation to indemnify the Indemnitee with respect
to Losses resulting from such Third-Party Claim in accordance with the provisions of this Article VIII (other than Section 8.04(f) and the second sentence of
Section 8.09(a), which in no event shall limit the Indemnitor’s obligation to indemnify the Indemnitee with respect to such Losses), have the right to assume
the defense of the Third-Party Claim, at its sole cost and expense with counsel of its choice reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnitee by written notice to the
Indemnitee within twenty (20) calendar days after the Indemnitor has received notice of the Third-Party Claim; provided, however, that the Indemnitor must
conduct the defense of the Third-Party Claim actively and diligently thereafter in order to preserve its rights in this regard; and provided, further, that the
Indemnitee may retain separate co-counsel at its sole cost and expense and participate in the defense of the Third-Party Claim.

(c) The Indemnitor will not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to the Third-Party Claim without the
prior written consent of the Indemnitee unless the judgment or proposed settlement (i) includes an unconditional release of all Liability of each Indemnitee
with respect to such Third-Party Claim, (ii) involves only the payment of money damages that are fully covered by the Indemnitor, and (iii) does not impose
an injunction or other equitable relief upon the Indemnitee. So long as the Indemnitor has assumed and is conducting the defense of the Third-Party Claim in
accordance with Section 8.07(b) above, the Indemnitee (x) will not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to the Third-
Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnitor (which consent will not be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed by the Indemnitor)
and (y) will, and will cause its Affiliates and Representatives to, reasonably cooperate with the Indemnitor in the defense of any Third-Party Claim, including
by furnishing books and records, personnel and witnesses, as appropriate for any defense of such Third-Party Claim.
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(d) In the event that the Indemnitor fails to assume the defense of the Third-Party Claim in accordance with Section 8.07(b) above, (i) the
Indemnitee may defend against, and consent to the entry of any judgment or enter in to any settlement with respect to, the Third-Party Claim in any manner it
reasonably may deem appropriate (and the Indemnitee need not consult with, or obtain any consent from, the Indemnitor in connection therewith); provided,
that the Indemnitor may nonetheless participate in (but not determine or control) the defense of such Third-Party Claim with its own counsel and at its own
expense, (ii) the Indemnitor will remain responsible for any Losses of the Indemnitee as a result of such Third-Party Claim to the extent subject to
indemnification under this Article VIII, and (iii) Parent and the Company shall retain all remedies to which they are entitled under this Article VIII (including
recovery against the Indemnity Escrow Account or Special Escrow Account, as applicable).

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent and the Company shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to prosecute, defend and settle any claim
(i) that in the reasonable judgment of the Parent would be reasonably expected to materially adversely affect the Group Companies, taken as a whole, (ii) that
relates to or involves any then current customer or supplier of Parent or any Group Company, (iii) involving criminal liability, (iii) relating to the Intellectual
Property of any Person, or (iv) in which equitable relief is sought against any Indemnitee; provided that if such claim also seeks monetary relief, the
Stockholder Representative shall be entitled to participate in the defense of such claim with respect to such monetary relief being sought and to employ
counsel, at the Stockholders’ sole cost and expense, to assist in the handling of such claim with respect to such monetary relief being sought (collectively, the
“Parent-Handled Claims”). Parent and the Company shall have the right to pursue in good faith, through counsel of their selection, the prosecution, defense or
settlement of all Parent-Handled Claims until such time, if any, that Parent shall elect not to pursue indemnification with respect to such Third-Party Claim.
The Indemnitor will remain responsible for any Losses of Parent and the Company as a result of such Parent-Handled Claims to the extent subject to
indemnification under this Article VIII, and Parent and the Company shall retain all remedies to which they are entitled under this Article VIII (including
recovery against the Indemnity Escrow Account or Special Escrow Account, as applicable).

(f) Parent shall, to the extent that Parent and the Company are entitled to indemnification for Losses pursuant to this Article VIII and it could
reasonably be expected that Parent may recover a substantial portion of the Losses relating to such Parent-Handled Claim pursuant to this Article VIII permit
the Stockholder Representative, upon its reasonable request, to participate in the process of any settlement or other resolution of any Parent-Handled Claims
pursuant to this Article VIII; provided, that Parent shall be entitled to settle, control, compromise or otherwise dispose of Parent-Handled Claims in its sole
discretion and without obtaining the consent of the Indemnitor.

(g) For the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of this Section 8.07, the Stockholder Representative has the full authority to act on behalf of the
Stockholders and Stockholder Indemnified Parties as either Indemnitee or Indemnitor; provided, that as set forth in this Agreement, Parent shall be deemed to
have given notice to all Stockholders by giving notice to the Stockholder Representative.
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8.08 Sole and Exclusive Remedy. From and after the Effective Time, and except as set forth in Section 10.01(e), the remedies set forth in this Article
VIII shall be the sole and exclusive remedy for money damages for any action arising out of this Agreement. Nothing in this Article VIII shall limit any
remedy any of the Parent Indemnified Parties or the Stockholder Indemnified Parties may have against any Person for fraud or intentional misrepresentation.

8.09 Escrow.

(a) The Indemnity Escrow Amount shall serve as a security for, and a source of payment of, Parent Indemnified Parties’ indemnification rights
under this Article VIII (other than Losses under Section 8.02(j)), if any, and shall be disbursed in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement. The
Indemnity Escrow Amount shall be the sole and exclusive source of recourse for the Parent Indemnified Parties for any and all Losses under Section 8.02(a)
(except for any such Losses arising from breaches of Company Fundamental Representations, or fraud or intentional misrepresentation). Except for any
claims of fraud or intentional misrepresentation, Parent Indemnified Parties shall first seek recourse against the Indemnity Escrow Account for any and all
Losses for which Parent Indemnified Parties are entitled to recovery under this Article VIII (other than Losses under Section 8.02(j)) until the Indemnity
Escrow Account has been depleted in full.

(b) The Special Escrow Amount shall serve as a security for, and a source of payment of, Parent Indemnified Parties’ indemnification rights
under Section 8.02(j), if any, and shall be disbursed in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement. The Special Escrow Amount shall be the sole and
exclusive source of recourse for the Parent Indemnified Parties for any and all Losses under Section 8.02(j) (except for any such Losses arising from fraud or
intentional misrepresentation).

(c) The procedures for Parent Indemnified Parties to make claims against the Working Capital Escrow Account, Indemnity Escrow Account and
Special Escrow Account, for the Stockholder Representative to object to such claims, and for Parent Indemnified Parties to resolve any such objections shall
be as set forth in the Escrow Agreement.

(d) Fifty percent (50%) of the Indemnity Escrow Amount and (b) fifty percent (50%) of the Special Escrow Amount, less (i) the aggregate
amount, if any, of any payments made in connection with claims properly made in accordance with this Article VIII against the Indemnity Escrow Account
and Special Escrow Account, respectively, and (ii) any amounts reasonably determined in good faith by Parent as necessary to satisfy any claims for which an
Indemnification Claim Notice or Third-Party Claim Notice was properly made in accordance with this Article VIII, which are not fully resolved and for
which payment has not yet been made (such claims, the “Outstanding Claims”) against the Indemnity Escrow Account and Special Escrow Account,
respectively, prior to the Initial Escrow Release Date, shall promptly be released from the Indemnity Escrow Account and Special Escrow Account,
respectively, and delivered to the Exchange Agent for distribution to the Stockholders in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Agent Agreement. Any
portion of the Indemnity Escrow Amount
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remaining in the Indemnity Escrow Account, and the Special Escrow Amount remaining in the Special Escrow Account on the Final Escrow Release Date,
less the aggregate amount, if any, of Outstanding Claims properly made in accordance with this Article VIII and not fully resolved prior to the Final Escrow
Release Date (such amount of the retained Indemnity Escrow Amount and Special Escrow Amount, the “Retained Escrow Amount”), shall promptly be
released and delivered to the Exchange Agent for distribution to the Stockholders in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Agent Agreement. In the
event and to the extent that, after the Final Escrow Release Date, any Outstanding Claim made by any Parent Indemnified Party pursuant to this Article VIII
is finally resolved against such Parent Indemnified Party, the Escrow Agent shall promptly release from the Indemnity Escrow Account or the Special Escrow
Account, as applicable, and deliver to the Exchange Agent for distribution to the Stockholders in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Agent
Agreement an aggregate amount of the Retained Escrow Amount equal to the amount of the Outstanding Claim resolved against such Parent Indemnified
Party; provided, however, that any such distribution shall only be made to the extent that the Retained Escrow Amount remaining after such distribution
would be sufficient to satisfy the amount of Outstanding Claims that are still unresolved at such time. For purposes of determining the value of Escrowed
Merger Shares to satisfy indemnification claims made by Parent Indemnified Parties under this Agreement, each Escrowed Merger Share shall be deemed to
have a value equal to the Final Closing Date Price.

ARTICLE IX

TERMINATION

9.01 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:

(a) by the mutual written consent of Parent and the Company;

(b) by Parent, if any of the representations or warranties of the Company set forth in Article III shall not be true and correct, or if the Company
has failed to perform any covenant or agreement on the part of the Company set forth in this Agreement (including an obligation to consummate the Closing),
such that the conditions to Closing set forth in either Section 7.01(a) or Section 7.01(b) would not be satisfied as of the Closing Date and the breach or
breaches causing such representations or warranties not to be true and correct, or the failures to perform any covenant or agreement, as applicable, are not
cured within twenty (20) Business Days after written notice thereof is delivered to the Company; provided that Parent and/or Merger Sub is not then in breach
of this Agreement so as to cause the condition to Closing set forth in either Section 7.02(a) or Section 7.02(b) to not be satisfied as of the Closing Date;

(c) by the Company, if any of the representations or warranties of Parent or Merger Sub set forth in Article IV shall not be true and correct, or if
Parent or Merger Sub has failed to perform any covenant or agreement on the part of Parent or Merger Sub, respectively, set forth in this Agreement
(including an obligation to consummate the Closing), such that the conditions to Closing set forth in either Section 7.02(a) or Section 7.02(b) would not be
satisfied as of the Closing Date and the breach or breaches causing such representations or warranties not to be true and correct, or the failures to perform any
covenant or agreement, as applicable, are not cured within twenty (20) Business Days after written notice thereof is delivered to Parent or
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Merger Sub; provided that the Company is not then in breach of this Agreement so as to cause the condition to Closing set forth in Section 7.01(a) or
Section 7.01(b) from being satisfied as of the Closing Date; provided further that the failure to deliver the Merger Consideration or the payments
contemplated by Section 2.02 at the Closing as required hereunder shall be subject to cure hereunder unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Company;

(d) by Parent or the Company, if the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not have been consummated on or prior to March 14,
2014 (such date, the “Outside Date”) and the Party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.01(d) shall not have (provided that, if such
Party is Parent, neither Parent nor Merger Sub shall have) breached in any material respect its obligations under this Agreement in any manner that shall have
been the principal cause of the failure to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement on or before the Outside Date;

(e) by Parent or the Company, if any Governmental Entity shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered, any statute, rule,
regulation, executive order, decree, injunction, order or other legal restraint which is in effect and which has the effect of making the Merger illegal; or

(f) by Parent, if the Stockholder Approval is not obtained within eight (8) hours after the execution of this Agreement.

9.02 Effect of Termination. In the event this Agreement is terminated by either Parent or the Company as provided above, (a) the provisions of this
Agreement shall immediately become void and of no further force and effect (other than the ultimate sentence of Section 5.02, this Section 9.02,
Section 10.01, and Article XI and Article XII hereof which shall survive the termination of this Agreement (other than the provisions of Section 12.17, which
shall terminate)), and there shall be no liability on the part of either Parent, Merger Sub, the Company, the Stockholder Representative or the Stockholders to
one another, except for willful breaches of this Agreement prior to the time of such termination and (b) each of Parent and the Company agree that all
Contracts by and between the Parent or its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and the Company or its Subsidiaries, on the other hand, shall immediately be
terminated and have no further force or effect as of the effective time of the termination of this Agreement; provided, that, notwithstanding the foregoing or
anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no termination of this Agreement shall affect the obligations contained in the Confidentiality Agreement, all of
which obligations shall survive termination of this Agreement in accordance with their terms. Each of Parent and the Company shall, and shall cause their
respective Subsidiaries to, execute and/or cause to be delivered to the other Party such instruments and other documents, and shall take such other actions, as
the other Party may reasonably request at any time for the purpose of carrying out or evidencing the actions contemplated by the foregoing clause (b).
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ARTICLE X

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS

10.01 Stockholder Representative.

(a) Appointment. In addition to the other rights and authority granted to the Stockholder Representative elsewhere in this Agreement, upon and
by virtue of the adoption of the requisite holders of Company Stock of this Agreement, each of the Stockholders irrevocably constitutes and appoints the
Stockholder Representative (and by execution of this Agreement the Stockholder Representative hereby accepts such appointment), as its true and lawful
agent and attorney-in-fact for and on behalf of such Stockholder, with full power of substitution, to act in the name, place and stead of such Stockholder and
to do any and all things and execute any and all documents which may be necessary, convenient or appropriate to facilitate the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Exchange Agent Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, including (i) execution of the documents and
certificates pursuant to this Agreement, the Exchange Agent Agreement and the Escrow Agreement; (iii) authorizing payment of amounts due to Parent
pursuant to Section 8.02; (iv) receipt of notices and communications pursuant to this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement; (v) administration of the
provisions of this Agreement, the Exchange Agent Agreement and the Escrow Agreement; (vi) giving or agreeing to, on behalf of all or any of the
Stockholders, any and all consents, waivers, amendments or modifications deemed by the Stockholder Representative, in its sole and absolute discretion, to
be necessary or appropriate under this Agreement and the execution or delivery of any documents that may be necessary or appropriate in connection
therewith; (vii) amending this Agreement or any of the instruments to be delivered to Parent or Merger Sub pursuant to this Agreement; (viii) (A) disputing or
refraining from disputing, on behalf of each Stockholder relative to any amounts to be received by such Stockholder under this Agreement, the Exchange
Agent Agreement, the Escrow Agreement or any agreements contemplated hereby or thereby, any claim made by Parent under this Agreement or other
agreements contemplated hereby, (B) negotiating and compromising, on behalf of each such Stockholder, any dispute that may arise under, and exercising or
refraining from exercising any remedies available under, this Agreement, the Exchange Agent Agreement, the Escrow Agreement or any other agreement
contemplated hereby or thereby and (C) executing, on behalf of each such Stockholder, any settlement agreement, release or other document with respect to
such dispute or remedy; and (ix) engaging attorneys, accountants, agents or consultants on behalf of the Stockholders in connection with this Agreement, the
Exchange Agent Agreement, the Escrow Agreement or any other agreement contemplated hereby or thereby and paying any fees related thereto.

(b) Authorization. Notwithstanding Section 10.01(a), in the event that the Stockholder Representative is of the opinion that it requires further
authorization from the Stockholders on any matters concerning this Agreement, the Stockholder Representative shall be entitled to seek such further
authorization from the Stockholders prior to acting on their behalf. In such event, each Stockholder shall vote in accordance with such Stockholder’s Pro Rata
Percentage and the authorization of the Stockholders holding at least a majority of the Pro Rata Percentage shall be binding on all of the Stockholders and
shall constitute the authorization of the Stockholders. The appointment of the Stockholder Representative is coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable
by any Stockholder in any manner or for any reason. This authority granted to the Stockholder Representative shall not be affected by the death, illness,
dissolution, disability, incapacity or other inability to act of any principal pursuant to any applicable Law.

(c) Actions by the Stockholder Representative; Resignation; Vacancies. The Stockholder Representative may resign from its position as
Stockholder Representative at any time by written notice delivered to Parent and the Stockholders. If there is a vacancy at any time in the position of the
Stockholder Representative for any reason, such vacancy shall be filled by the majority vote in accordance with the method set forth in Section 10.01(b)
above.
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(d) No Liability. All acts of the Stockholder Representative hereunder shall be deemed to be acts on behalf of the Stockholders and not of the
Stockholder Representative individually. The Stockholder Representative shall not have any liability for any amount owed to Parent, including pursuant to
Section 8.02. The Stockholder Representative shall not be liable to the Company, Parent or Merger Sub for any liability of a Stockholder or otherwise, or for
anything which it may do or refrain from doing in connection with this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement or the Exchange Agent Agreement except in the
case of the Stockholder Representative’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Stockholder Representative shall not be liable to the Stockholders for
any liability of a Stockholder or otherwise, or for any error of judgment, or any act done or step taken or omitted by it in good faith (it being understood that
any act done or omitted pursuant to the advice of legal counsel shall be conclusive evidence of such good faith), or for any mistake in fact or Law, or for
anything which it may do or refrain from doing in connection with this Agreement except in the case of the Stockholder Representative’s gross negligence or
willful misconduct. The Stockholder Representative may seek the advice of legal counsel in the event of any dispute or question as to the construction of any
of the provisions of this Agreement or its duties hereunder, and it shall incur no liability to Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or the Stockholders and shall be
fully protected with respect to any action taken, omitted or suffered by it in good faith in accordance with the advice of such counsel. The Stockholder
Representative shall not by reason of this Agreement have a fiduciary relationship in respect of any Stockholder.

(e) Indemnification; Expenses. Each Stockholder shall, based on each such Stockholder’s Pro Rata Percentage, indemnify and defend the
Stockholder Representative and hold the Stockholder Representative harmless against any Loss, damage, cost, Liability or expense (including the fees and
expenses of counsel and experts and their staffs and all expense of document location, duplication and shipment) (collectively, “Representative Losses”)
arising out of or in connection with the acceptance, performance or administration of the Stockholder Representative’s duties under this Agreement, the
Escrow Agreement and the Exchange Agent Agreement, in each case, as such Representative Loss is suffered or incurred; provided, that in the event that any
such Representative Loss is finally adjudicated to have been directly caused by the fraud, gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Stockholder
Representative, the Stockholder Representative will reimburse the Stockholders the amount of such indemnified Representative Loss to the extent attributable
to such fraud, gross negligence or willful misconduct. If not paid directly to the Stockholder Representative by the Stockholders, any such Representative
Losses may be recovered by the Stockholder Representative from (i) the funds in the Expense Fund and (ii) the amounts of the Escrow Amount at such time
as remaining amounts would otherwise be distributable to the Stockholders; provided, that while this Section 10.01(e) allows the Stockholder Representative
to be paid from the Expense Fund and the Escrow Amount, this does not relieve the Stockholders from their obligation to promptly pay such Representative
Losses as they are suffered or incurred, nor does it prevent the Stockholder Representative from seeking any remedies available to it at law or otherwise. In no
event will the Stockholder Representative be required to advance its own funds on behalf of the Stockholders or otherwise. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, the Stockholders acknowledge and agree that the foregoing indemnities will survive the resignation
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or removal of the Stockholder Representative or the termination of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the
Stockholder Representative shall be entitled and is hereby granted the right to set off and deduct any unpaid or non-reimbursed expenses and unsatisfied
Representative Losses incurred by the Stockholder Representative in connection with the performance of its duties hereunder from the Expense Fund and, if
the Expense Fund is not sufficient, from amounts that would otherwise be actually delivered to the Stockholders pursuant to this Agreement. The Stockholder
Representative may also from time to time submit invoices to the Stockholders covering such Representative Losses and, upon the request of any
Stockholder, shall provide such Stockholder with an accounting of all Representative Losses paid.

(f) A decision, act, consent, or instruction of the Stockholder Representative with respect to the Working Capital Escrow Account, the Indemnity
Escrow Account or the Special Escrow Account shall constitute a decision of all the Stockholders for whom a portion of the Working Capital Escrow
Amount, Indemnity Escrow Amount or Special Escrow Amount otherwise issuable to them is deposited in the Working Capital Escrow Account, Indemnity
Escrow Account or the Special Escrow Account and shall be final, binding, and conclusive upon each of such Stockholders with respect to the Working
Capital Escrow Account, Indemnity Escrow Account and the Special Escrow Account, and the Escrow Agent and Parent may rely upon any such decision,
act, consent or instruction of the Stockholder Representative as being the decision, act, consent or instruction of each and every such Stockholder. The Escrow
Agent and Parent are hereby relieved from any Liability to any Person for any acts done by them in accordance with such decision, act, consent, or instruction
of the Stockholder Representative.

10.02 Intentionally Omitted.

10.03 Certain Tax Matters.

(a) Responsibility for Filing Tax Returns and Paying Taxes. Subject to Section 5.01(X), the Company shall prepare and timely file or cause to be
prepared and timely filed all Tax Returns that are required to be filed (taking into account applicable extensions of time to file) by or with respect to the
Group Companies for any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date (a “Pre-Closing Tax Period”) that are due on or before the Closing Date and
shall pay or cause to be paid all Taxes due with respect to such Tax Returns. Such Tax Returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent with past practice of
the Group Companies, as applicable. Parent shall prepare and file or cause to be prepared and filed all Tax Returns that are required to be filed by or with
respect to the Group Companies for the Pre-Closing Tax Period and any Straddle Period that are due after the Closing Date (each a “Pre-Closing Return”).
Parent shall prepare or cause to be prepared such Pre-Closing Returns in a manner consistent with past practice of any Group Company, as applicable, unless
otherwise required by Law, and shall, subject to its rights of indemnification pursuant to Article VIII, pay or cause to be paid all Taxes shown as due and
owing on such Pre-Closing Returns. With respect to any Pre-Closing Return that may give rise to indemnifiable Losses of the Parent Indemnified Parties
pursuant to Article VIII, Parent shall deliver a copy of such Tax Return to the Stockholder Representative for its review and approval (such approval not to be
unreasonably withheld) not less than thirty (30) days prior to the date on which such Tax Return is due to be filed (taking into account any applicable
extensions).
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(b) Allocation of Tax Liability for Straddle Periods. For purposes of allocating responsibility for Taxes between Parent and the Stockholders for
Straddle Periods, Taxes attributable to a Straddle Period shall be determined as follows (i) in the case of Property Taxes, the amount of such Taxes for the
entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in the portion of such Straddle Period ending on the
Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire Straddle Period and (ii) in the case of all other Taxes, determined as
though the taxable year of the Company terminated at the close of business on the Closing Date.

(c) Amendment of Tax Returns; Other Tax Actions. Except as required by applicable Law, Parent shall not, and shall not allow any Group
Company to, file, re-file, amend or otherwise modify (in whole or in part) any Tax Return or file any Tax election for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or any
Straddle Period (including those filed pursuant to Section 10.03(a)) if such action could increase the Stockholders’ Liability for Taxes pursuant to
Section 8.02 without the prior written consent of the Stockholder Representative. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the
Stockholders will have no Liability for any Taxes resulting from any election under Section 338 of the Code (or any similar provision of Law) filed with
respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(d) Tax Refunds. Other than in respect of a Tax loss realized during a period or portion thereof beginning after the Closing Date that is carried
back and claimed on a Tax Return for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, any Tax refunds that are received by Parent or the Group Companies, and any amounts
credited against Tax to which Parent or the Group Companies become entitled, that relate to Taxes paid by the Group Companies for Tax periods or portions
thereof ending on or before the Closing Date shall be for the account of the Stockholders (to the extent not already included as a Tax asset in the calculation of
the Net Working Capital Amount), and Parent shall pay over, or cause to be paid over, to the Exchange Agent for disbursement to the Stockholders the net
amount of any such refund or any such credit within ten (10) days after receipt thereof or entitlement thereto.

(e) Certain Taxes and Fees. Except as provided in Section 1.06(e), all transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes,
and all conveyance fees, recording charges and other fees and charges (including any penalties and interest) incurred in connection with consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, shall be paid 50% by Parent and 50% by the Stockholders.

(f) Cooperation on Tax Matters. Parent, the Group Companies, and the Stockholder Representative shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent
reasonably requested by the other Party, in connection with the filing of Tax Returns pursuant to this Section 10.03 and any audit, litigation or other Action
with respect to Taxes. Such cooperation shall include the retention and (upon the other Party’s request) the provision of records and information that are
reasonably relevant to any such audit, litigation or other proceeding and the making available of employees on a mutually convenient basis to provide
additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder. Parent, the Group Companies, and the Stockholder Representative agree (i) to
retain all financial books and records with respect to Tax matters pertinent to the Group Companies relating to any taxable period beginning before the
Closing Date until the expiration of the statute of limitations (and, to the extent notified by Parent or the
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Stockholder Representative, any extensions thereof) of the respective taxable periods, and to abide by all record retention agreements entered into with any
taxing authority and (ii) to give the other Party reasonable written notice prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any such financial books and records
and, if the other Party so requests, the Group Companies or the Stockholder Representative, as the case may be, shall allow the other Party to take possession
of such financial books and records.

(g) Tax Treatment of Payments. Except to the extent otherwise required by Law, Parent, Merger Sub, the Stockholders, the Company and their
respective Affiliates shall treat any and all payments under this Section 10.03 and Article VIII as an adjustment to the purchase price for Tax purposes.

(h) Tax Contests. Parent shall have the right to control the contest of any federal, state, local or foreign Tax audits, assessments or administrative
or judicial proceedings affecting the Taxes or Tax attributes of the Group Companies that could result in a claim under Article VIII (a “Tax Proceeding”),
provided that (i) the Stockholder Representative may participate in the conduct of such Tax Proceeding at the expense of the Stockholders and (ii) the
settlement or other resolution of such Tax Contest shall be subject to the written consent of the Stockholder Representative (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Parent shall notify the Stockholder Representative in writing promptly upon receipt of any notice pertaining
to any Tax Proceeding, provided that the failure to give notice shall not release, waive or otherwise affect any rights to indemnification hereunder except to
the extent the Stockholder Representative is actually prejudiced as a result of such failure. The notifying party shall include with such notification a true,
correct and complete copy of any written communication so received.

(i) Coordination. With respect to any Tax Proceedings, to the extent this Section 10.03 is inconsistent with Article VIII, this Section 10.03 shall
control.

ARTICLE XI

DEFINITIONS

11.01 Definitions. For purposes hereof, the following terms when used herein shall have the respective meanings set forth below:

“Action” means any legal action, suit, arbitration, claim or proceeding (whether federal, state, local or foreign).

“Affiliate” of any particular Person means any other Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with such particular Person,
where “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct the management and policies of a Person whether through the ownership
of voting securities, contract or otherwise.

“Affiliated Group” means an affiliated group as defined in Section 1504 of the Code (or any analogous combined, consolidated or unitary group
defined under state, local or foreign income Tax Law) of which the Company is or has been a member.
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“Aggregate Initial Merger Consideration” means (i) the product of (a) the Aggregate Stock Consideration, times (b) the Average Closing Date
Price, plus (ii) the Initial Aggregate Cash Consideration.

“Aggregate Stock Consideration” means a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the quotient of (i) $82,500,000 divided by (ii) the
Final Closing Date Price.

“Antitrust Law” means any federal, state or foreign Law, regulation or decree designed to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions for the purpose or
effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or the significant impediment of effective competition.

“Average Closing Date Price” means the volume weighted average trading price of Parent Common Stock during the five (5) consecutive trading
days ending on the trading day that is three (3) days prior to the Closing Date, as defined as “VWAP” in the Bloomberg function VAP.

“Average Signing Date Price” means the volume weighted average trading price of Parent Common Stock during the five (5) consecutive trading
days ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date of this Agreement, as defined as “VWAP” in the Bloomberg function VAP.

“Business Day” means a day which is neither a Saturday or Sunday, nor any other day on which banking institutions in San Francisco, California
are authorized or obligated by Law to close.

“Cash” means cash and cash equivalents determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Certificate of Incorporation” means the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware on December 17, 2010, as amended by a Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on July 12, 2011.

“China RoHS” means the Administrative Measures on the Control of Pollution Caused by Electronic Information Products, including all
implementing Laws, as each may be amended from time to time.

“Closing Cash” means the aggregate amount of all Cash of the Group Companies as of the close of business on the day immediately preceding
the Closing Date.

“Closing Date Indebtedness” means the aggregate amount of Indebtedness of the Group Companies as of the close of business on the day
immediately preceding the Closing Date.

“COBRA” shall mean the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended.
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“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or now in effect or as hereafter amended, and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, including but not limited to any successor or substitute federal Tax codes or legislation.

“Common Stockholder” means a holder of Company Common Stock.

“Company Common Stock” means the Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company.

“Company Disclosure Schedules” means the Disclosure Schedules of the Group Companies.

“Company Employee Benefit Plan” means any plan, program, policy, practice, contract, agreement or other arrangement providing for
compensation, severance, termination pay, deferred compensation, performance awards, stock or stock-related awards, fringe benefits or other employee
benefits or remuneration of any kind, whether written or unwritten or otherwise, funded or unfunded, including each “employee benefit plan,” within the
meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA which is or has been maintained, contributed to, or required to be contributed to, by any Group Company or any ERISA
Affiliate for the benefit of any Employee, or with respect to which any Group Company or any ERISA Affiliate has or may have any liability or obligation,
including all International Employee Plans.

“Company Equity Plan” means the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company.

“Company Inventory” shall mean all of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries raw materials, work-in-process, finished goods and merchandise,
spare parts, packaging and other supplies related thereto.

“Company Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Section 3.01(a), Sections 3.03(a)
and (c), and Sections 3.04(a) and 3.04(b).

“Company Material Adverse Effect” means any change, effect, event, occurrence, state of facts or development that, individually or in the
aggregate, has had or would be reasonably expected to have a materially adverse effect on (i) the business, assets, properties or condition (financial or
otherwise) of the Group Companies, taken as a whole or (ii) the ability of the Group Companies to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby;
provided, however, that, solely with respect to clause (i), none of the following shall be deemed in themselves, either alone or in combination, to constitute,
and none of the following shall be taken into account in determining, whether there has been or will be, a Company Material Adverse Effect: any adverse
change, effect, event, occurrence, state of facts or development attributable to (A) the loss of any customers, suppliers, distributors, licensors or licensees of
any Group Company solely to the extent arising from the announcement or pendency of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (and expressly
excluding any such loss of any such Person due to any legal effect to any Contract to which any Group Company is a party caused by the execution or
delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby), (B) operating, business, regulatory or other conditions in the
industry in which the Group Companies operate (but only to the extent it does not disproportionately affect the Group Companies, taken as a
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whole, relative to other companies operating in the industry in which the Group Companies operate), (C) general economic conditions, including changes in
the credit, debt or financial or capital markets (including changes in interest or exchange rates), in each case, in the United States or anywhere else in the
world (but only to the extent it does not disproportionately affect the Group Companies, taken as a whole, relative to other companies operating in the
industry in which the Group Companies operate), (D) changes in GAAP or other accounting requirements or principles or any changes in applicable Laws or
the interpretation thereof (but only to the extent it does not disproportionately affect the Group Companies, taken as a whole, relative to other companies
operating in the industry in which the Group Companies operate), (E) the failure of any Group Company to meet or achieve the results set forth in any
projection or forecast (provided, that clause (E) shall not prevent a determination that any change or effect underlying such failure to meet projections or
forecasts has resulted in a Company Material Adverse Effect (to the extent such change or effect is not otherwise excluded from this definition of Company
Material Adverse Effect)), (F) global, national or regional political conditions, including hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions or
any escalation, worsening or diminution of any such hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions existing or underway as of the date
hereof (but only to the extent it does not disproportionately affect the Group Companies, taken as a whole, relative to other companies operating in the
industry in which the Group Companies operate), and (G) hurricanes, earthquakes, floods or other natural disasters (but only to the extent it does not
disproportionately affect the Group Companies, taken as a whole, relative to other companies operating in the industry in which the Group Companies
operate).

“Company Preferred Stock” means, collectively, the Series A-1 Preferred Stock and the Series A-2 Preferred Stock.

“Company Preferred Stockholder” means a holder of Company Preferred Stock.

“Company Restricted Stock” means the shares of Company Common Stock held by an Employee that are issued and outstanding immediately
prior to the Effective Time and that are subject to a repurchase option, risk of forfeiture or other vesting condition under any applicable stock restriction
agreement or other agreement with the Company. For clarity, shares of Company Common Stock that are no longer subject to a repurchase option because of
the lapse of substantial risk of forfeiture or satisfaction of a vesting condition or other contingency shall not be treated as Company Restricted Stock for
purposes of this Agreement.

“Company Stock” means the Company Common Stock and Company Preferred Stock.

“Continuing Service Provider” means an Employee and any director, consultant or advisor, in each case, who continues to provide services to
Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their Subsidiaries immediately following the Effective Time.

“Contract” means any legally binding agreement, contract, arrangement, lease, loan agreement, security agreement, license, indenture or other
similar instrument or obligation to which the party in question is a party or by which a party or its assets is bound, whether oral or written, other than any
Company Employee Benefit Plan.
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“Contract Consent Payments” shall mean any fee, expense, charge, or other payment (other than any fee, expense, charge, or other payment
otherwise treated as a Transaction Expense hereunder) made or required to be made by any Group Company (whether before or after the Closing) to any party
(other than any Employee) to any Contract listed on Section 3.03(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedules as an inducement or consideration for the
execution and delivery by such third party of any consent, waiver and/or approval to the Merger or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Without
limiting the foregoing, if the lessor or licensor under any Real Property Lease listed on Section 3.03(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedules conditions its
grant of a consent, waiver and/or approval (including by threatening to exercise a “recapture” or other termination right) upon, or otherwise requires in
response to a notice or consent request regarding this Agreement, the payment of a consent fee, “profit sharing” payment or other consideration (including
increased rent payments), or the provision of additional security (including a guaranty), such fee, payment, other consideration or additional security shall
constitute a “Contract Consent Payment”.

“Co-Sale Agreement” means that certain Right of First Refusal and Co-Sale Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2010, by and among the
Company, the Investors (as defined therein) and the Key Common Holders (as defined therein).

“DOL” means the United States Department of Labor.

“Employee” means any current or former employee, consultant, independent contractor or member of the board of directors of any Group
Company or any of their ERISA Affiliates.

“Employee Agreement” means each management, employment, severance, consulting, relocation, repatriation, expatriation, visa, work permit or
other agreement, contract or understanding between any Group Company and any Employee.

“Environmental and Safety Requirements” means all Laws (including all agreements with any Governmental Entity) governing the protection or
preservation of human health, safety or the environment, including: (a) all Laws that control, govern, limit, prohibit, regulate or otherwise relate to any
Hazardous Material or any Hazardous Material Activity; (b) all Laws governing the protection or preservation of occupational health and safety; and (c) all
Laws governing the labeling, notice or disclosure of Hazardous Materials. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the term Environmental and
Safety Requirements includes each of the following statutes and the regulations promulgated thereunder, as well all similar state, local or foreign Laws, each
including all implementing Laws and legal requirements and as may be amended from time to time: the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, the Resource Recovery and Conservation Act of 1976, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Safe Drinking
Water Act, the Solid Waste Disposal Act, the Clean Air Act, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, the Clean Water Act, the Canadian Environmental
Protection Act of 1999, the Environmental Protection Act (Ontario), the Occupational Health and Safety Act (Ontario), the WEEE Directive, the EU RoHS
Directive and the China RoHS.
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“Environmental Permit” means any approval, permit, registration, certification, license, clearance or consent required to be obtained from any
private person or any Governmental Entity with respect to a Hazardous Materials Activity which is or was conducted by any Group Company.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” of any entity means any other entity which, together with such entity, would be treated as a single employer under Section 414
of the Code.

“Escrow Agent” means Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

“Escrowed Merger Shares” means an aggregate number of Merger Shares equal to 50.3030% of the aggregate number of Merger Shares issuable
to the Stockholders pursuant to Section 1.04, rounded down to the nearest whole share.

“EU RoHS Directive” means the European Union Directives on the restriction on the use of hazardous substances, including 2011/65/EU and
predecessor Laws and all implementing Laws, as each may be amended from time to time.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Exchange Agent” means Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

“Exchange Ratio” means a number (rounded to four decimal places) obtained by dividing (i) the result of (A) the Aggregate Initial Merger
Consideration, divided by (B) the Fully Diluted Common Number, by (ii) the Average Closing Date Price.

“FCPA” means the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended.

“Final Closing Date Price” means (i) if the Average Closing Date Price exceeds the Average Signing Date Price by 10% or more, then 110% of
the Average Signing Date Price, (ii) if the Average Closing Date Price is less than the Average Signing Date Price by 10% or more, then 90% of the Average
Signing Date Price, or (iii) if neither clause (i) nor clause (ii) is applicable, then the Average Closing Date Price.

“Final Escrow Release Date” means the date which is eighteen (18) months following the Closing Date.

“Fully Diluted Common Number” means the sum of (i) the aggregate number of shares of Company Common Stock outstanding immediately
prior to the Effective Time; (ii) the number of shares of Company Common Stock underlying any Options as of immediately prior to the Effective Time; and
(iii) the aggregate number of shares of Company Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of all shares of Company Preferred Stock outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time in accordance with Article FOURTH, Section B(a) of the Certificate of Incorporation immediately prior to the
Effective Time.
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“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied.

“Governmental Entity” means any federal, national, state, foreign, provincial, local or other government or any governmental, regulatory,
administrative or self-regulatory authority, agency, bureau, board, commission, court, judicial or arbitral body, department, political subdivision, tribunal or
other instrumentality thereof.

“Group Company(ies)” means the Company and each of its direct and indirect Subsidiaries.

“Hazardous Material” means any chemical, element, emission, material, mixture, substance or waste that is controlled, defined, governed,
identified, limited or restricted under any Environmental and Safety Requirement as hazardous, radioactive, toxic, a contaminant, a nuisance, a pollutant or
otherwise as a danger to health, reproduction or the environment.

“Hazardous Materials Activity” means the disposal, distribution, export, exposure of others to, generation, handling, import, labeling,
manufacture, mixture, recycling, release, remediation, removal, sale, storage, transfer, transportation, treatment or use of any Hazardous Material or any
product or waste containing a Hazardous Material, including any required labeling, payment of waste fees or charges (including so-called e-waste fees) and
compliance with any recycling, product take-back or product content requirements, including the WEEE Directive, the EU RoHS Directive, China RoHS and
all implementing Laws and legal requirements, all as may be amended from time to time.

“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

“Indebtedness” means, with respect to a Person, the indebtedness (including unpaid interest, fees, expenses, prepayment charges or premium
thereon), without duplication, (i) in respect of borrowed money or for the deferred purchase price of products or services; (ii) as may be evidenced by any
note, bond, debenture or other debt security; (iii) to be owed under conditional sale or other title retention agreements; (iv) in respect of obligations for the
reimbursement of any obligor for amounts drawn on any letter of credit, banker’s acceptance or similar transaction; (v) all obligations as lessee that would be
required to be capitalized in accordance with GAAP; and (vi) guarantees of obligations of the type described above; provided, however, that notwithstanding
the foregoing, indebtedness shall not be deemed to include (A) any accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice,
(B) any obligations under undrawn letters of credit or (C) any intercompany indebtedness.

“Initial Aggregate Cash Consideration” means (i) $125,000,000, plus (ii) Estimated Closing Cash, plus (iii) the sum of the products of the
exercise price of each Option multiplied by the number of shares of Company Common Stock underlying each such Option, less (iv) the Estimated Closing
Date Indebtedness, plus (v) the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Net Working Capital Amount exceeds the Target Net Working Capital Amount, less
(vi) the amount, if any, by which the Target Net Working Capital Amount exceeds the Estimated Net Working Capital Amount, less (vii) Estimated Unpaid
Company Transaction Expenses, less (viii) the aggregate amount of any Contract Consent Payments paid on or prior to the Closing.
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“Initial Escrow Release Date” means the date which is thirteen (13) months following the Closing Date.

“Initial Per Share Cash Consideration” means (i) the Initial Aggregate Cash Consideration, divided by (ii) the Fully Diluted Common Number.

“Intellectual Property” means intellectual property rights in any jurisdiction, including all (i) trademarks including but not limited to service
marks, logos, trade dress, trade names and similar indicators of origin, whether registered or not, and all goodwill associated therewith; (ii) patents, patents
pending, patent applications and statutory invention registrations, including reissues, divisions, continuations, continuations-in-part, substitutions, extensions
and reexaminations thereof, all inventions disclosed therein, and all rights therein provided under international treaties and conventions; (iii) design patents
and industrial designs, whether registered or not; (iv) mask works, circuit lay-out designs and integrated circuit topographies, whether registered or not;
(v) trade secrets; (vi) copyrights in writings, designs, computer software and other works, whether registered or not; (vii) domain names; (viii) applications
and registrations pertaining to any of the foregoing; (ix) all claims and causes of action arising out of or related to infringement or misappropriation of any of
the foregoing; and (x) any other intellectual property rights now known or hereafter recognized in any jurisdiction.

“International Employee Plan” means each Company Employee Benefit Plan, or Employee Agreement, whether written or unwritten, that
primarily provides benefits or compensation to non-U.S. employees and is maintained subject to the Laws of any jurisdiction outside of the United States.

“Investor Rights Agreement” means that certain Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2010, by and among the Company and
the Investors (as defined therein).

“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“Key Employees” means each of the individuals set forth on Section 11.01(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedules.

“knowledge of the Company” and “the Company’s knowledge” mean the actual knowledge of the individuals set forth on Section 11.01(b) of the
Company Disclosure Schedules.

“knowledge of Parent” and “Parent’s knowledge” mean the actual knowledge of the individuals set forth on Section 11.01(a) of Parent Disclosure
Schedules and such knowledge that such individuals would reasonably be expected to have after conducting reasonable inquiry of such individuals’ direct
reports who have primary management responsibility for the matter in question.
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“Law” means any code, decree, directive, injunction, judgment, law, regulation, rule, statute, treaty or requirement of any Governmental Entity.

“Liabilities” means all indebtedness, obligations and other liabilities of a Person any nature (including any unknown, undisclosed, unasserted, or
contingent), regardless of whether such indebtedness, obligation, or liability would be required to be disclosed on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and regardless of whether such debt, obligation, or liability is immediately due and payable.

“Liens” means liens, pledges, mortgages, security interests, charges or other encumbrances.

“Losses” means all losses, liabilities, damages, penalties, fines, costs, amounts paid in settlement, Taxes, expenses and fees, including court costs
and attorneys’ and other professionals’ fees and expenses and any other costs of enforcing an Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreement; provided, however,
Losses does not include, and no Indemnitee shall be entitled to seek or recover under any theory of liability, any punitive damages (unless payable to a third-
party in connection with a Third-Party Claim).

“Merger Consideration” means the Per Share Common Consideration and the Per Share Preferred Consideration.

“Merger Shares” shall mean the shares of Parent Common Stock comprising the Aggregate Stock Consideration hereunder.

“Multiemployer Plan” means any “Pension Plan” which is a “multiemployer plan,” as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA.

“Net Working Capital Amount” means (i) the aggregate dollar amount of all assets properly characterized as current assets of the Group
Companies under GAAP, less (ii) the aggregate dollar amount of all liabilities properly characterized as current liabilities of the Group Companies under
GAAP, in the case of each of clause (i) and clause (ii), as of the close of business on the date immediately preceding the Closing Date and calculated in
accordance with the Specified Accounting Principles; provided, that, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (x) in no event will the determination of
“Net Working Capital” include any (A) intercompany accounts, (B) Indebtedness, (C) Transaction Expenses, (D) deferred Tax assets or liabilities, or (E) cash
and cash equivalents of the Group Companies determined in accordance with GAAP; and (z) for the avoidance of doubt, all short-term deferred revenue of
the Group Companies shall constitute current liabilities of the Group Companies for purposes of the calculation of the Net Working Capital Amount.

“Option” means an outstanding and unexercised stock option to purchase shares of Company Common Stock under the Company Equity Plan.

“Organizational Documents” means (i) with respect to the Company, the Bylaws of the Company, as amended, and the Certificate of
Incorporation and (ii) with respect to any other Group Company, as applicable, articles of association, by-laws, partnership agreement, limited liability
company agreement or other similar document, all as amended, supplemented, restated and replaced from time to time.
 

78



“Parent Common Stock” means the common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Parent.

“Parent Disclosure Schedules” means the Disclosure Schedules of Parent.

“Parent Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties of Parent set forth in Sections 4.01, 4.02, the first two sentences
of 4.04(a) and 4.04(b).

“Parent Material Adverse Effect” means any change, effect, event, occurrence, state of facts or development that, individually or in the aggregate,
has had or would reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse effect on (i) the business, assets, properties or condition (financial or otherwise) of
Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole or (ii) the ability of Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; provided,
however, that, solely with respect to clause (i), none of the following shall be deemed in themselves, either alone or in combination, to constitute, and none of
the following shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be, a Parent Material Adverse Effect: any adverse change, effect,
event, occurrence, state of facts or development attributable to (A) the loss of any customers, suppliers, distributors, licensors or licensees of Parent or its
Subsidiaries solely to the extent arising from the announcement or pendency of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (and expressly excluding any
such loss of any such Person due to the breach of any Contract to which Parent or its Subsidiaries is a party caused by the announcement or pendency of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement), (B) operating, business, regulatory or other conditions in the industry in which Parent and its Subsidiaries
operate (but only to the extent it does not disproportionately affect Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other companies operating in the
industry in which Parent and its Subsidiaries operate), (C) general economic conditions, including changes in the credit, debt or financial or capital markets
(including changes in interest or exchange rates), in each case, in the United States or anywhere else in the world (but only to the extent it does not
disproportionately affect Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other companies operating in the industry in which Parent and its
Subsidiaries operate), (D) changes in GAAP or other accounting requirements or principles or any changes in applicable Laws or the interpretation thereof
(but only to the extent it does not disproportionately affect Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other companies operating in the industry
in which Parent and its Subsidiaries operate), (E) the failure of Parent and its Subsidiaries to meet or achieve the results set forth in any internal or external
projection, forecast or estimate (provided, that clause (E) shall not prevent a determination that any change or effect underlying such failure to meet
projections, forecasts or estimates has resulted in a Parent Material Adverse Effect (to the extent such change or effect is not otherwise excluded from this
definition of Parent Material Adverse Effect)), (F) any decline in the market price or change in the trading volume of the Parent Common Stock; (G) global,
national or regional political conditions, including hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions or any escalation, worsening or diminution
of any such hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions existing or underway as of the date hereof (but only to the extent it does not
disproportionately affect Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other companies operating in the industry in which Parent and its
Subsidiaries
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operate), and (H) hurricanes, earthquakes, floods or other natural disasters (but only to the extent it does not disproportionately affect Parent and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other companies operating in the industry in which Parent and its Subsidiaries operate).

“Parent Option” means any option to purchase Parent Common Stock which was granted pursuant to a Parent Option Plan.

“Parent Option Plans” means 2011 Equity Incentive Plan.

“Pension Plan” means each Company Employee Benefit Plan which is an “employee pension benefit plan,” within the meaning of Section 3(2)
of ERISA.

“Permitted Liens” means (i) statutory liens for current Taxes or other governmental charges not yet due and payable or the amount or validity of
which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings by the Group Companies and for which appropriate reserves have been established in
accordance with GAAP); (ii) mechanics’, carriers’, workers’, repairers’ and similar statutory liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice for amounts which are not delinquent and which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the Group Companies;
(iii) zoning, entitlement, building and other land use regulations imposed by Governmental Entities having jurisdiction over the Group Companies’ Leased
Real Property which are not violated by the current use and operation of the Group Companies’ Leased Real Property; (iv) covenants, conditions, restrictions,
easements and other similar matters of record affecting title to the Group Companies’ Leased Real Property which do not materially impair the occupancy or
use of the Group Companies’ Leased Real Property for the purposes for which it is currently used or proposed to be used in connection with the Companies’
and their Subsidiaries’ businesses; (v) liens arising under worker’s compensation, unemployment insurance, social security, retirement and similar legislation;
and (vi) liens on goods in transit incurred pursuant to documentary letters of credit.

“Per Share Common Consideration” means (i) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to (A) the Aggregate Stock Consideration,
divided by (B) the Fully Diluted Common Number; and (ii) an amount in cash equal to (A) the Initial Per Share Cash Consideration, plus (B) any Final
Adjustment Amount to be paid to the Stockholders (if applicable), divided by the Fully Diluted Common Number (if applicable), minus (C) any Final
Adjustment Amount to be paid to Parent, divided by the Fully Diluted Common Number.

“Per Share Preferred Consideration” means (i)(A) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to (1) the Aggregate Stock
Consideration, divided by (2) the Fully Diluted Common Number, multiplied by (B) the number of shares of Company Common Stock into which each share
of Company Preferred Stock is convertible as of immediately prior to the Effective Time; and (ii) an amount in cash equal to (A)(1) the Initial Per Share Cash
Consideration, plus (2) any Final Adjustment Amount to be paid to the Stockholders (if applicable), minus (3) any Final Adjustment Amount to be paid to
Parent (if applicable), divided by the Fully Diluted Common Number, multiplied by (B) the number of shares of Company Common Stock into which each
share of Company Preferred Stock is convertible as of immediately prior to the Effective Time.
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“Person” means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, a limited liability company, an association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint
venture, an unincorporated organization, a Governmental Entity or any other entity.

“Pro Rata Percentage” means, with respect to any Stockholder, the quotient (expressed as a percentage) obtained by dividing (i) the sum of
(A) the number of shares of Company Common Stock held by such Stockholder immediately prior to the Effective Time, and (B) the number of shares of
Company Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of any shares of Company Preferred Stock held by such Stockholder in accordance with Article
FOURTH, Section 3(b) of the Certificate of Incorporation immediately prior to the Effective Time by (ii) (A) the aggregate number of shares of Company
Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time; plus (B) the aggregate number of shares of Company Common Stock issuable upon the
conversion of all shares of Company Preferred Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time in accordance with Article FOURTH, Section B(a)
of the Certificate of Incorporation immediately prior to the Effective Time.

“Property Taxes” means all real, personal and intangible property Taxes and similar ad valorem Taxes.

“Registration Statement” means the registration statement on Form S-3 or any amendment or supplement thereto pursuant to which the offer and
sale of Parent securities issuable in connection with the Financing will be registered with the SEC.

“Related Agreements” shall mean the Joinder Agreements, the Offer Letters, the Non-Competition Agreements, the Escrow Agreement, the
Exchange Agent Agreement and the Certificate of Merger.

“Representative” means, with respect to a Person, such Person’s officers, directors, employees, investment bankers, attorneys, accountants,
consultants or other agents or advisors.

“Stockholder” means a Common Stockholder or a Company Preferred Stockholder.

“Series A-1 Preferred Stock” means the Series A-1 Preferred Stock of the Company with a par value of $0.001 per share.

“Series A-2 Preferred Stock” means the Series A-2 Preferred Stock of the Company with a par value of $0.001 per share.

“Series A-2 Warrant” means an outstanding and unexercised warrant to purchase shares of Series A-2 Company Preferred Stock.

“Software” means computer software, programs and databases in any form, including Internet web sites, web content and links, source code,
executable code, tools, menus, and all versions, updates, corrections, enhancements and modifications thereof, and all related documentation related thereto.
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“Specific Escrow Matters” means any of the matters set forth on Schedule 8.02(j)(i) and/or Schedule 8.02(j)(ii).

“Specified Accounting Principles” means those policies, conventions, methodologies and procedures set forth on Section 11.01(c) of the
Company Disclosure Schedules.

“Standard Software” means non-customized Software that (i) is so licensed solely in executable or object code form pursuant to a nonexclusive,
internal use software license; (ii) is not incorporated into, or used directly in the development, manufacturing, or distribution of, the products of any Group
Company; and (iii) is generally available on standard terms for either (A) annual payments by any Group Company of $25,000 or less or (B) aggregate
payments by any Group Company of $25,000 or less.

“Straddle Period” means any taxable period that includes (but does not end on) the Closing Date.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation of which a majority of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without
regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or
indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof, or any partnership, association or other business
entity of which a majority of the partnership or other similar ownership interest is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one
or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof.

“Target Net Working Capital Amount” means $5,000,000.

“Tax” or “Taxes” means any and all taxes, assessments, levies, tariffs, duties or other charges or impositions in the nature of a tax (together with
any and all interest, penalties, additions to tax and additional amounts, whether disputed or not, imposed with respect thereto) imposed by any Governmental
Entity, including net income, estimated income, gross income, gross receipts, profits, business, license, occupation, franchise, capital stock, property (real,
tangible or intangible), sales, use, ad valorem, transfer, value added, registration, escheat, employment or unemployment, social security, Canada and Quebec
Pension Plan, health, payroll, disability, severance, alternative or add-on minimum, customs, excise, stamp, environmental, windfall profit, commercial rent or
withholding taxes.

“Tax Returns” means any return, report, information return or other document (including schedules or any related or supporting information)
required to be filed with any Governmental Entity or other authority in connection with the determination, assessment or collection of any Tax or the
administration of any Laws or administrative requirements relating to any Tax.

“Transaction Expenses” means (i) the fees and disbursements payable by any Group Company to the Persons listed on Section 3.23 of the
Company Disclosure Schedules; (ii) the fees and disbursements payable to legal counsel, accountants, bankers and/or financial advisors of one or more Group
Company that are payable by one or more Group Company in
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connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (iii) all change of control, sale bonus, and other similar payments payable by one or more
Group Companies to any Person in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, but not limited to the payments set forth on
Section 11.01(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedules; and (iv) all other miscellaneous expenses or costs, in each case, incurred by one or more Group
Company in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that the foregoing clauses (ii) and (iv) shall not include
any fees, expense or disbursements incurred by Parent, or by the Surviving Corporation which are on behalf of Parent, including the fees and expenses of
Parent’s attorneys, accountants and other advisors.

“Transaction Payroll Taxes” means the employer portion of any payroll, employment or similar taxes incurred in connection with respect to any
bonuses, severance, exercises or cash-outs of options or other compensatory payments made at or prior to Closing in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

“Unpaid Company Transaction Expenses” means Transaction Expenses, but only to the extent they have not been paid by any Group Company
in Cash on or prior to the Closing Date and have, accordingly, not reduced the Closing Cash.

“Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes” means (i) any Taxes of the Group Companies for a Pre-Closing Tax Period that are not paid as of the Closing Date,
including any such Taxes that the Group Companies are liable for as a successor or transferee, and any Taxes of the Group Companies for any Straddle Period
that are allocable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period under Section 10.03(b), (ii) any Taxes of the Group Companies for a Pre-Closing Tax Period as a result of
being a member of an Affiliated Group on or prior to the Closing and (iii) any Transaction Payroll Taxes, but in the case of each of (i), (ii) and (iii), excluding
any Taxes with respect to actions taken by Parent on the Closing Date but after the Closing outside the ordinary course of business.

“Voting Agreement” means that certain Voting Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2010, by and among the Company, the Investors (as defined
therein) and the Key Holders (as defined therein).

“Warrant” means (i) the Series A-2 Warrant and (ii) any other outstanding and unexercised warrant to purchase shares of capital stock of the
Company.

“Working Capital Escrow Amount” means $1,000,000.

“WEEE Directive” means the European Union Directives on waste electrical and electronic equipment, including 2002/96/EC and 2012/19/EU
and all implementing Laws, as each may be amended from time to time.

11.02 Other Definitional Provisions.

(a) Accounting Terms. Accounting terms that are not otherwise defined in this Agreement have the meanings given to them under GAAP. To the
extent that the definition of an accounting term defined in this Agreement is inconsistent with the meaning of such term under GAAP, the definition set forth
in this Agreement shall control.
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(b) Successor Laws. Any reference to any particular Code section or Law shall be interpreted to include any revision of or successor to that
section regardless of how it is numbered or classified.

ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS

12.01 Press Releases and Communications. The parties shall issue a joint press release announcing the execution and delivery of this Agreement. So
long as this Agreement is in effect, neither party shall issue any press release or make any public announcement relating to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby without the consent of the other party (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), except for any press release
or public announcement as may be required by Law, court process or applicable stock exchange rules and regulations. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, following Closing and the public announcement of the Merger, the Stockholder Representative shall be permitted to publicly
announce that it has been engaged to serve as the Stockholder Representative in connection with the Merger as long as such announcement does not disclose
any of the other terms of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated herein.

12.02 Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, each of the Company, the Stockholders, Parent, Merger Sub and the Stockholder
Representative shall pay all of their own fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
including the fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and accountants; provided that the Stockholder Representative’s expenses shall be paid by
the Stockholders, including out of the Expense Fund.

12.03 Notices. All notices and other communications among the Parties shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (a) when
delivered in person, (b) when delivered after posting in the United States mail having been sent registered or certified mail return receipt requested, postage
prepaid, (c) when delivered by FedEx or other nationally recognized overnight delivery service or (d) when delivered by facsimile or email (in each case in
this clause (d), solely if receipt is confirmed), addressed as follows:

Notices to Parent, Surviving Corporation and/or Merger Sub:

Fluidigm Corporation
7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 100
South San Francisco, CA 94080
Attn: General Counsel
Facsimile No.: (650) 871-7152
Email: legal@fluidigm.com
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with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C.
650 Page Mill Road
Palo Alto, California 94304
Attention: Robert F. Kornegay
Facsimile No.: (650) 493-6811
Email: rkornegay@wsgr.com

and

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C.
One Market Plaza, Spear Tower, Suite 3300
San Francisco, California 94105
Attention: Robert T. Ishii
Facsimile No.: (415) 947-2099
Email: rishii@wsgr.com

Notices to the Stockholder Representative:

Shareholder Representative Services LLC
1614 15th Street, Suite 200
Denver, CO 80202
Attn: Managing Director
Facsimile No.: (303) 623-0294
Email: deals@shareholderrep.com

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Latham & Watkins LLP
140 Scott Drive
Menlo Park, CA 94025
Attention: Mark V. Roeder
Facsimile No.: (650) 463-2600
Email: mark.roeder@lw.com

Notices to the Company:

DVS Sciences, Inc.
639 N. Pastoria Ave.
Sunnyvale, CA 94085-2917
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Facsimile: (408) 730-5217
Email: accounting-us@dvssciences.com
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with copies to (before the Closing) (which shall not constitute notice):

Latham & Watkins LLP
140 Scott Drive
Menlo Park, CA 94025
Attention: Mark V. Roeder
Facsimile No.: (650) 463-2600
Email: mark.roeder@lw.com

12.04 Assignment. This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective
successors and permitted assigns, except that neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated by
any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the non-assigning Parties; except that Parent may assign its rights and delegate its obligations
hereunder to an Affiliate of Parent provided that Parent remains ultimately liable for all of Parent’s obligations hereunder and that Parent is responsible for
any withholding Taxes under Section 1.13 incurred solely as a result of such assignment.

12.05 Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not affect the
validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or the validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other
situation or in any other jurisdiction. If the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares that any term or provision hereof is invalid or
unenforceable, the Parties agree that the court making the determination of invalidity or unenforceability shall have the power to reduce the scope, duration or
area of the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases, or to replace any invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a term or provision that is
valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision, and this Agreement shall be
enforceable as so modified after the expiration of the time within which the judgment may be appealed.

12.06 Interpretation.

(a) The words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of like import used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and
not to any particular provision of this Agreement.

(b) The captions herein are included for convenience of reference only and shall be ignored in the construction or interpretation hereof.
References to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules are to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules of this Agreement unless otherwise specified.

(c) All Exhibits and Schedules annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth in
full herein. Any capitalized terms used in any Exhibit or Schedule but not otherwise defined therein, shall have the meaning as defined in this Agreement.

(d) Any singular term in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the plural, and any plural term the singular, and words denoting either gender
shall include both genders as the context requires. Where a word or phrase is defined herein, each of its other grammatical forms shall have a corresponding
meaning.
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(e) Whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words
“without limitation,” whether or not they are in fact followed by those words or words of like import.

(f) The use of the word “or” shall not be exclusive.

(g) Any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be applied in the construction or
interpretation of this Agreement.

(h) A reference to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation shall include any modification, amendment, re-enactment thereof, any
legislative provision substituted therefore and all rules, regulations and statutory instruments issued or related to such legislation.

(i) Unless otherwise specifically indicated, all references to “dollars” or “$” shall refer to the lawful currency of the United States.

(j) A document shall be deemed to have been “delivered,” “provided,” “furnished,” or “made available” to Parent or its Representatives to the
extent that such document has been (i) made available in the data room established by the Company for the purposes of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement no later than one (1) Business Day prior to the date hereof, (ii) delivered to Parent or its Representatives via electronic mail or (iii) set forth on
Section 12.06(j) of the Company Disclosure Schedules.

(k) Any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be applied in the construction or
interpretation of this Agreement. No prior draft of this Agreement nor any course of performance or course of dealing shall be used in the interpretation or
construction of this Agreement. No parol evidence shall be introduced in the construction or interpretation of this Agreement unless the ambiguity or
uncertainty in issue is plainly discernible from a reading of this Agreement without consideration of any extrinsic evidence. Although the same or similar
subject matters may be addressed in different provisions of this Agreement, the Parties intend that, except as reasonably apparent on the face of the
Agreement or as expressly provided in this Agreement, each such provision shall be read separately, be given independent significance and not be construed
as limiting any other provision of this Agreement (whether or not more general or more specific in scope, substance or content). The doctrine of election of
remedies shall not apply in constructing or interpreting the remedies provisions of this Agreement or the equitable power of a court considering this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

12.07 Construction. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the Parties to express their mutual intent, and
no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any Person. The specification of any dollar amount or the inclusion of any item in the representations and
warranties contained in this Agreement or the Disclosure Schedules or Exhibits attached hereto is not intended to imply that the amounts, or higher or lower
amounts, or the items so included, or other items, are or are not required to be disclosed
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(including whether such amounts or items are required to be disclosed as material or threatened) or are within or outside of the ordinary course of business,
and no Party shall use the fact of the setting of the amounts or the fact of the inclusion of any item in this Agreement or the Disclosure Schedules or Exhibits
in any dispute or controversy between the Parties as to whether any obligation, item or matter not described or included in this Agreement or in any Schedule
or Exhibit is or is not required to be disclosed (including whether the amount or items are required to be disclosed as material or threatened) or is within or
outside of the ordinary course of business for purposes of this Agreement. The information contained in this Agreement and in the Disclosure Schedules and
Exhibits hereto is disclosed solely for purposes of this Agreement, and no information contained herein or therein shall be deemed to be an admission by any
Party to any third party of any matter whatsoever (including any violation of Law or breach of contract).

12.08 Amendment and Waiver. Any provision of this Agreement or the Disclosure Schedules hereto may be amended or waived only in a writing
signed by Parent, the Company (or the Surviving Corporation following the Closing) and the Stockholder Representative; provided, however, that after the
receipt of the Stockholder Approval, no amendment to this Agreement shall be made which by Law requires further approval by the Stockholders without
such further approval by such Stockholders. No waiver of any provision hereunder or any breach or default thereof shall extend to or affect in any way any
other provision or prior or subsequent breach or default.

12.09 Complete Agreement. This Agreement and the documents referred to herein (including the Confidentiality Agreement) contain the complete
agreement between the Parties and supersede any prior understandings, agreements or representations by or between the Parties, written or oral, which may
have related to the subject matter hereof in any way, including any data room agreements, bid letters, term sheets, summary issues lists or other agreements.

12.10 Third Party Beneficiaries. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective
successors and assigns. Section 6.02 shall be enforceable by the D&O Indemnified Parties. Nothing expressed or referred to in this Agreement shall be
construed to give any Person (including any Stockholder) other than the Parties to this Agreement any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with
respect to this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement; provided, that (a) the Stockholder Representative shall have the right, but not the obligation, to
enforce any rights of the Stockholders under this Agreement and (b) each of L&W and MTL shall have the right to enforce its rights under Section 12.18.

12.11 Waiver of Trial by Jury. THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT EACH HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
LAW, ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION (A) ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT
OR (B) IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES HERETO IN RESPECT OF THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED HERETO, IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING,
AND WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY OR OTHERWISE. THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT EACH HEREBY AGREES AND
CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM,
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DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY, AND THAT THE PARTIES TO THIS
AGREEMENT MAY FILE A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE PARTIES
HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

12.12 Delivery by Facsimile or Email. This Agreement and any signed agreement entered into in connection herewith or contemplated hereby, and any
amendments hereto or thereto, to the extent signed and delivered by means of a facsimile machine or scanned pages via electronic mail, shall be treated in all
manner and respects as an original contract and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effects as if it were the original signed version thereof
delivered in person. At the request of any Party hereto or to any such contract, each other Party hereto or thereto shall re-execute original forms thereof and
deliver them to all other Parties. No Party hereto or to any such contract shall raise the use of a facsimile machine or email to deliver a signature or the fact
that any signature or contract was transmitted or communicated through the use of facsimile machine or email as a defense to the formation of a contract and
each such Party forever waives any such defense.

12.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, any one of which need not contain the signature of more than one
(1) Party, but all such counterparts taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

12.14 Governing Law. All issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, interpretation and enforceability of this Agreement and the
Exhibits and Schedules hereto shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the Laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice
of Law or conflict of Law rules or provisions (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the Laws of any
jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware.

12.15 Jurisdiction. Any Action seeking to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or the
transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought and determined exclusively by the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; provided, that if the Court
of Chancery of the State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction, any such Action shall be brought exclusively in the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware or any other court of the State of Delaware, and each of the Parties hereby consents to the jurisdiction of such courts (and of the
appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in any such Action and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, any objection which it may now or
hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such Action in any such court or that any such Action which is brought in any such court has been brought in
an inconvenient forum. Process in any such Action may be served on any Party anywhere in the world, whether within or without the jurisdiction of any such
court. Without limiting the foregoing, each Party agrees that service of process on such Party as provided in Section 12.03 shall be deemed effective service
of process on such Party.

12.16 Remedies Cumulative. Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon a Party shall be deemed
cumulative with, and not exclusive of, any other remedy conferred hereby, or by Law or equity upon such Party, and the exercise by a Party of any one
remedy shall not preclude the exercise of any other remedy.
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12.17 Specific Performance. Each of the Parties acknowledges that the rights of each Party to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby are
unique and recognizes and affirms that in the event of a breach of this Agreement by any Party, money damages may be inadequate and the non-breaching
Party may have no adequate remedy at Law. Accordingly, the Parties agree that prior to a valid termination of this Agreement in accordance with this
Agreement, such non-breaching Party shall have the right, in addition to any other rights and remedies existing in its favor at Law or in equity, to enforce its
rights and the other Party’s obligations hereunder not only by an Action or Actions for damages but also by an Action or Actions for specific performance,
injunctive and/or other equitable relief (without posting of bond or other security). Each of the Parties agrees that it shall not oppose the granting of an
injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief when expressly available pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and hereby waives (a) any
defenses in any Action for an injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief, including the defense that the other Parties have an adequate remedy
at Law or an award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at Law or equity; and (b) any requirement under Law to post a bond,
undertaking or other security as a prerequisite to obtaining equitable relief.

12.18 Privilege. The parties acknowledge that each of Latham & Watkins LLP (“L&W”) and McCarthy Tétrault LLP (“MTL”) has acted as legal
counsel to certain of the Stockholders and the Company, its Affiliates and the Group Companies prior to the Closing and that all communications involving
attorney-client confidences between any Stockholders and its Affiliates in the course of the negotiation, documentation and consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby shall be deemed to be attorney-client confidences that belong solely to such Stockholders and their Affiliates (and not the Group
Companies); provided, that all communications involving attorney-client confidences of the Company in the course of the negotiation, documentation and
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby regarding the terms of the Contract set forth on Schedule 12.18 (and, for the avoidance of doubt, not
related solely to the negotiation and documentation of this Agreement) (the “Excluded Communications”) shall be deemed to be attorney-client confidences
that belong solely to the Company. Accordingly, the Group Companies shall not have access to any such communications (other than Excluded
Communications), or to the files of L&W or MTL relating to such engagement (other than with respect to Excluded Communications). Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, upon and after the Closing, (a) the applicable Stockholders and their Affiliates (and not the Group Companies) shall be the sole
holders of the attorney-client privilege with respect to such engagement (other than with respect to Excluded Communications), and none of the Group
Companies shall be a holder thereof, (b) to the extent that files of L&W or MTL in respect of such engagement (other than with respect to Excluded
Communications) constitute property of the client, only the applicable Stockholders and their Affiliates (and not the Group Companies) shall hold such
property rights and (c) L&W or MTL shall have no duty whatsoever to reveal or disclose any such attorney-client communications (other than Excluded
Communications) or files to any of the Group Companies (other than with respect to Excluded Communications) by reason of any attorney-client relationship
between L&W or MTL and any of the Group Companies or otherwise.
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(Signature Page Follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement and Plan of Merger on the day and year first above written.
 

DVS SCIENCES, INC.

By:  /s/ Joseph J. Victor
Name:  Joseph J. Victor
Its:  President and Chief Executive Officer

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

By:  /s/ Gajus Worthington
Name:  Gajus Worthington
Its:  President and CEO

DAWID MERGER SUB, INC.

By:  /s/ Gajus Worthington
Name:  Gajus Worthington
Its:  President

SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE SERVICES LLC,
solely in its capacity as the Stockholder Representative

By:  /s/ Mark B. Vogel
Name:  Mark B. Vogel
Its:  Managing Director

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]



Exhibit 10.1

BUSINESS FINANCING MODIFICATION AGREEMENT

This Business Financing Modification Agreement is entered into as of January 29, 2014, by and between Fluidigm Corporation, a Delaware corporation
(the “Borrower”), and Bridge Bank, National Association (“Lender”).

1. DESCRIPTION OF EXISTING DOCUMENTS: Borrower and Lender are parties to a Business Financing Agreement, dated December 16, 2010, as
amended on February 8, 2011, March 31, 2011, and December 21, 2012 (as may be further amended from time to time, the “Business Financing
Agreement”). Capitalized terms used without definition herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Business Financing Agreement.

Hereinafter, all indebtedness owing by Borrower to Lender shall be referred to as the “Indebtedness” and the Business Financing Agreement and any and all
other documents executed by Borrower in favor of Lender shall be referred to as the “Existing Documents.”

2. DESCRIPTION OF CHANGE IN TERMS.
 
 A. Modifications to Business Financing Agreement:
 

 (1) The following defined terms in Section 12.1 entitled “Definitions” are hereby amended as follows:

“Permitted Indebtedness” is amended to add thereto the following new clause (l):

(l) Indebtedness of Borrower consisting of convertible debt securities, in an aggregate principal amount of up to $220,000,000, issued
pursuant to an indenture between Borrower and U.S. Bank National Association.

“Permitted Liens” is amended to add thereto the following new clause (n):

(n) customary Liens granted in favor of a trustee to secure fees and other amounts owing to such trustee under an indenture or other
agreement pursuant to Indebtedness not otherwise prohibited under this Business Financing Agreement.

3. CONSENT TO ACQUISITION. Bank hereby consents to the Borrower’s acquisition of all of the capital stock of DVS Sciences, Inc., a Delaware
corporation.

4. CONSISTENT CHANGES. The Existing Documents are each hereby amended wherever necessary to reflect the changes described above.

5. NO DEFENSES OF BORROWER/GENERAL RELEASE. Borrower agrees that, as of this date, it has no defenses against the obligations to pay any
amounts under the Indebtedness. Each of Borrower and Guarantor (each, a “Releasing Party”) acknowledges that Lender would not enter into this Business
Financing Modification Agreement without Releasing Party’s assurance that it has no claims against Lender or any of Lender’s officers, directors, employees
or agents. Except for the obligations arising hereafter under this Business Financing Modification Agreement, each Releasing Party releases Lender, and each
of Lender’s and entity’s officers, directors and employees from any known or unknown claims that Releasing Party now has against Lender of any nature,
including any claims that Releasing Party, its successors, counsel, and advisors may in the future discover they would have now if they had known facts not
now known to them, whether
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founded in contract, in tort or pursuant to any other theory of liability, including but not limited to any claims arising out of or related to the Agreement or the
transactions contemplated thereby. Releasing Party waives the provisions of California Civil Code section 1542, which states:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR
HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER, MUST HAVE MATERIALLY
AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.

The provisions, waivers and releases set forth in this section are binding upon each Releasing Party and its shareholders, agents, employees, assigns and
successors in interest. The provisions, waivers and releases of this section shall inure to the benefit of Lender and its agents, employees, officers, directors,
assigns and successors in interest. The provisions of this section shall survive payment in full of the Obligations, full performance of all the terms of this
Business Financing Modification Agreement and the Business Financing Agreement, and/or Lender’s actions to exercise any remedy available under the
Business Financing Agreement or otherwise.

6. CONTINUING VALIDITY. Borrower understands and agrees that in modifying the Existing Documents, Lender is relying upon Borrower’s
representations, warranties, and agreements, as set forth therein. Except as expressly modified pursuant to this Business Financing Modification Agreement,
the terms of the Existing Documents remain unchanged and in full force and effect. Lender’s agreement to modifications to the Existing Documents pursuant
to this Business Financing Modification Agreement in no way shall obligate Lender to make any future modifications to the Existing Documents or the
Indebtedness. Nothing in this Business Financing Modification Agreement shall constitute a satisfaction of the Indebtedness. It is the intention of Lender and
Borrower to retain as liable parties all makers and endorsers of Existing Documents, unless the party is expressly released by Lender in writing. No maker,
endorser, or guarantor will be released by virtue of this Business Financing Modification Agreement. The terms of this paragraph apply not only to this
Business Financing Modification Agreement, but also to any subsequent modification agreements relating to the Business Financing Agreement.

~~ signatures follow ~~
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower and Lender have executed this Agreement on the day and year above written.
 
BORROWER:   LENDER:

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION   BRIDGE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By   /s/ Vikram Jog   By  /s/ Chris Hill
Name:  Vikram Jog   Name:  Chris Hill
Title:   Chief Financial Officer   Title:  Senior Vice President
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Fluidigm Corporation
South San Francisco, California

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 of Fluidigm Corporation, of our report dated June 7, 2013,
relating to the consolidated financial statements of DVS Sciences, Inc. as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and for the years then ended, which appears in this
Form 8-K.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
San Jose, CA

January 29, 2014



Exhibit 99.1

FLUIDIGM AND DVS SCIENCES ANNOUNCE AGREEMENT FOR FLUIDIGM TO
ACQUIRE DVS SCIENCES – CREATING A SINGLE-CELL TECHNOLOGY

POWERHOUSE

Combines DVS Sciences’ High-Parameter Single-Cell Protein Analysis Platform with
Fluidigm’s Industry-Leading Single-Cell Genomics Technology

SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO and SUNNYVALE, Calif. – Jan. 29, 2014 – Continuing its strategy of delivering disruptive single-cell analysis capabilities to
life science researchers around the world, Fluidigm Corporation (NASDAQ:FLDM) has entered into a definitive agreement to acquire DVS Sciences, Inc.
(DVS) to create a single-cell technology powerhouse. Combined with DVS, Fluidigm will be able to offer a comprehensive portfolio of advanced
technologies serving the rapidly growing single-cell genomics and proteomics markets.

DVS is best known for its multi-parameter single-cell protein analysis systems. DVS’s principal product is the CyTOF®2 Mass Cytometer, which analyzes
antibody/metal complexes using atomic mass spectrometry. The technology enables high-parameter single-cell protein analysis for applications in biological
research.

The acquisition consideration of approximately $207.5 million consists of a combination of Fluidigm common stock and cash. Fluidigm expects to fund the
cash portion of the acquisition consideration primarily using proceeds from a proposed convertible notes offering. Subject to customary closing conditions,
the transaction is currently expected to close in February 2014, at which point DVS would become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fluidigm.

“We have long been interested in companies whose technologies are directly in-line with our strategy, have strong top-line growth, and whose management
teams fit Fluidigm culturally and would be committed to the success of the combined enterprise. We waited for the perfect fit and believe we have found such
a gem with DVS Sciences,” said Gajus Worthington, Fluidigm President and Chief Executive Officer. “DVS’s mass cytometry technology combines the
advantages of high-throughput flow cytometry with the accuracy and resolution of mass spectrometry, enabling high-parameter single-cell protein analysis.
We believe the acquisition of DVS will increase Fluidigm’s single-cell revenue immediately, as well as increase our addressable market to include the
approximately $300 million high-end research flow cytometry segment. It also expands our analytical breadth to include single-cell protein analysis.”



“The merger of DVS with Fluidigm will provide exciting new product synergies around single-cell analysis for our customers as well as increased support
networks and a wider reach into new markets,” said Joe Victor, President and Chief Executive Officer of DVS. “DVS is excited to be able to have the
opportunity to jointly develop with Fluidigm new technologies, products and applications for our target life sciences markets.”

“At DVS, our goal has been to accelerate life sciences research and transform drug discovery via high-parameter bio-analysis. Early on we recognized that
studying biology at the single-cell level provides new and important scientific insight. Researchers increasingly need high dimensional, single-cell analysis.
The combination of DVS’s technology for protein analysis and Fluidigm’s technology for nucleic acid analysis provides researchers with solutions that could
transform single-cell analysis for life sciences research, drug development, and potentially diagnostics,” said Dr. Scott Tanner, DVS’s Chief Technology
Officer and Co-Founder. “We are delighted to join Fluidigm to champion the power of single-cell analysis and help pave the way for future breakthrough
discoveries in biology.”

Several members of DVS’s management, operations and research and development teams – including Co-Founders Tanner, Dmitry Bandura, and Vladimir
Baranov will join Fluidigm, subject to closing of the merger, to drive the integration of the organizations and support the continued growth of the combined
business into the future.

Piper Jaffray & Co. is acting as exclusive financial advisor to Fluidigm and Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C. is serving as Fluidigm’s legal counsel.
Jefferies LLC is acting as exclusive financial advisor to DVS and Latham & Watkins LLP is serving as DVS’s legal counsel.

Conference Call Information

Fluidigm will host a conference call today, January 29, 2014 at 8:30 a.m. Eastern Time. The call can be accessed by calling (877) 556-5248 (domestic toll-
free) or (720) 545-0029 (international toll). Fluidigm will also provide a live webcast of its conference call for investors at:
http://investors.fluidigm.com/events.cfm. The conference call will be archived on Fluidigm’s investor’s page at: http://investors.fluidigm.com. Information
on, or that can be accessed through, Fluidigm’s website is not incorporated by reference into this press release.

Forward-Looking Statements

In order to provide Fluidigm’s investors with an understanding of our current intentions and future prospects, this release contains statements that are forward-
looking within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements regarding Fluidigm’s proposed acquisition of DVS
Sciences, Inc., the prospects for the combined company, the market opportunity for Fluidigm and DVS Sciences’ products, Fluidigm’s expectations for the
development of the single-cell genomics market and introduction of new products in such market and the future growth of our business, and Fluidigm’s
proposed offering of convertible notes. Any statements contained in this press release that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-
looking statements. Words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “will,” “intends,” “potential,” “possible” and similar expressions are intended
to identify forward-looking statements.



Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties related to the acquisition, the respective businesses of Fluidigm, DVS Sciences, and the combined
company if the acquisition is completed, and the general economic environment. Forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from currently anticipated results, including but not limited to risks arising from the acquisition, such as our
lack of experience in acquiring and integrating new businesses; risks relating to the integration of DVS Sciences’s business and operations with those of
Fluidigm; the possibility that we will not realize anticipated revenue and potential operating expense synergies of the proposed acquisition; the possible loss
of key employees, customers, or suppliers as a result of uncertainty caused by the announcement of the proposed acquisition; intellectual property risks
arising from the acquisition, including risks relating to maintaining material in-licensed intellectual property rights; and risks that the acquisition may not be
completed. In addition, Fluidigm’s business and that of DVS Sciences are subject to numerous additional risks and uncertainties, including, among others,
risks relating to market acceptance of our products; our ability to successfully launch new products and applications; competition; our sales, marketing and
distribution capabilities; our planned sales, marketing, and research and development activities; reduction in research and development spending or changes in
budget priorities by customers; interruptions or delays in the supply of components or materials for, or manufacturing of, our products; seasonal variations in
customer operations; unanticipated increases in costs or expenses; and risks associated with international operations. Information on these and additional
risks, uncertainties, and other information affecting our business and operating results are contained in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2013, and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Registration Statement on Form S-3ASR to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date of this press release. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof.
Fluidigm Corporation disclaims any obligation to update these forward-looking statements except as may be required by law.

About Fluidigm

Fluidigm (NASDAQ:FLDM) develops, manufactures, and markets microfluidic systems to leading academic institutions, clinical laboratories, and
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and agricultural biotechnology companies in growth markets, such as single-cell genomics, applied genotyping, and sample
preparation for targeted resequencing. Fluidigm’s proprietary microfluidic systems consist of instruments and consumables, including 18 different commercial
integrated fluidic circuits for nucleic acid analysis, and three families of assay chemistries. These systems are designed to significantly simplify experimental
workflow, increase throughput, and reduce costs, while providing the excellent data quality demanded by customers. Fluidigm products are provided: For
Research Use Only. Not for use in diagnostic procedures.



Fluidigm and the Fluidigm logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of Fluidigm Corporation.

About DVS Sciences, Inc.

DVS Sciences, Inc. manufactures and globally distributes novel bioanalytical solutions for use in biomarker discovery, biological research and potential
future use in clinical applications. The patented multi-parameter technology comprises a high-throughput mass cytometer for quantitative individual cell
analysis, CyTOF, and the suite of stable isotope-tagged panel kits and reagents. The CyTOF platform overcomes the limitations of conventional flow
cytometry, simplifies sample preparation, and can simultaneously identify up to 100 biomarkers with high resolution and wide dynamic range. CyTOF
systems are installed in leading laboratories across the U.S., Canada, Europe and Asia. DVS Sciences has its global headquarters and reagent kit
manufacturing in Sunnyvale, California with a R&D and instrument manufacturing facility near Toronto, Canada and a sales/support office in the UK.

DVS Sciences and CyTOF are trademarks or registered trademarks of DVS Sciences, Inc.

###

CONTACT:
Un Kwon-Casado, CFA
VP, Corporate Development
Fluidigm Corporation
650-266-6035 (office)
un.kwon-casado@fluidigm.com



Exhibit 99.2

Fluidigm Announces Proposed $175 Million Convertible Senior Notes Offering

SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA – January 29, 2014 – Fluidigm Corporation (NASDAQ: FLDM), a supplier of microfluidic systems for
growth markets in the life science and agricultural biotechnology industries, today announced that it intends to offer, subject to market conditions and other
factors, $175 million aggregate principal amount of its convertible senior notes due 2034 (the “notes”) in an underwritten public offering. Fluidigm also
expects to grant the underwriter of the notes a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional $26.25 million aggregate principal amount of the notes to cover
over-allotments, if any.

Fluidigm intends to use approximately $119.7 million of the net proceeds from this offering to fund the acquisition of DVS Sciences, Inc. Fluidigm expects to
use the remaining net proceeds that it will receive from this offering for research and development, commercialization of its products, working capital and
other general corporate purposes.

The notes will be convertible into shares of Fluidigm’s common stock at the option of the holders at any time prior to the close of business on the business
day immediately preceding the maturity date. Final terms of the notes, including the interest rate, initial conversion rate redemption provisions and other
terms, will be determined by negotiations between Fluidigm and the underwriter of the notes.

Fluidigm intends to offer and sell these securities pursuant to a shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 29,
2014 which became effective upon filing. A prospectus supplement describing the terms of the offering will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and will form a part of the effective registration statement. Copies of the prospectus supplement and accompanying prospectus relating to the
offering may be obtained, when available, from Piper Jaffray & Co., Attention: Prospectus Department, 800 Nicollet Mall, J12S03, Minneapolis, MN 55402
or by telephone at 800-747-3924 or by email at prospectus@pjc.com. An electronic copy of the prospectus supplement and accompanying prospectus relating
to the offering is available on the website of the Securities and Exchange Commission at www.sec.gov.

This press release does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of offers to buy any securities of Fluidigm, and shall not constitute an offer,
solicitation or sale of any security in any state or jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or
qualification under the securities laws of any such state or jurisdiction.

Forward-Looking Statements

In order to provide Fluidigm’s investors with an understanding of our current intentions and future prospects, this release may contain statements that are
forward-looking within the meaning of the Private Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements regarding the proposed offering of notes, the intended
use of proceeds of the notes offering and Fluidigm’s proposed acquisition of DVS Sciences, Inc. Any statements contained in this press release that are not
statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. Words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “will,” “intends,”
“potential,” “possible” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include our
expectations regarding the proposed offering and the use of proceeds from such offering.

Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties related to our business and the general economic environment, many beyond our control. These
risks, uncertainties and other factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements, including market
risk and the risks we identify in filings made with the SEC.



Although we believe that the forward-looking statements contained herein are reasonable, we can give no assurance that our expectations are correct. All
forward-looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. For a detailed description of our risks and uncertainties, you
are encouraged to review the official corporate documents filed with the SEC. Fluidigm does not undertake any obligation to publicly update its forward-
looking statements based on events or circumstances after the date hereof, except as required by law.

###

CONTACT:

Un Kwon-Casado, CFA
VP, Corporate Development
Fluidigm Corporation
650-266-6035 (office)
un.kwon-casado@fluidigm.com

Howard High – Press Relations
Fluidigm Corporation
650.266.6081 (office)
510.786.7378 (mobile)
howard.high@fluidigm.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Directors
DVS Sciences, Inc.
Sunnyvale, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of DVS Sciences, Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’
deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of DVS Sciences, Inc. as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
San Jose, CA
June 7, 2013
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DVS Sciences, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

 
   December 31,   September 30,  
   2011   2012   2013  
         (Unaudited)  
Assets     
Current Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,661,521   $ 6,852,265   $ 8,412,086  
Accounts receivable    3,010,889    2,318,364    5,182,871  
Inventory    470,068    1,507,462    2,971,325  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    461,124    362,320    448,384  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total current assets    5,603,602    11,040,411    17,014,666  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Property and Equipment, Net    946,676    948,508    991,185  
Other Long-Term Assets    32,099    84,893    91,590  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total Assets   $ 6,582,377   $12,073,812   $18,097,441  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit     
Current Liabilities:     

Accounts payable    414,547   $ 473,718    914,744  
Accrued compensation    430,756    726,953    569,211  
Accrued liabilities    806,182    863,622    1,831,142  
Current portion of Deferred Revenues    214,840    621,592    1,322,779  
Income taxes payable    —      2,444    39,821  
Short-Term Notes Payable, net of debt discount    —      —      227,491  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total Current Liabilities:    1,866,325    2,688,329    4,905,188  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Deferred revenues, non-current    29,414    336,440    1,372,346  
Warrant Liability    —      —      16,978  
Long-Term Notes Payable, net of debt discount      1,204,981  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total Liabilities    1,895,739    3,024,769    7,499,493  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 4 for additional information)     
Redeemable Convertible preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share; 21,700,000 shares authorized;

13,069,541, 13,069,541 and 8,131,829 shares issued and outstanding at September 30,
2013, December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. (Aggregate liquidation preference of
$14,797,740, $14,797,740 and $8,131,829 at September 30, 2013, December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.)    7,700,264    14,353,924    14,353,924  

Stockholders’ Deficit     
Common stock, par value $0.001 per share 26,700,000 shares authorized; 6,399,864; 6,388,094 and

6,253,695 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2013, December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.    6,254    6,388    6,400  

Additional paid-in capital    24,759    188,378    297,408  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (163,271)   (39,505)   (108,867) 
Accumulated deficit    (2,881,368)   (5,460,142)   (3,950,917) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total Stockholders’ Deficit    (3,013,626)   (5,304,881)   (3,755,976) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Total Liabilities Redeemable Convertible Preferred and Stockholders’ Deficit   $ 6,582,377   $12,073,812   $18,097,441  
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DVS Sciences, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

 
   Year Ended December 31,   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,  

   2011   2012   2012   2013  
            (Unaudited)  
Revenue   $ 5,148,707   $11,919,827   $ 8,317,318   $18,507,138  
Cost of Revenue    2,941,605    5,538,192    3,919,446    7,791,551  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Gross margin    2,207,102    6,381,635    4,397,872    10,715,587  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating Expenses      
Research and development    2,145,817    3,535,466    2,458,770    3,319,644  
Selling, general and administrative    3,180,790    5,454,866    4,218,580    5,754,169  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total Operating Expenses    5,326,607    8,990,332    6,677,350    9,073,813  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income (Loss) from operations    (3,119,505)   (2,608,697)   (2,279,478)   1,641,774  
Interest and other income    1,821    —      —      —    
Other expense    (81,073)   (19,061)   (18,106)   (95,113) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Income (Loss) before taxes    (3,198,757)   (2,627,758)   (2,297,584)   1,546,661  
Income tax expense (benefit)    —      (48,984)   (211,147)   37,436  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Income/(Loss)   $(3,198,757)  $ (2,578,774)  $(2,086,437)  $ 1,509,225  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss), net of tax      
Foreign currency translation adjustment    (169,874)   123,766    33,778    (69,362) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Comprehensive Income/(Loss)   $(3,368,631)  $ (2,455,008)  $(2,052,659)  $ 1,439,863  
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DVS Sciences, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit

 

 

  Convertible Preferred Stock      Common Stock    Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

  
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)  

 
Accumulated

Deficit  

 Total
Stockholders’

Deficit    Shares    Amount      Shares    Amount       
Balance, December 31, 2010    4,131,828    $ 3,750,094      4,600,000    $4,600    $ 2,316    $ 6,603    317,389   $ 330,908  
Issuance of Series A-1 preferred

stock, net of issuance costs of
$49,831    4,000,001     3,950,170      —       —       —       —      —      —    

Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options    —       —        1,653,695     1,654     339     —      —      1,993  

Nonemployee stock-based
compensation expense    —       —        —       —       2,532     —      —      2,532  

Employee stock-based
compensation expense    —       —        —       —       19,572     —      —      19,572  

Currency translation adjustment    —       —        —       —         (169,874)   —      (169,874) 
Net loss    —       —        —       —       —       —      (3,198,757)   (3,198,757) 

    
 

    
 

     
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, December 31, 2011    8,131,829    $ 7,700,264      6,253,695    $6,254    $ 24,759    $ (163,271)  $(2,881,368)  $(3,013,626) 
    

 

    

 

     

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

Issuance of Series A-2 preferred
stock, net of issuance costs of
$12,251 (includes issuance of
preferred stock of $65,914 for
cash received in prior period)    4,937,712     6,653,660      —       —       —       —      —      —    

Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options    —       —        134,399     134     101,839     —      —      101,973  

Nonemployee stock-based
compensation expense    —       —        —       —       6,746     —      —      6,746  

Employee stock-based
compensation expense    —       —        —       —       55,034     —      —      55,034  

Currency translation adjustment    —       —        —       —         123,766    —      123,766  
Net loss    —       —        —       —       —       —      (2,578,774)   (2,578,774) 

    
 

    
 

     
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, December 31, 2012    13,069,541    $14,353,924      6,388,094    $6,388    $188,378    $ (39,505)  $(5,460,142)  $(5,304,881) 
    

 

    

 

     

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options
(unaudited)    —       —        11,770     12     53,327     —      —      53,339  

Nonemployee stock-based
compensation expense
(unaudited)    —       —        —       —       8,796     —      —      8,796  

Employee stock-based
compensation expense
(unaudited)    —       —        —       —       46,907     —      —      46,907  

Currency translation adjustment
(unaudited)    —       —        —       —       —       (69,362)   —      (69,362) 

Net income (unaudited)    —       —        —       —       —       —      1,509,225    1,509,225  
    

 
    

 
     

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Balance, September 30, 2013
(unaudited)    13,069,541    $14,353,924      6,399,864    $6,400    $297,408    $ (108,867)  $(3,950,917)  $(3,755,976) 
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DVS Sciences, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 
   Year Ended December 31,   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,  

   2011   2012   2012   2013  
         (Unaudited)  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:      

Net Income (Loss)   $(3,198,757)  $(2,578,774)  $(2,086,437)  $ 1,509,225  
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities:      
Nonemployee stock-based compensation expense    2,532    6,746    4,348    8,796  
Employee stock-based compensation expense    19,572    55,034    42,991    46,907  
Depreciation and amortization expense    180,786    403,476    303,786    332,807  
Amortization of deferred financing costs    —      —      —      11,254  
Loss on disposition of fixed assets    2,179    —      —      —    
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Accounts receivable    (3,002,619)   692,525    (51,160)   (2,864,507) 
Inventory    (118,734)   (1,037,394)   (964,587)   (1,463,863) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    82,478    98,804    180,537    (92,761) 
Other assets    (12,100)   (52,794)   —      —    
Accounts payable    (158,086)   59,171    (142,410)   441,027  
Accrued compensation and other accrued liabilities    834,432    493,295    381,029    897,969  
Deferred revenue    94,269    713,778    266,109    1,737,093  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities    (5,274,048)   (1,146,133)   (2,065,794)   563,947  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:      
Purchases of property and equipment    (1,119,311)   (409,388)   (393,627)   (359,921) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities    (1,119,311)   (409,388)   (393,627)   (359,921) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:      
Proceeds from issuance of Series A-1 preferred stock, net of issuance costs    3,950,170    —      —      —    
Proceeds from issuance of Series A-2 preferred stock, net of issuance costs    —      6,587,746    6,587,746    —    
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options    284,105    30,673    —      2,525  
Proceeds from issuance of Notes Payable    —      —      —      1,500,000  
Payments for debt issuance costs    —      —      —      (61,805) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities    4,234,275    6,618,419    6,587,746    1,440,720  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes    (169,876)   127,846    157,544    (84,925) 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents    (2,328,960)   5,190,744    4,285,869    1,559,821  
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period    3,990,481    1,661,521    1,661,521    6,852,265  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period   $ 1,661,521   $ 6,852,265   $ 5,947,390   $ 8,412,086  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow information      
Cash paid for interest   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 38,531  

Supplemental Non-cash Investing and Financing Information      
Issuance of Series A-2 for cash received in prior period   $ —     $ 65,914   $ 65,914   $ —    
Issuance of Series A-2 warrants for credit facilities   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 16,978  
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DVS Sciences, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
1. Description of Business

The Company

DVS Sciences, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the state of Delaware on November 13, 2010 to design, manufacture and sell life science research
equipment and reagents. The Company has two wholly owned subsidiaries: DVS Sciences Inc. and DVS Sciences Limited. DVS Sciences Inc. located at
Markham, Ontario Canada was formed in 2004 to develop the CyTOF mass cytometer instrument and related element labeling technology which uses atomic
mass spectrometry technology to precisely measure the existence of up to 100 proteins or genes in single cells as they flow through the instrument at a rate of
up to 1,000 cells per second. DVS Sciences Limited located at Burnham, Bucks UK was formed in 2012 to provide sales and support services to the
Company for the European region. The Company also sells consumable reagents that are used to measure proteins or genes. The Company’s principal market
is the life sciences research market consisting of drug development companies, government research centers, and universities in the US, Europe, and Asia.
The Company’s corporate headquarters is located in Sunnyvale, California which also includes reagent manufacturing laboratories. Instrument manufacturing
and primary research and development activities are located at the Canada subsidiary.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) and include the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Information

The accompanying interim consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2013 and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) and cash
flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated statements of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’
deficit for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, and the related footnote disclosures are unaudited. These unaudited interim financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In management’s opinion, the unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as
the audited financial statements and include all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of our
statement of financial position as of September 30, 2013 and our results of operations and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and
2012. The results for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year or any other
period.

Liquidity

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company has sustained losses from operations and absorbed cash in operating activities since
inception and has an accumulated deficit of $3.9 million as of September 30, 2013. The Company has funded these losses through the issuance of equity
instruments and is ultimately dependent on continued equity or debt financing until the company is able to generate positive operating cash flows. During
2013, the Company had its first profitable quarters, which reduced the accumulated deficit by $1.6 million during the nine month period ended September 30,
2013. The Company also obtained a $5 million debt facility from Comerica Bank (See Note 6). Management believes that the profitable operations and
existing cash reserves will enable the company to continue as a going concern for at least the next twelve months.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences could be material to the financial position and
results of operations.

Significant estimates and assumptions include reserves and write-downs related to accounts receivable and inventories, deferred revenue and estimated selling
price related to deferred revenue, the recoverability of long term assets, valuation of equity instruments and equity-linked instruments, stock-based
compensation, warranty obligations and deferred tax assets and related valuation allowances.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, and accounts receivables.
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are primarily held in deposit accounts in the United States and Canada. Deposits may exceed the amount of
insurance provided on such deposits, if any. Management believes that these financial institutions are financially sound and, accordingly, believes that
minimal credit risk exists. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents.

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived from revenue earned from customers and distributors. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of
its distributor and customers’ financial condition and generally requires no collateral from its distributors and customers. To date, the Company has not
experienced losses with respect to the collection of its accounts receivable and believe that all its accounts receivable as reflected in the balance sheet are
collectible. As of September 30, 2013, seven customers accounted for 16%, 13%, 13%, 13%, 13%, 11%, and 11% of our total accounts receivable balance. As
of December 31, 2012, three customers accounted for 28%, 26%, and 23% of our total accounts receivable balance. As of December 31, 2011, five customers
accounted for 23%, 21%, 20%, 17%, and 17% of our total accounts receivable balance. No single customer represented over 10% of total revenue for any of
the periods presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

The Company’s future results of operations involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Factors that could affect the Company’s future operating results and
cause actual results to vary materially from expectations include, but are not limited to, rapid technological change, continued acceptance of the product,
competition from substitute products and larger companies, protection or proprietary technology, strategic relationships and dependence on key individuals.

The life science industry is characterized by frequent and extensive litigation and administrative proceedings over patent and other intellectual property rights.
Whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, the determination of which is often difficult to predict, and the outcome may
be uncertain until the court has entered final judgment and all appeals are exhausted. The Company’s competitors may assert that its products or the use of the
Company’s products are covered by United States or foreign patents held by them.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis and market being determined as the lower of
replacement cost or net realizable value. The Company records write-downs of inventories which are obsolete or in excess of anticipated demand or market
value based on consideration of product lifecycle stage, technology trends, product development plans and assumptions about future demand and market
conditions. Inventories in the life sciences market, including the Company’s inventories, are subject to technological change or obsolescence; therefore,
utilization of existing inventories may differ from the Company’s estimates.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, generally between three to five years, or the lease term of the respective assets. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as
incurred, and improvements and betterments are capitalized. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are
removed from the balance sheet, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations in the period realized.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for indicators of possible impairment by comparison of the carrying amounts to future net undiscounted cash
flows expected to be generated by such assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Should an impairment exist, the impairment loss would be measured based on the excess carrying value of the asset over the asset’s fair value or discounted
estimates of future cash flows. The Company has not identified any such impairment losses to date.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives the majority of its revenue from product sales of instrument and the related reagents, service contracts and other source of revenue. The
Company sells its products directly to end customers as well as through distributors. Revenue from direct product sales to customers is recognized when
delivery of the products has occurred, provided that persuasive evidence of an arrangement with the customer exists, the selling price is fixed or determinable,
remaining obligations are insignificant and collectability is reasonably assured. When a sale combines multiple elements upon delivery or performance of
multiple products and/or services, the Company allocates revenue for transactions or collaborations that include multiple elements to each unit of accounting
based on its relative fair value, and recognizes revenue for each unit of accounting when the revenue recognition criteria have been met. The Company
follows the selling price hierarchy as outlined in the guidance Revenue Recognition (ASC Topic 605) – Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements. The
guidance provides a hierarchy to determine the selling price to be used for allocating revenue to deliverables: (i) vendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOE”), (ii) third-party evidence (“TPE”) if available and when VSOE is not available, and (iii) best estimate of the selling price (“BESP”) if neither
VSOE nor TPE is available. We use BESP to determine the standalone selling price for such deliverables. We have an established process for developing
BESP, which incorporates, pricing practices, historical selling prices, the effect of market conditions as well as entity-specific factors. We monitor and
evaluate estimated selling price on a regular basis to ensure that changes in circumstances are accounted for in a timely manner. We may modify our pricing
in the future, which could result in changes to our BESP. The services element of our contracts represents an incidental portion of the total contract price.

The evidence of an arrangement generally consists of a purchase order received from the customer. Transfer of title and risk of ownership generally occurs
when the product is shipped to the customer or the customer receives the product, depending on the shipping terms of the order. The selling price for all sales
are fixed and agreed with the customer prior to shipment.
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Installation is considered inconsequential to the earnings process for instrument sales, and therefore we generally recognize revenue when transfer of title and
risk of ownership occurs. In certain cases, a payment is not billable until we have fulfilled our system installation obligations and received customer
acceptance. In that event we charge unbilled receivables until installation and billing is complete. Revenue recognized for delivered elements is limited to
amounts billed which are not contingent on future performance obligations. The Company’s customers have no return rights or post-sale rights, other than
limited warranty privileges.

Service revenue includes extended warranty agreement, installation, preventative maintenance service, and additional training. Revenue from extended
warranty agreements is deferred and recognized ratably over the life of the contract. Service revenues are less than 10% of consolidated net revenues for the
years ending December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the nine months ending September 30, 2013 and 2012. Warranty expenses associated with extended warranty
contracts for systems are recorded as cost of revenue and revenue as incurred.

Revenue also includes shipping and handling charges billed to customers. The related shipping costs are included in cost of revenue.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at net invoice value. The Company considers amounts past due based on the related terms of the invoice. The Company
reviews its exposure to amounts receivable and provides an allowance for specific amounts if collectability is no longer reasonably assured. Accounts are
written off when deemed uncollectible. Based on the Company’s analysis an allowance for doubtful accounts was not deemed necessary at September 30,
2013 and December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred Revenue consists principally of revenue from sales of extended warranties, in one, two or three year increments, to customers that are amortized on
a straight line basis over the term of the warranty, and partially prepaid instrument orders.

Reserve for Product Warranties

The Company provides a one-year warranty on instruments. Additionally, the Company provides a warranty on its consumables through the expiration date,
which ranges from six to twelve months after the manufacture date. The Company establishes an accrual for estimated warranty expenses based on historical
experience as well as anticipated product performance. The Company periodically reviews the adequacy of its warranty reserve, and adjusts, if necessary, the
warranty percentage and accrual based on actual experience and estimated costs to be incurred. Warranty expense is recorded as a component of cost of
revenue.

Royalties

The Company licenses certain technology with various third parties pursuant to license agreements that provide for periodic royalty payments based on
instrument and/or reagent revenue, subject to annual minimum payments of $306,670. Payments made to a related party under such contracts are disclosed in
the related parties’ footnote (see Note 10).
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Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. There were no material advertising costs recorded for the nine months periods ended September 30,
2013 or 2012, and years ended December 31, 2012 or 2011.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist of compensation costs, stock-based compensation, engineering and research expenses, manufacturing expenses
incurred to build products for testing, allocated facilities costs, consulting fees and other expenses incurred to sustain the Company’s overall research and
development programs. All research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method whereby deferred tax asset and liability accounts are determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred tax assets when management estimates, based on available
objective evidence, that it is more likely than not that the benefit will not be realized for the deferred tax assets. ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes,
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax
return. Under this guidance, the impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more-
likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50%
likelihood of being sustained. The Company additionally considers its uncertain tax positions on an annual basis and provides reserves where necessary for
any potential tax exposures. At September 30, 2013, the Company did not have any reserves for uncertain tax positions (Unaudited). The Company includes
interest and penalties recognized in accordance with ASC 740 in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) as a component of income tax
expense.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and Liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that use the local currency as their functional currency are translated to US Dollar at exchange rates in effect at
the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at weighted average exchange rates in effect during the period. The resulting unrealized gains
and losses from foreign currency translation are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate component of stockholders’ deficit
in the consolidated balance sheet and in comprehensive loss in a separate component in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in interest and other expense and interest and other income in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss) which were ($18,870), ($24,822), ($23,706), and ($81,142) for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012
(Unaudited), and years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company generally conducts business, including sales to foreign customers, in the functional currency. As a result, the company has limited foreign
currency exchange rate risk. In cases where the company has a foreign currency exposure, the company might enter in a forward contract to manage foreign
currency exchange risk. The Company does not hold or issue derivatives for speculative or trading purposes. Gains or losses on our forward exchange
contracts, as well as the offsetting losses or gains on the related hedged receivables and payables, are included in other expense in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income (loss). The total notional amount of the forward contract was EUR 1,152,960 in exchange for CAD 1,576,867 at September 30,
2013 (Unaudited). Gains or losses on this contract have been insignificant.
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Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) generally represents all changes in stockholders’ deficit except those resulting from investments and distributions to
stockholders. The Company’s unrealized gain or loss on currency translation adjustment is the principal component of other comprehensive income (loss) that
is excluded from the reported net income (loss) for all periods presented.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation arrangements with employees in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. ASC
718 requires the recognition of compensation expense, using a fair value-based method, for costs related to all share-based payments including stock options.
ASC 718 requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. All option grants
issued have been valued and are expensed on a straight-line basis over the service period.

The Company accounts for equity instruments issued to nonemployees in accordance with the provisions of ASC 505-50, Equity-Based Payments to Non
Employees. The equity instruments, consisting of stock options, are valued using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The measurement of stock-based
compensation is subject to periodic adjustments as the underlying equity instruments vest. The Company records the expense of such compensation based on
the estimated fair value of the equity instrument using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The value of the equity instrument is charged to earnings over
the service period.

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liability

We have accounted for freestanding warrants to purchase shares of our convertible preferred stock as a liability on the consolidated balance sheets. The
convertible preferred stock warrants are recorded as a liability because the underlying shares of convertible preferred stock are optionally redeemable and,
therefore, may obligate us to transfer assets at some point in the future. The warrants are recorded at fair value upon issuance and are subject to
remeasurement to fair value at each balance sheet date, with any change in fair value recognized as a separate line item on the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss). We will continue to adjust the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability to its estimated fair value at each
reporting period until the earlier of the 1) exercise of the warrants, 2) expiration of the warrants, or 3) other triggering events as applicable to the terms of the
warrant agreements (see Note 8).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the
inputs used to measure their fair value. Hierarchical levels which are directly related to the amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to the valuation
of these assets or liabilities are as follows:

Level 1 – unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access as of the measurement date.

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are directly observable for the asset or liability or indirectly observable through
corroboration with observable market data.
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Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability only used when there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair
value.

The Company follows the ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements, fair value hierarchy to measure its financial instruments. Assets and liabilities measured at
fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires management to make judgments and consider factors specific to the
asset or liability.

The following table represents the fair value hierarchy for the Company’s financial assets and liabilities held by value on a recurring basis:

As of September 30, 2013 (Unaudited):
 

   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3    Total  
Liabilities         
Warrant liabilities (Note 8)   $ —      $ —      $16,978    $16,978 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ —      $ —      $16,978    $16,978 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The Company did not record any financial assets or liabilities at fair value at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. ASU 2013-2
requires an entity to present reclassification adjustments from other comprehensive income (loss) either in the financial statements or in the notes to the
financial statements. The new guidance is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013 for non-public entities, and is applied
prospectively. We are currently assessing the impact of this new guidance.

In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a
Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists (ASU 2013-11), which provides guidance on the financial
statement presentation of unrecognized tax benefits when a net operation loss (“NOL”) carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists.
ASU 2013-11 provides that a liability related to an unrecognized tax benefit would be presented as a reduction of a deferred tax asset for a NOL carryforward,
a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward if such settlement is required or expected in the event the uncertain tax position is disallowed. The new guidance
becomes effective for non-public entities after December 15, 2014 and it should be applied prospectively to unrecognized tax benefits that exist at the
effective date with retrospective application permitted. We are currently assessing the impact of this new guidance.
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3. Balance Sheet Components

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company did not hold cash equivalents at September 30, 2013 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Inventory

Inventory consists of the following:
 

   
December 31,

2011    
December 31,

2012    
September 30,

2013  
           (Unaudited)  
Raw materials   $ 441,205    $1,332,399    $ 2,548,829  
Work-in-process    —       —       273,637  
Finished goods    28,863     175,063     148,859  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total inventory   $ 470,068    $1,507,462    $ 2,971,325  
    

 

    

 

    

 

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consist of the following:
 

   
December 31,

2011   
December 31,

2012   
September 30,

2013  
         (Unaudited)  
Machinery and equipment   $ 462,270  $ 733,858  $ 959,772 
Computer equipment and software    120,028   168,785   183,212 
Furniture and fixtures    106,787   152,744   149,442 
Leasehold improvements    438,472   481,558   604,440 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total    1,127,557   1,536,945   1,896,866 
Less: Accumulated depreciation    (180,881)   (588,437)   (905,681) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Property and equipment, net   $ 946,676  $ 948,508  $ 991,185 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Depreciation expense for the nine months period ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (Unaudited) and years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $
332,807, $303,786, $403,476 and $180,786, respectively.
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Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following:
 

   
December 31,

2011    
December 31,

2012    
September 30,

2013  
           (Unaudited)  
Early exercised stock options subject to repurchase rights   $ 282,111    $ 212,805    $ 161,990  
Accrued warranty reserve    157,273     283,149     712,847  
Accrued royalty expense    129,718     220,615     414,024  
Accrued legal expense, sales taxes and other    237,080     147,053     542,281  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total accrued liabilities   $ 806,182    $ 863,622    $ 1,831,142  
    

 

    

 

    

 

 
4. Commitments and Contingencies

In June 2011, The Company entered into a five year lease for office and laboratory facilities in Sunnyvale, California which expires in July 2016. In August
2012 the Company extended the lease agreement for its Canadian subsidiary to January 31, 2016. In the same agreement, the subsidiary also entered into an
agreement to expand the space under lease. The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the non-cancellable lease term and records the
difference between cash rent payments and the recognition of rent expense as a deferred rent liability. Where leases contain escalation clauses, rent
abatements and/or concessions, such as rent holidays and landlord or tenant incentives or allowances, the Company applies them in the determination of
straight-line rent expense over the lease term. Rent expense for the nine months period ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (Unaudited), and year ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $244,286, $200,971, $269,496 and $203,029, respectively. Deferred rent as of September 30, 2013 (Unaudited) and
December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $68,140, $40,647 and $38,209, respectively, and is recorded in Accrued Liabilities on the Balance Sheet.

Future minimum lease payments under the non-cancelable operating leases as of September 30, 2013 are as follows:
 

   
September 30,

2013  
   (Unaudited)  
Three months ending December 31, 2013   $ 84,354  
Twelve months ending December 31:   
2014    345,704  
2015    357,770  
2016    127,873  

    
 

Total minimum lease payments   $ 915,701  
    

 

Research Collaborations

The Company is a party to one research collaboration with the University of Toronto granting agency as of September 30, 2013, and the Company is a party
to four research collaborations with the University of
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Toronto and Canada granting agencies, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. The agreements provide research funding to the University of Toronto in fields
related to the Company’s technology which was developed at the University including the Cytof mass cytometer and MaxPar reagents. Under the agreements,
the company is required to provide primarily in-kind contributions consisting of R&D services performed by Company employees at the Company’s Canada
facility. These activities do not have a material impact on the Company’s operations and the Company shares in any benefits of new technology created by the
research. The Company expenses these services as R&D expense as incurred. As of September 30, 2013, the Company’s total commitments over the two
years remaining under this agreement amounts to $50,000 of cash contributions and $50,000 of in-kind contributions.

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of its business activities. The Company accrues a
liability for such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated.

Warranty

Changes in our accrued warranty reserve and the expense incurred under our warranties were as follows:
 

Balance, December 31, 2010   $ —   
Warranty cost charged to cost of revenue    171,570 
Utilization of warranty    (14,297) 

    
 

Balance, December 31, 2011    157,273 
Warranty cost charged to cost of revenue    422,897 
Utilization of warranty    (297,021) 

    
 

Balance, December 31, 2012    283,149 
Warranty cost charged to cost of revenue (Unaudited)    854,886 
Utilization of warranty (Unaudited)    (425,188) 

    
 

Balance, September 30, 2013 (Unaudited)   $ 712,847 
    

 

 
5. Income Taxes

The components of income (loss) before income taxes are as follows:
 

   
December 31,

2011   
December 31,

2012   

September 30,
2012

(Unaudited)   

September 30,
2013

(Unaudited)  
Income (Loss) before income taxes:      
Domestic   $ (986,738)  $(1,082,826)  $(1,036,729)  $ 771,181  
Foreign    (2,212,019)   (1,544,932)   (1,260,855)   775,480  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total Income (Loss) before income taxes   $(3,198,757)  $(2,627,758)  $(2,297,584)  $ 1,546,661  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The Company recorded tax a benefit of $211,147 related to foreign entities for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and a tax provision of $ 37,436 for
the nine months ended September 30, 2013. For the year ended December 31, 2012, $48,984, of tax benefit has been recorded related to foreign entities. For
the year ended December 31, 2011, no tax expense has been recorded because of the Company’s loss from operations and a full valuation against net deferred
tax assets.
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The provision for income taxes for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 and years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 consisted of the
following:
 

   Years Ended   Nine Months Ended  

   
December 31,

2011    
December 31,

2012   

September 30,
2012

(Unaudited)   

September 30,
2013

(Unaudited)  
Current:       

Federal   $ —      $ —    $ —     $ 28,886  
State    —       —     —      2,236  
Foreign    —       (48,984)   (211,147)   6,314  

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total current    —       (48,984)   (211,147)   37,436  
Deferred       

Federal    —       —     —      —    
State    —       —     —      —    
Foreign    —       —     —      —    

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total deferred    —       —     —      —    
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Provision (benefit) for income taxes   $ —      $ (48,984)  $ (211,147)  $ 37,436  
    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

The difference between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate (34 percent) to income
(loss) before taxes is explained below:
 
   Years Ended   Nine Months Ended  

   
December 31,

2011   
December 31,

2012   

September 30,
2012

(Unaudited)   

September 30,
2013

(Unaudited)  
Tax at federal statutory rate (benefit)   $(1,087,396)  $ (893,437)  $ (781,178)  $ 524,412 
State income tax, net of federal benefit    —     —     —     1,084 
Valuation allowance    330,795   358,285   345,626   (241,242) 
Foreign earnings taxed at other than U.S. rates    751,905   476,292   217,544   (257,349) 
Stock Based Compensation    4,139   3,141   1,703   4,133 
Other    557   6,735   5,158   6,398 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Provision (benefit) for income taxes   $ —    $ (48,984)  $ (211,147)  $ 37,436 
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Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:
 

   
December 31,

2011   
December 31,

2012   

September 30,
2012

(Unaudited)   

September 30,
2013

(Unaudited)  
Deferred Tax Assets:      

Federal and State Net Operating Losses   $ 304,000  $ 628,000  $ 610,000  $ 70,000 
Foreign Net Operating losses    625,000   1,177,000   909,000   818,000 
Research and Development Credits    3,000   613,000   460,000   893,000 
Share-Based Compensation    52,000   22,000   18,000   35,000 
AMT    —     —     —     31,000 
Excess tax over book basis    —     —     10,000   —   
Deferred revenue    —     —     —     213,000 
Warranty Liability    57,000   50,000   36,000   84,000 
Non-deductible accruals and other    —     111,000   52,000   108,000 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Gross Deferred Tax Assets    1,041,000   2,601,000   2,095,000   2,252,000 
Less: Valuation Allowance    (1,028,000)   (2,576,000)   (2,095,000)   (2,197,000) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Deferred Tax Assets    13,000   25,000   —     55,000 
Deferred Tax Liabilities:      

Excess book over tax basis in fixed assets    (13,000)   (25,000)   —     (55,000) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

  $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —   
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portions or all of the deferred tax assets
will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible. Based on the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the period in which
the temporary differences are deductible, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance for substantially all of its deferred tax assets, except to the extent
of deferred tax liabilities, as it is unable to conclude that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets in excess of the deferred tax liabilities will be
realizable. The valuation allowance for the nine months periods ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (Unaudited) is $2,197,000 and $2,095,000, respectively.
The valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 increased by $1,548,000 and $1,028,000, respectively.

As of September 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $147,000 and $1,666,000, respectively; and
state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $369,000 and $747,000, respectively, available to reduce future taxable income (Unaudited). Under
current tax law, net operating loss carryforwards available in any given year may be limited upon the occurrence of certain events, including changes in
ownership interest resulting from significant stock transactions. The earliest carryforwards expire in varying amounts beginning in 2030 for federal and state
purposes, respectively.
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As of September 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company has $807,000 and $223,000, respectively, of net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce future
Canadian taxable income. The earliest carryforwards expire in varying amounts beginning in 2030 for Canadian tax purposes.

As of September 30, 2013, the Company intends to indefinitely reinvest the earnings of certain foreign corporations. If such earnings were distributed, the
Company would accrue an additional income tax expense of approximately $1.1 million.

The Company has determined there are no material uncertain income tax positions that should be accounted for on the adoption of ASC 740-10. Therefore,
the Company did not record any unrecognized tax benefits for the nine months period ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (Unaudited) and years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011. It is the Company’s policy to record the interest and penalty associated with the unrecognized tax benefits as part of the income
tax expense.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, California, Canada, and the United Kingdom. The Company’s income tax returns
beginning with the 2010 tax year remain subject to examination by the tax authorities.

 
6. Debt

On April 15, 2013 the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with Comerica Bank for a total of $5 million of debt financing. The loan
agreement provides for a term loan (“Growth Capital Advance”) of $1.5 million fully funded at closing to be repaid in monthly installments of principal and
interest commencing on May 1, 2014 through maturity date on October 1, 2016. In addition, the loan agreement provides for a revolving line of credit up to
$3.5 million based on a borrowing formula applied to the Company’s accounts receivable balances, with a maturity date of April 19, 2014. Interest on this
credit facility is payable at the prime rate plus 3.5% for the term loan, and the prime rate plus 2.5% for the revolver. On the revolving line of credit there is an
unused facility fee of 0.25% of the difference between the Revolving Line and the average outstanding principal balance of the Obligations under the
Revolving Line.

The Comerica Agreement contains various covenants, including covenants related to the delivery of financial and other information, the maintenance of
monthly financial covenants, and limitations on dispositions, mergers or consolidations and other corporate activities. The Company must also notify
Comerica Bank of any returns, recoveries, disputes, or claims involving amounts over $250,000. The Company is also restricted on the amount of cash its
foreign subsidiaries may hold in the UK. The Company is currently in compliance with all financial covenants (Unaudited). No principal payments were
made on the term loan during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 per the terms of the Agreement. Interest expense recognized during this period in
conjunction with the term loan was $78,977.

In connection with the Loan Agreement, the Company granted Comerica Bank a security interest in all personal property held in the United States and issued
warrants to purchase 16,667 shares of Series A-2 convertible preferred stock. The outstanding loan balance was reduced by the fair value of the warrants at
issuance of $16,978, which was recorded as a debt discount and amortized over the term of the loan (See Note 8).
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The table below summarizes the aggregate outstanding balances related to the Company’s note payable as of September 30, 2013:
 

Note payable outstanding balance   $1,500,000 
Unamortized debt discount    (67,528) 

    
 

Note payable, net of debt discount   $1,432,472 
    

 

Presented as:
 

Note payable, current portion, net of debt discount   $ 227,491 
Note payable, net of current portion and debt discount    1,204,981 

    
 

  $1,432,472 
    

 

At September 30, 2013, scheduled future minimum principal payments under the outstanding notes payable are as follows (in thousands):
 

Years ending December 31:   
2014   $ 400 
2015    600 
2016    500 

    
 

   1,500 
Less current portion    (227) 
Less debt discount    (68) 

    
 

Long-term debt   $1,205 
    

 

Guarantee Facility

In July 2013 the Company entered into a one-year $250,000 Foreign Exchange Facility Guarantee with Export Development of Canada (“EDC”) to cover
margin requirements in relation to foreign currency trades. If any claims are made under the guarantee facility, the Company agrees to pay interest to EDC on
any such amounts at a rate per annum equal to the prime rate prevailing at the date of demand. Prime rate is defined as the prevailing rate charged by EDC’s
bank to its most creditworthy customers. The facility also contains various covenants, including covenants related to the delivery of quarterly financial and
other information. As of September 30, 2013, the Company has not made use of the Guarantee facility.

 
7. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Under the Company’s Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue up to 21,700,000 shares of redeemable
convertible preferred stock (“Series A Preferred”).

As of September 30, 2013, redeemable convertible preferred stock consists of the following (Unaudited):
 

   

Number of
Shares

Authorized    

Number of
Shares

Issued and
Outstanding    Carrying Value   

Liquidation
Preference 
per Share  

Series A-1    16,700,000     8,131,829    $ 7,700,264    $ 1.00  
Series A-2    5,000,000     4,937,712     6,653,660     1.35  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total    21,700,000     13,069,541    $14,353,924    $ 1.13  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock has redemption features that are not solely within
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the Company’s control such as in the event of a deemed liquidation event because the holders of the outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock
control the vote of the Board and stockholders and could therefore choose to proceed with a liquidation or dissolution of the Company resulting in the
redemption of their redeemable convertible preferred stock. As redemption of the redeemable convertible preferred stock through liquidation is outside of the
Company’s control, all shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock are classified as mezzanine-level equity in the balance sheet.

Dividends

The holders of shares of Series A Preferred shall be entitled to receive noncumulative dividends of $0.08 per share, if and when declared by the Board of
Directors. These dividends are paid in advance of any distributions to the Common Stock. No dividends have been declared through September 30, 2013.

Liquidation

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the Company, including a merger, acquisition, or consolidation, the holders of the Series A-1 and
Series A-2 redeemable convertible preferred stock shall be entitled to a liquidation preference per share equal to $1.00 per share and $1.35 per share,
respectively, plus any declared but unpaid dividends, prior and in preference to any distribution to common stock holders. If upon the Liquidation Event, the
assets to be distributed among the holders of the Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock are insufficient to permit the payment to such holders of the
full Liquidation Preference for their shares, then the holders of shares of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock shall share ratably in any
distribution of the assets available for distribution in proportion to the respective amounts which would otherwise be payable in respect of the shares held by
them upon such distribution if all amounts payable on or with respect to such shares were paid in full. After the payment to the holders of Series A
redeemable convertible preferred stock of the full preferential amount specified above, any remaining assets of the Company shall be distributed pro rata
among the holders of the Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock and the Common Stock according to the number of shares of Common Stock (and
Common Stock into which the shares of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock could be converted at the time of distribution) held by each such
holder until, with respect to holders of the Series A Preferred, such holders shall have received an aggregate per share of three times the applicable Original
Issue Price. Thereafter, no further payments shall be made to the holders of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock by reason thereof and any
remaining assets of the Company shall be distributed with equal priority and pro rata among the holders of the Company’s Common Stock.

Voting

The holders of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock shall have the same voting rights as the holders of common stock, the holders of Preferred
Stock and the holders of Common Stock shall vote together and not as separate classes. Each holder of shares of Series A redeemable convertible preferred
stock shall be entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which such shares of Series A redeemable convertible
preferred stock held by such holder could then be converted. The holders of shares of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock shall be entitled to vote
on all matters on which the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to vote other than those matters upon which, pursuant to applicable law or this
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of Common Stock are entitled to vote separately as a class. For so long as there are
outstanding at least 2,000,000 shares of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock (as adjusted for stock splits, reclassifications or similar events), the
holders of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, voting as a separate class, shall be entitled to elect two members of the Company’s Board of
Directors.
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Conversion

Each share of preferred stock shall be convertible, at the option of the holder at any time after the date of issuance into the number of fully paid and non-
assessable shares of common stock as determined by dividing the original issue price per share of each series of preferred stock by the conversion price per
share in effect for the shares of each series of preferred stock at the time of conversion. The original conversion price per share of Series A redeemable
convertible preferred stock shall be the original issue price, subject to adjustment, as described in the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation.

Each share of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock shall automatically be converted into shares of Common Stock at the then effective applicable
Conversion Price: the closing of a public offering of common stock at a per share price of a least $6.75 per share with gross proceeds of not less than
$60,000,000, or the consent of the holders of at least a sixty percent of the outstanding shares of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock.

 
8. Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

In April 2013, in connection with the receipt of a loan from Comerica Bank, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Loan and Security Agreement (the
Comerica Agreement), we granted Comerica a warrant to purchase 16,667 shares of our Series A-2 redeemable convertible preferred stock for the original
Series A-2 offering price of $1.35 per share. The warrants were immediately exercisable and expire the earlier of April 19, 2023, acquisition, or a liquidation
event.

The Company recorded the initial fair value of all of the warrants issued as a liability, and a reduction of the outstanding loan balance. Upon the earlier of the
exercise of the warrants or the completion of a liquidation event, including the completion of an acquisition or initial public offering in which the shares
underlying the warrants would convert from the related shared of preferred stock into shares of common stock, the preferred stock warrant liability will be
remeasured to fair value and any remaining liability will be reclassified to additional paid-in capital. At each reporting date, the Company remeasured the
convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities to fair value using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair market value of the warrants using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model at grant date was $16,978. The Company remeasured the fair value of warrants at September 30, 2013, and the
remeasurement adjustment was immaterial (Unaudited).

The estimated grant date fair values of the warrants were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, based on the following assumptions as of
grant date and September 30, 2013:
 

   
April 19, 2013

(Unaudited)   

September 30,
2013

(Unaudited)  
Expected warrant term (in years)    10    9.6  
Expected volatility    70%   69% 
Risk-free interest rate    1.76%   2.81% 
Dividend yield     —    

 
9. Stockholders’ Deficit

Common Stock

The Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation authorizes the Company to issue up to 26,700,000 shares of common stock. Common stockholders are
entitled to dividends as and when declared by the Board of Directors, subject to the rights of holders of all classes of stock outstanding having priority rights
as to dividends. There have been no dividends declared to date. The holder of each share of common stock is entitled to one vote.
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Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

The Company has reserved shares of common stock for future issuances as follows:
 

   
December 31,

2012    

September 30,
2013

(Unaudited)  
Series A-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding    8,131,829     8,131,829  
Series A-2 redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding    4,937,712     4,937,712  
Warrants exercisable into Series A-2 redeemable convertible preferred stock    —       16,667  
Common stock options issued and outstanding    609,238     672,868  
Common stock available for future grants    102,668     27,268  

    
 

    
 

Total shares    13,781,447     13,786,344  
    

 

    

 

Stock Option Plan

The Company has reserved 2,500,000 shares of its common stock under its 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2010 Option Plan”). Options granted under the
2010 Option Plan may be either incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options. Incentive stock options (“ISO”) may be granted only to Company
employees (including officers and directors). Nonqualified stock options (“NSO”) may be granted to Company employees and consultants. As of
September 30, 2013, 27,268 shares of common stock remain available for issuance to officers, directors, employees and consultants pursuant to the 2010
Option Plan.

Options to purchase the Company’s common stock may be granted at a price not less than 100% of the fair market value in the case of ISO or NSO, except
for an employee or nonemployee with options who owns more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company in which case the
exercise price shall be no less than 110% of the fair market value per share on the grant date. The Company determines the fair market value of its common
stock with the use of an outside specialist and with assistance from the Board of Directors. Options granted are exercisable upon vesting unless otherwise
designated for early exercise by the Board of Directors at the time of grant, and have various vesting terms as determined by the Board of Directors. Options
expire as determined by the Board of Directors but not more than ten years after the date of grant.
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Activity under the Company’s stock option plan is set forth below:
 
      Outstanding Options  

   

Shares
Available for

Grant   
Number of

Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price 
Balance, December 31, 2010    —     —     —    
Shares authorized    2,500,000   —     —    
Options granted    (2,150,962)   2,150,962  $ 0.17  
Options exercised    —     (1,653,695)  $ 0.17  
Options canceled    4,000   (4,000)  $ 0.18  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, December 31, 2011    353,038   493,267  $ 0.17  
Options granted    (257,000)   257,000  $ 0.24  
Options exercised    —     (134,399)  $ 0.23  
Options canceled    6,630   (6,630)  $ 0.23  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, December 31, 2012    102,668   609,238  $ 0.18  
Options granted (Unaudited)    (78,000)   78,000  $ 0.20  
Options exercised (Unaudited)    —     (11,770)  $ 0.21  
Options canceled (Unaudited)    2,600   (2,600)  $ 0.21  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, September 30, 2013 (Unaudited)    27,268   672,868  $ 0.18  
    

 

   

 

   

 

The options outstanding, exercisable and vested by exercise price at December 31, 2012 and September 30, 2013 (unaudited) were as follows:
 

Options Outstanding and Exercisable at 
December 31, 2012  

Options Vested at 
December 31, 2012

Exercise Price  Number Outstanding  
Weighted Average Remaining

Contractual Life (in years)  
Number 

Vested and Excisable  
Weighted Average Exercise

Price
 $ 0.15   207,667 8.13 101,749 $ 0.15
 $ 0.18   257,571 8.71 78,488 $ 0.18
 $ 0.24   144,000 9.50 —   —  

      

 609,238  180,237 
      

Options Outstanding and Exercisable at 
September 30, 2013 

(Unaudited)  

Options Vested at 
September 30, 2013

(Unaudited)

Exercise Price  Number Outstanding  
Weighted Average Remaining

Contractual Life (in years)  
Number 

Vested and Excisable  
Weighted Average Exercise

Price
 $ 0.15   207,667 7.38 140,684 $ 0.15
 $ 0.18   250,471 7.96 125,514 $ 0.18
 $ 0.24   137,230 8.75 41,406 $ 0.24
 $ 0.33   77,500 9.56 —   —  

      

 672,868  307,604 
      

 
-25-



DVS Sciences, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Under the terms of the individual option grants, options are exercisable upon vesting which is generally four years.

Stock-Based Compensation for Employees

During the nine months ended September 30, 2013 (Unaudited) and year ended December 31, 2012, the Company granted stock options to employees to
purchase 78,000 and 174,000 shares of common stock, respectively. The weighted average fair value of the employee stock options granted in the nine
months ended September 30, 2013 (Unaudited) and the year ended December 31, 2013 was $0.33 and $0.24 per share, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted stock options to employees to purchase 2,035,962 shares of common stock. The weighted
average fair value of the employee stock options granted in 2011 was $0.17 per share.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The determination of the fair value of stock-based
payment awards on the date of grant is affected by the stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These
variables include expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors, risk-free interest
rates and expected dividends. The estimated grant date fair values of the employee stock options were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, based on the following assumptions:
 

   
December 31,

2011   
December 31,

2012   

September 30,
2013

(Unaudited)  
Expected option term (in years)    6    6    6  
Expected volatility    69%   70%   82% 
Risk-free interest rate    1.6%   1.2%   1.4% 
Dividend yield    —      —      —    

Expected Term

The expected term of stock options represents the average period the stock options are expected to remain outstanding and is based on the vesting term,
contractual terms and historical exercise and vesting information used to develop reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and post-vesting
employment termination behavior. The expected term was determined using the “simplified method” in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
(“SAB”) 107.

Volatility

The expected stock price volatility assumptions for the Company’s stock options for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 was determined by examining the historical volatilities for industry peers, as the Company did not have any trading history for
the Company’s common stock.

Risk-Free Rate

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on the U.S. Treasury instruments whose term was consistent with the expected term of the Company’s stock
options.
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Dividend Yield

The expected dividend assumption is based on the Company’s history and expectation of no dividend payouts.

Forfeitures

ASC 718 also requires the Company to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant, and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ
from those estimates. The Company uses historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense only for
those awards that are expected to vest. All stock-based payment awards are amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards,
which are generally the vesting periods. If the Company’s actual forfeiture rate is materially different from its estimate, the stock-based compensation expense
could be significantly different from what the Company has recorded.

As of September 30, 2013 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2012, there was $154,369 and $184,541 of total unrecognized compensation costs, net of estimated
forfeitures, related to unvested stock option awards, which are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.2 and 2.8 years, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation for Nonemployees

Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted to nonemployees is recognized as the stock options are earned. The Company believes
that the fair value of the stock options is more reliably measurable than the fair value of the services received. The fair value of the stock options granted to
nonemployees is calculated at each reporting date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model as prescribed by ASC 718. The fair value was calculated
using the following assumptions:
 

   
December 31,

2011   
December 31,

2012   

September 30,
2013

(Unaudited)  
Expected option term (in years)    9.5    9.1    9.4  
Expected volatility    70%   74%   74% 
Risk-free interest rate    1.8%   1.5%   2.5% 
Dividend yield    —      —      —    

Stock-based compensation expense charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for options granted to nonemployees for the nine
months ended September 30, 2013 (Unaudited) and 2012, the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $8,796, $4,348, $6,746 and $2,532, respectively.

Total Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense of $55,704, $47,339, $61,780 and $22,104 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (Unaudited), the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, was recorded in Selling, General & Administrative expense.

Unvested Early Exercised Stock Options

Under the 2010 Plan, the Company allows employees to exercise options prior to vesting. The Company has the right to repurchase at the original purchase
price any unvested (but issued) common shares upon termination of service of an employee. The consideration received for an early exercise of an option is
considered to be a deposit of the exercise price and the related dollar amount is recorded as a liability. The shares and liability are reclassified into equity on a
ratable basis as the award vests. The Company recorded a liability in accrued liabilities of $161,990, $212,805 and $282,111, respectively, relating to options
for
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858,656, 1,179,599 and 1,632,863 shares of common stock that were exercised and unvested as of September 30, 2013 (Unaudited), December 31, 2012 and
2011, respectively. These shares were subject to a repurchase right held by the Company and are included in issued and outstanding shares as of
September 30, 2013, December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Activity related to unvested early exercised stock options is set forth below:
 
   

Number of 
Option Shares  

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price  

Balance, December 31, 2010    —     —   
Options granted and exercised    1,653,695  $ 0.17  
Early exercise options vested    (20,832)  $ 0.15  

    
 

   
 

Balance, December 31, 2011    1,632,863  $ 0.17  
Options granted and exercised    108,000  $ 0.24  
Early exercise options vested    (561,264)  $ 0.17  

    
 

   
 

Unvested at December 31, 2012    1,179,599  $ 0.18  
Options granted and exercised (Unaudited)    —     —    
Early exercise options vested (Unaudited)    (320,943)  $ 0.17  

    
 

   
 

Unvested at September 30, 2013 (Unaudited)    858,656  $ 0.18  
    

 

   

 

 
10. Related Parties

In June 2008 the Company entered into an agreement with the Ontario Institute for Cancer Research (the “OICR”) in which the OICR agreed to provide
funding to the Company for specific research projects related to the development and commercialization of the Company’s products. In return, the Company
agreed to pay the OICR royalties based on gross product revenue as defined in the agreement. The royalty obligations continue until the earlier of March 31,
2028 or the expiration of the related patents. Related expense is recorded on the income statement as Cost of Goods Sold. The amount paid or accrued in 2013
and 2012 under this agreement was $112,652 and $50,332 of which $49,532 and $14,643 was outstanding.

During 2013 the Company sold a CyTOF instrument and reagents to a bio-pharmaceutical customer which is also an investor in the Company and is
represented on the Company’s Board of Directors. The total sales to the customer during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was $615,504. The
Company believes the sales prices were reflective of the fair value of the items sold.

 
11. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) Savings Plan (the 401(k) Plan) which qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue
Code. Under the 401(k) Plan, participating employees may elect to contribute up to 100% of their eligible compensation, subject to certain limitations. The
Company has made matching contributions to the employees.

 
12. Subsequent Events

For our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and for the years then ended, we evaluated subsequent events through June 7,
2013, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

 
13. Subsequent Events (Unaudited)

In October 2013, the company amended its 2010 option plan by increasing the common shares reserved for
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future issuance under the 2010 option by 125,000 shares (Unaudited). We have evaluated subsequent events through January 29, 2014, the date at which the
unaudited interim financial statements were available to be issued.
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Exhibit 99.4

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL DATA

The following sets forth certain unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data giving effect to the planned merger, or the DVS acquisition, of
Fluidigm Corporation, or Fluidigm, and DVS Sciences, Inc., or DVS. Under the terms of the merger agreement, upon consummation of the merger, all
outstanding shares of capital stock of DVS will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive merger consideration with a value equal to approximately
$207.5 million in the aggregate, subject to certain adjustments specified in the merger agreement. Subject to certain adjustments specified in the merger
agreement, approximately $125.0 million of the acquisition consideration payable to DVS stockholders will be payable in cash. Approximately $82.5 million
of the acquisition consideration will be comprised of a number of shares of Fluidigm’s common stock determined based on the volume weighted average
closing price of Fluidigm common stock during the five trading days ending on the third trading day before the closing of the merger, provided that the
applicable number of shares will be determined within a collar of 10% above or 10% below the volume weighted average closing price of Fluidigm common
stock during the five trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to the signing of the merger agreement. After applying certain adjustments
specified in the merger agreement, on a pro forma basis as of September 30, 2013, the total consideration is approximately $202.4 million. The acquisition
consideration will include cash of approximately $119.7 million and the issuance of Fluidigm common shares with a fair value of approximately $78.9
million. A portion of the Fluidigm shares to be issued in connection with the acquisition will be placed in escrow and will be paid to the DVS security holders
less any claims for indemnification by Fluidigm as provided in the merger agreement. The DVS acquisition is expected to close in February 2014 subject to
various contingencies including the sale and issuance by Fluidigm of approximately $175.0 million aggregate principal amount of its convertible notes, or the
notes, to fund the cash portion of acquisition consideration.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data set forth below has been presented for informational purposes only. The pro forma data is not
necessarily indicative of what the combined company’s financial position or results of operations actually would have been had the DVS acquisition been
completed as of the dates indicated. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data does not purport to project the future financial
position or operating results of the combined company. There were no material transactions between Fluidigm and DVS during the periods presented in the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements that would need to be eliminated.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 assumes that the DVS acquisition took
place on January 1, 2012. Fluidigm’s unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 has been
combined with DVS’s unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2012 assumes that the DVS acquisition took place on
January 1, 2012. Fluidigm’s audited consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2012 has been combined with DVS’s audited
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2012.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet assumes that the DVS acquisition took place on September 30, 2013 and combines Fluidigm’s
September 30, 2013 unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet with DVS’s September 30, 2013 unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet.
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The historical consolidated financial information has been adjusted in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements to give effect to pro
forma events that are (1) directly attributable to the DVS acquisition, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with respect to the statements of operations, expected
to have a continuing impact on the combined company. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information was based on and should be read in conjunction with the following historical consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
of Fluidigm and DVS for the applicable periods, which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement:
 

 •  separate historical financial statements of Fluidigm as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012 and the related notes included in Fluidigm’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012;

 

 •  separate historical financial statements of Fluidigm as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and the related notes included in
Fluidigm’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2013;

 

 
•  separate historical financial statements of DVS as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012 and the related notes included in DVS’s audited

consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012, included in Fluidigm’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on January 29, 2014; and

 

 
•  separate historical financial statements of DVS as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and the related notes included in DVS’s

unaudited consolidated financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2013, included in Fluidigm’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on January 29, 2014.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data has been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting under existing U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, which are subject to change and interpretation. Fluidigm has been treated as the acquiror in the DVS acquisition for
accounting purposes. The acquisition method of accounting is dependent upon certain valuations and other studies that have yet to commence or progress to a
stage where there is sufficient information for a definitive measurement. Accordingly, the pro forma adjustments are preliminary and have been made solely
for the purpose of providing unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data. Differences between these preliminary estimates and the final
acquisition accounting will occur and these differences could have a material impact on the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial statements and the combined company’s future results of operations and financial position.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data does not reflect any cost savings, operating synergies or revenue enhancements that the
combined company may achieve as a result of the DVS acquisition, the costs to combine the operations of Fluidigm and DVS or the costs necessary to
achieve any of the foregoing cost savings, operating synergies and revenue enhancements. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data also
reflects the notes, common stock, and stock-based compensation awards contemplated to be issued in connection with the DVS acquisition.
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Fluidigm Corporation and DVS Sciences, Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013
(in thousands, except per share data)

 
   Historical   Pro Forma

Adjustments 
 

 
  Pro Forma

Combined     Fluidigm   DVS      
Revenue   $ 50,302   $18,507      $ 68,809  
Cost of product revenue    14,273    7,792    7,187   A,B   29,252  
Research and development    14,198    3,320    80   B    17,598  
Selling, general and administrative    34,840    5,753    462   B    41,055  
Litigation settlement    1,000    —         1,000  

    
 

   
 

      
 

Total costs and expenses    64,311    16,865       88,905  
Income (loss) from operations    (14,009)   1,642       (20,096) 

    
 

   
 

      
 

Gain from sale of investment in Verinata    1,777    —         1,777  
Interest expense    (13)   —      (4,580)   C,E   (4,593) 
Other income (expense), net    457    (95)      362  

    
 

   
 

      
 

Income (loss) before income taxes    (11,788)   1,547       (22,550) 
Provision for income taxes    (95)   (37)   D    (132) 

    
 

   
 

      
 

Net income (loss)   $ (11,883)  $ 1,510      $ (22,682) 
    

 

   

 

      

 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (0.47)      $ (0.83) 
    

 

       

 

Shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted    25,407     1,925   F    27,332  
    

 

       

 

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, which are an integral part of these statements. The pro
forma adjustments are explained in Note 5—Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations.
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Fluidigm Corporation and DVS Sciences, Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012
(in thousands, except per share data)

 
   Historical   Pro Forma

Adjustments 
 

 
  Pro Forma

Combined     Fluidigm   DVS      
Revenue   $ 52,334   $11,920      $ 64,254  
Cost of product revenue    15,325    5,538    10,485   A,B   31,348  
Research and development    16,602    3,536    4,630   B    24,768  
Selling, general and administrative    38,478    5,455    3,321   B    47,254  

    
 

   
 

      
 

Total costs and expenses    70,405    14,529       103,370  
    

 
   

 
      

 

Loss from operations    (18,071)   (2,609)      (39,116) 
    

 
   

 
      

 

Interest expense    (628)   —      (6,077)  C,E   (6,705) 
Other expense, net    (189)   (19)      (208) 

    
 

   
 

      
 

Loss before income taxes    (18,888)   (2,628)      (46,029) 
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes    (136)   49    D    (87) 

    
 

   
 

      
 

Net loss   $(19,024)  $ (2,579)     $ (46,116) 
    

 

   

 

      

 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (0.86)      $ (1.92) 
    

 

       

 

Shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted    22,136     1,925   F    24,061  
    

 

       

 

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, which are an integral part of these statements. The pro
forma adjustments are explained in Note 5—Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations.
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Fluidigm Corporation and DVS Sciences, Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet

September 30, 2013
(in thousands, except per share data)

 
   Historical   Pro Forma

Adjustments 
 

 
  Pro Forma

Combined     Fluidigm   DVS      
Assets:        
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 20,099   $ 8,412   $ 47,459   A,B,F  $ 75,970  
Short-term investments    43,580    —         43,580  
Accounts receivable, net    12,413    5,183       17,596  
Inventories    8,021    2,971       10,992  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    2,545    448       2,993  

    
 

   
 

      
 

Total current assets    86,658    17,014       151,131  
Long-term investments    19,140    —         19,140  
Property and equipment, net    5,155    991       6,146  
Other non-current assets    3,288    92    1,208   A    4,588  
Intangibles    —      —      110,000   C    110,000  
Goodwill    —      —      124,557   D    124,557  

    
 

   
 

      
 

Total assets   $ 114,241   $18,097      $ 415,562  
    

 

   

 

      

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit):        
Accounts payable   $ 3,406   $ 915      $ 4,321  
Accrued compensation and related benefits    3,713    569       4,282  
Other accrued liabilities    5,117    1,831    8,940   E    15,888  
Deferred revenue, current portion    2,807    1,323       4,130  
Long-term debt, current portion    —      227    (227)   B    —    
Income taxes payable    —      40       40  

    
 

   
 

      
 

Total current liabilities    15,043    4,905       28,661  
Long-term debt, net current portion    —      1,205    (1,205)   B    —    
Convertible debt    —      —      169,750   A,F    169,750  
Deferred revenue, net of current portion    1,824    1,372       3,196  
Warrant liability    —      17       17  
Other non-current liabilities    362    —      36,785   L    37,147  

    
 

   
 

      
 

Total liabilities    17,229    7,499       238,771  
    

 
   

 
      

 

Preferred stock    —      14,354    (14,354)  G    —    
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)        
Common stock    26    6    (4)   H    28  
Additional paid-in capital    350,403    298    82,419   I    433,120  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (713)   (109)   109    J    (713) 
Accumulated deficit    (252,704)   (3,951)   1,011   K,E    (255,644) 

    
 

   
 

      
 

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)    97,012    (3,756)      176,791  
    

 
   

 
      

 

Total liabilities, preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)   $ 114,241   $18,097      $ 415,562  
    

 

   

 

      

 

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, which are an integral part of these statements. The pro
forma adjustments are explained in Note 6—Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet.
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1. Description of Transaction

DVS Acquisition

On January 28, 2014, Fluidigm entered into an agreement and plan of merger with DVS, pursuant to which Fluidigm agreed to acquire all of DVS’s
outstanding equity interests. Under the terms of the merger agreement, upon consummation of the merger, all outstanding shares of capital stock of DVS will
be cancelled and converted into the right to receive merger consideration with a value equal to approximately $207.5 million in the aggregate, subject to
certain adjustments specified in the merger agreement. Subject to certain adjustments specified in the merger agreement, approximately $125.0 million of the
acquisition consideration payable to DVS stockholders will be payable in cash. Approximately $82.5 million of the acquisition consideration will be
comprised of a number of shares of Fluidigm’s common stock determined based on the volume weighted average closing price of Fluidigm common stock
during the five trading days ending on the third trading day before the closing of the merger, provided that the applicable number of shares will be determined
within a collar of 10% above or 10% below the volume weighted average closing price of Fluidigm common stock during the five trading days ending on the
trading day immediately prior to the signing of the merger agreement. After applying the certain adjustments specified in the merger agreement, on a pro
forma basis as of September 30, 2013, the total consideration is approximately $202.4 million, consisting of approximately $119.7 million in cash, and
approximately 1.9 million shares of Fluidigm common stock (valued for purposes of these unaudited pro forma financial statements at $78.9 million based on
the closing price of Fluidigm’s common stock on January 28, 2014). Fluidigm will also assume DVS’s vested and unvested stock-based compensation awards
for which $3.8 million will be recognized as purchase consideration. The DVS acquisition is structured such that DVS will survive the DVS acquisition and
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fluidigm. In addition, DVS’s Canadian subsidiary will remain as a wholly-owned subsidiary of DVS after the DVS
acquisition.

Of the shares of Fluidigm common stock issuable in the DVS acquisition, approximately $39.7 million worth will be placed in an escrow fund as security for
indemnification obligations of DVS’s stockholders under the merger agreement governing the DVS acquisition.

Convertible Notes

To finance a portion of the acquisition consideration, Fluidigm expects to sell and issue $175.0 million aggregate principal amount of notes. Solely for
purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data, it has been assumed that the notes will accrue interest at a rate equal to 3% per year,
payable semi-annually and mature on February 1, 2034. Holders may surrender the notes for conversion at any time prior to the close of business on the
business day immediately preceding the maturity date. Upon conversion of a note, Fluidigm will deliver a number of shares of its common stock, per $1,000
principal amount of notes, equal to the conversion rate together with a cash payment in lieu of delivering any fractional shares. The initial conversion rate will
be determined in connection with the offering of such notes. The conversion rate will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events.

Fluidigm cannot redeem the notes prior to February 6, 2018. On or after February 6, 2018 and prior to February 6, 2021, Fluidigm may redeem any or all of
the notes in cash, provided that the closing sale price of Fluidigm’s common stock exceeds 130% for a specific number of days. On or after February 6, 2021,
Fluidigm can call the notes for redemption without any conditions. The redemption price for the notes to be redeemed on any redemption date will equal
100% of the principal amount of the notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.

On each of February 6, 2021, February 6, 2024 and February 6, 2029, holders may require Fluidigm to purchase all or a portion of their notes at a purchase
price in cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be purchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the date of
repurchase.

If Fluidigm undergoes a fundamental change, holders may require Fluidigm to repurchase the notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date.
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Fluidigm expects to receive approximately $168.5 million in cash proceeds from the notes offering, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and
offering expenses. Fluidigm intends to use approximately $119.7 million of such proceeds to finance the acquisition of DVS and the remainder for general
corporate purposes.

2. Basis of Presentation

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data was prepared using the acquisition method of accounting and was based on the historical
financial statements of Fluidigm and DVS. Fluidigm is not currently aware of any significant accounting policy differences between Fluidigm and DVS, but
as further information becomes available such policy differences may be identified and could result in significant differences from the unaudited condensed
combined pro forma financial statements.

The acquisition method of accounting is based on Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations, which uses the fair value
concepts defined in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.

ASC Topic 805 requires, among other things, that assets and liabilities acquired be recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date. Financial
statements of Fluidigm issued after completion of the DVS acquisition will reflect such fair values, measured as of the acquisition date, which may be
different than the estimated fair values included in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. In addition, ASC Topic 805
establishes that the consideration transferred be measured at the closing date of the DVS acquisition at the then-current fair value, which will likely result in
acquisition consideration that is different from the amount assumed in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.

ASC Topic 820 defines the term “fair value” and sets forth the valuation requirements for any asset or liability measured at fair value, expands related
disclosure requirements and specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on the nature of the inputs used to develop the fair value measures. Fair value
is defined as “the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.” This is an exit price concept for the valuation of the asset or liability. In addition, market participants are assumed to be buyers and sellers
unrelated to Fluidigm in the principal (or the most advantageous) market for the asset or liability. Fair value measurements for an asset assume the highest and
best use by these market participants. As a result of these standards, Fluidigm may be required to record assets which are not intended to be used or sold
and/or to value assets at fair value measures that do not reflect Fluidigm’s intended use of those assets. Many of these fair value measurements can be highly
subjective and it is also possible that other professionals, applying reasonable judgment to the same facts and circumstances, could develop and support a
range of alternative estimated amounts.

Under ASC 805, acquisition-related transaction costs (such as advisory, legal, valuation, other professional fees) are not included as a component of
acquisition consideration and are excluded from the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations. Such costs will be expensed in the
historical statements of operations in the periods incurred. Fluidigm expects to incur total acquisition-related transaction costs of approximately $2.9 million
and DVS expects to incur total acquisition-related transaction costs of approximately $6.0 million. As discussed in Note 6 (E), the liabilities related to these
costs have been included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of September 30, 2013.
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3. Estimate of Consideration Expected to be Transferred

The following is a preliminary estimate of consideration expected to be transferred to effect the DVS acquisition:
 

Estimated Acquisition Consideration (1)   (In thousands) 
Cash   $ 119,651  
Fair value of Fluidigm common stock to be issued    78,896  
Fair value of options to purchase Fluidigm common stock (2)    3,823  

    
 

Estimated purchase price consideration   $ 202,370  
    

 

 
(1) The estimated acquisition consideration reflected in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements does not purport to represent

what the actual consideration transferred will be when the DVS acquisition is completed. The acquisition consideration will include approximately
1.9 million shares of Fluidigm common stock valued at $78.9 million based on the closing price of Fluidigm’s common stock on January 28, 2014. The
number of shares to be issued is subject to a collar and can be adjusted based on the average price of Fluidigm’s common stock in the five days leading
up to the closing of the DVS acquisition such that as many as approximately 2.1 million shares or as few as approximately 1.7 million shares may be
issued to the holders of DVS equity interests.

(2) The fair value of the Fluidigm equivalent stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model utilizing the assumptions noted below.
The expected volatility of the Fluidigm stock price is based on the average historical volatility over the expected term based on daily closing stock
prices. The expected term of the option is based on the remaining vesting period and contractual term of the options, using the simplified method of
determining expected term as used by Fluidigm. The stock price volatility and expected term are based on Fluidigm’s best estimates at this time, both of
which impact the fair value of the option calculated under the Black-Scholes methodology and, ultimately, the total consideration that will be recorded
at the effective time of the acquisition.

 
Assumptions Used for the Valuation of Fluidigm Equivalent Stock Options:     
Expected volatility    57.60% 
Risk-free interest rate    0.74% – 2.21% 
Expected term    3.96 – 6.82  
Dividend yield    0% 

4. Estimate of Assets to be Acquired and Liabilities to be Assumed

The following is a preliminary estimate of the assets to be acquired and the liabilities to be assumed by Fluidigm in the acquisition, reconciled to the estimate
of consideration expected to be transferred:
 

Calculation of Net Assets Acquired   (In thousands) 
Net book value of assets acquired as of September 30, 2013   $ 10,598  
Adjustments:   
Identifiable intangible assets    110,000  
DVS unpaid transaction costs    (6,000) 
Deferred taxes    (36,785) 
Goodwill    124,557  

    
 

Net assets acquired   $ 202,370  
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The preliminary valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed performed for the purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements was primarily limited to the identification and valuation of intangible assets. Fluidigm believes this was an appropriate approach based on a review
of similar acquisitions, which indicated that the most significant and material portion of the purchase price would be allocated to identifiable intangible assets.
Fluidigm will continue to refine its identification and valuation of assets to be acquired and the liabilities to be assumed as further information becomes
available. The goodwill recognized is attributable primarily to the acquired workforce, expected synergies, and other benefits that Fluidigm believes will
result from combining the operations of DVS with the operations of Fluidigm.

The following is a discussion of the adjustments made to DVS’s assets and liabilities in connection with the preparation of these unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements:

Identifiable Intangible Assets

At the DVS acquisition date, identifiable intangible assets are required to be measured at fair value and these acquired assets could include assets that are not
intended to be used or sold or that are intended to be used in a manner other than their highest and best use. For purposes of these unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements, it is assumed that all assets will be used in a manner that represents their highest and best use. Based on internal
assessments as well as discussions with DVS, Fluidigm identified the following significant intangible assets: developed technology and in-process research
and development (“IPR&D”). For purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, the fair value of these intangible assets
has been determined primarily through the use of industry benchmarking, which estimates the value of the intangible assets based on recent comparable
transactions within Fluidigm’s industry.

At this time, Fluidigm does not have sufficient information as to the amount, timing and risk of the estimated future cash flows needed to perform a final
valuation of customer relationships, technology and trademarks, patents, or IPR&D. Some of the more significant assumptions inherent in the development of
estimated cash flows, from the perspective of a market participant, include: the amount and timing of projected future cash flows (including revenue, cost of
revenue, sales and marketing expenses, working capital, capital expenditures and contributory asset charges) and the discount rate selected to measure the
risks inherent in the projections of future cash flows. However, for the purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, using
currently available information, and certain other high-level assumptions, the fair value of the technology and IPR&D were estimated by Fluidigm
management to be as follows: technology—$92.5 million with a weighted average useful life of 10 years and IPR&D of $17.5 million, which is an indefinite
lived intangible asset.

These preliminary estimates of fair value and weighted-average useful life will likely be different from the final acquisition accounting, and the difference
could have a material impact on the accompanying pro forma condensed combined financial statements. Once Fluidigm has full access to the specifics of
DVS’s intangible assets, additional insight will be gained that could impact: (1) the intangible assets identified; (2) the estimated total value assigned to
intangible assets; and (3) the estimated weighted-average useful life of each category of intangible assets. The estimated intangible asset values and their
useful lives could be impacted by a variety of factors that may become known to Fluidigm only upon access to additional information and/or changes in such
factors that may occur prior to the effective time of the acquisition. For each $10 million change in the fair value of identifiable intangible assets other than
IPR&D, there could be an annual change in amortization expense—increase or decrease—of approximately $1 million ($250 thousand per quarter), assuming
a weighted-average useful life of 10 years.
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Inventory

DVS’s inventory consists of raw materials, work in process, and finished goods. For purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements, no adjustment has been made to the fair value of inventory because DVS has limited work-in-progress or finished goods inventory as of
September 30, 2013 and raw materials are carried at cost, which Fluidigm believes approximates fair value.

Other Assets/Liabilities

Adjustments to DVS’s remaining assets and liabilities may also be necessary, however at this time Fluidigm has limited knowledge as to the specific details
and nature of those assets and liabilities necessary in order to make adjustments to those values. However, since the majority of the remaining assets and
liabilities are current assets and liabilities, Fluidigm believes that the September 30, 2013 DVS book values for these assets represent reasonable estimates of
fair value or net realizable value, as applicable. Fluidigm does not anticipate that the actual adjustments for these assets and liabilities on the closing date will
be materially different.

Goodwill

Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the acquisition date fair value of the consideration expected to be transferred and the fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized but rather subject to an annual fair value impairment test.

5. Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations:

(A) Intangible Amortization – To reflect amortization of acquired definite-lived intangible assets based on their preliminary estimated fair values and 10-year
estimated average useful life. Since the intangible assets relate to technology to be used in the manufacture of DVS products, Fluidigm has allocated
approximately $9.3 million of annual amortization to cost of product revenue. Also, see (C) in Note 6—Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed
Combined Balance Sheet.

(B) Stock based Compensation – To reflect compensation expense for stock-based compensation awards to acquire shares of Fluidigm common stock to be
granted to DVS stock-based compensation award holders in exchange for DVS options and restricted shares outstanding at the acquisition date.
Approximately 167,633 of such options to purchase shares of Fluidigm common stock will be granted, all of which will have exercise prices of less than
$1.50 per option and will vest over approximately 1 1⁄2 years from the acquisition date. In addition, approximately 51,662 shares of Fluidigm restricted
common shares will be granted at the acquisition date. Of the Fluidigm options and restricted stock to be granted at the acquisition date, $3.8 million will be
reflected as purchase consideration.

(C) Interest Expense –To reflect interest expense on the $175.0 million of convertible notes expected to be issued in conjunction with the DVS acquisition.
The notes are expected to be due in 2034 and, solely for the purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information, Fluidigm has assumed a
coupon rate of 3%, which results in an annual interest expense of approximately $5.3 million.

(D) Income Taxes – Subsequent to the closing of the DVS acquisition, Fluidigm expects to reduce its deferred tax asset valuation allowance by approximately
$36.8 million, which will result in a
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corresponding income tax benefit in an amount equal to the domestic deferred tax liability acquired as discussed in Note 6 (L). Under the applicable business
combinations accounting rules, changes to the realizability of an acquirer’s deferred tax assets as a result of an acquisition are recognized in operations and
not as part of purchase consideration. Thus, this reduction to the Fluidigm deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which is expected to be approximately
$36.8 million, will immediately be recognized in operations by Fluidigm at the acquisition date. As this charge is expected to not have a continuing impact on
the combined results, no pro forma adjustment is reflected on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations.

(E) Debt Issuance Costs – To reflect the amortization of costs expected to be incurred to issue the notes in connection with the DVS acquisition using the
effective interest method. Amortized debt issue costs are estimated to be $827,000 and $643,000 for the year ending December 31, 2012 and nine month
period ending September 30, 2013, respectively.

(F) Number of Shares Used in Per Share Calculations – To reflect the issuance of approximately 1.9 million shares of Fluidigm common stock per the
merger agreement. The number of shares to be issued is subject to a collar and can be adjusted based on the average price of Fluidigm’s common stock in the
five days leading up to the closing of the DVS acquisition such that as many as approximately 2.1 million shares or as few as approximately 1.7 million
shares may be issued to the holders of DVS equity interests, which would result in a decrease or increase, respectively, in earnings per share of less than
$0.01. The impact of potential shares from the stock options and convertible notes issued as part of the DVS acquisition is anti-dilutive for all periods
presented.

6. Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet:

(A) Debt Issuance Costs – To reflect the costs incurred to issue the convertible notes in connection with the DVS acquisition. Total debt issuance costs are
estimated at $6.4 million, of which $1.2 million relates to estimated legal, accounting, and other external costs directly related to the note issuance. In
addition, the notes will be recognized net of approximately $5.3 million of underwriter discounts and commissions.

(B) Cash Consideration – To reflect the payment of $119.7 million cash consideration to effect the DVS acquisition and repayment of $1.4 million of DVS
debt.

(C) Intangible Assets – To reflect the preliminary fair values of intangible assets acquired. These estimated fair values and the related useful lives are
considered preliminary and are subject to change. Accordingly, the estimates related to deferred taxes discussed at (L) below are also subject to change.
Changes in the fair value or useful lives of the acquired intangible assets may be material. Determination of the 10-year estimated useful life of the
technology intangible asset was based on comparable industry data. The technology intangible asset is being amortized using the straight-line
method. IPR&D intangible assets are indefinite-lived intangible assets until such time the Company completes such assets and places them into production.

(D) Goodwill – To reflect the preliminary estimate of goodwill.

(E) Transaction Costs – To reflect estimated transaction costs remaining to be incurred related directly to the transaction of approximately $8.9 million,
including estimated investment banking, legal and accounting fees, and other external costs directly related to the DVS acquisition. Estimated remaining
transaction costs for Fluidigm and DVS are $2.9 million and $6.0 million, respectively.
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(F) Convertible Notes – To reflect the issuance of the $175.0 million of 3% convertible notes used to finance a portion of the acquisition consideration.

(G) Preferred Shares – To eliminate DVS preferred stock.

(H) Common Stock – To eliminate DVS common stock and reflect issuance of Fluidigm common shares to effect the acquisition.

(I) Additional Paid-in-capital – To reflect the following equity transactions in connection with the DVS acquisition:
 

   (In thousands) 
Eliminate DVS APIC   $ (298) 
Estimated fair value of Fluidigm shares to be issued    78,896  
Par value of Fluidigm shares recorded within common stock    (2) 
Estimated fair value of assumed stock options and RSUs deemed purchase consideration    3,823  

    
 

Total   $ 82,419  
    

 

(J) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss – To eliminate DVS’s accumulated other comprehensive loss.

(K) Accumulated Deficit – To eliminate DVS’s historical accumulated deficit of $4.0 million and reflect the immediate impact to Fluidigm’s accumulated
deficit from the $2.9 million of transaction costs accrued by Fluidigm had the DVS acquisition occurred on September 30, 2013.

(L) Deferred Tax Liability – To reflect deferred tax liabilities of $36.8 million for the difference between the fair value and tax basis of acquired intangibles.
These deferred tax liabilities are considered a source of income for the purpose of realizing deferred tax assets. Since Fluidigm has a full valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets at September 30, 2013, Fluidigm will decrease the valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets in an amount equal to the
domestic deferred tax liability acquired. Under the applicable business combinations accounting rules, changes to the realizability of an acquirer’s deferred
tax assets as a result of an acquisition are recognized in operations and not as part of purchase consideration. Thus, this reduction to the Fluidigm deferred tax
asset valuation allowance, which is expected to be approximately $36.8 million, will be recognized in operations by Fluidigm subsequent to the acquisition
closing.
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